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Dear Stockholders:

The year 2018 was an important one in the life cycle of Hines Global 
REIT, Inc. (“Hines Global REIT” or the “Company”). In April 2018, in order 
to maximize value and provide liquidity to our stockholders, our board 
of directors determined that it was in the best interest of the Company 
and its stockholders to sell all or substantially all of our properties and 
assets and to pursue a plan of liquidation and dissolution, which was 
approved by our stockholders in July of 2018 (the “Plan of Liquidation”).  
If we are able to successfully implement the Plan of Liquidation, then we 
expect to sell all of our properties and use the net proceeds from those sales to 
return a total of approximately $10.00 to $11.00 per share to our stockholders 
in the form of return of capital and liquidating distributions,1 including the 
return of capital distributions that were paid in the months prior to the adoption 
of the Plan of Liquidation. We are pleased to update you on the substantial 
progress we’ve made toward executing the Plan of Liquidation and returning 
our stockholders’ capital.

PLAN OF LIQUIDATION 
Since launching Hines Global REIT, one of our primary objectives has been to 
consider ways to provide liquidity to our stockholders between 2017 and 2019 
after raising $2.7 billion in successful public offerings of our common stock and 
using these proceeds to build a globally diversified portfolio. In recent years, we 
have concentrated our efforts on actively managing our assets and exploring a 
variety of strategic opportunities focused on enhancing the composition of our 
portfolio and its total return potential for our stockholders. Commencing our 
Plan of Liquidation in 2018 represents an important step in accomplishing our 
primary objectives.

When the Plan of Liquidation was approved in July, we owned 33 properties 
in seven countries valued at over $4.3 billion. Since then, we have sold 21 
properties with an aggregate sale price of $2.0 billion to take advantage of  
favorable market conditions and harvest attractive gains for our stockholders. 
We used the net proceeds from these sales to pay liquidating distributions 
totaling $2.83 per share between July 2018 and February 2019. When combined  
with the $1.17 per share return of capital distributions paid from January 
through July of 2018, total return of capital and liquidating distributions  
paid to our stockholders from January 2018 through February 2019 totaled 
$4.00 per share. See the table below for additional information regarding  
these distributions.

PORTFOLIO SUMMARY AS OF 12/31/18*

Investments: 12 projects, 6.2 million square feet
Estimated Aggregate Value: $2.4 billion
Percentage Leased: 86%

STRATEGIC DISPOSITIONS

ONE WESTFERRY CIRCUS / LONDON, ENGLAND

WATERWALL PLACE / HOUSTON, TEXAS

 POLAND LOGISTICS PORTFOLIO (SOSNOWIEC) 
KATOWICE, POLAND

* Data as of December 31, 2018, but excluding 55M Street and  
550 Terry Francois, which were sold in January and February 2019, 
respectively. Based on the estimated value of each investment as 
of December 31, 2018.
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Distributions  
per share

Special return of capital distribution declared in December 2018 $1.05

Return of invested capital distributions and liquidating 
distributions paid in 2018 and January 20192 $0.45

Liquidating distribution paid in February 2019 $2.50

$4.00



NAV
Our board of directors determined a new net asset value per share (“NAV”)  
of our common stock of $6.17 as of February 14, 2019. The NAV was  
determined using third-party appraised values of our remaining portfolio of  
properties and represented an $0.08 per share increase over the prior  
year NAV after reducing the prior year NAV by the total return of capital and 
liquidating distributions declared since January 2018 of $2.95 per share.3

OUR REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO
Our remaining portfolio of real estate investments consists of 12 properties 
with an aggregate appraised value of $2.4 billion as of December 31, 2018. 
Over two-thirds of this portfolio is located in the U.S. and it is diversified by 
asset type and tenant industries.4 Our current efforts are focused on positioning 
our remaining properties for sale to maximize our stockholders’ returns as we 
continue to implement the Plan of Liquidation.

We appreciate your trust in us as we continue executing Hines Global REIT’s 
strategy on your behalf. We encourage you to visit with your financial advisor, 
monitor your investment through our filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and call Hines Investor Relations if we can be of assistance to you.

Sincerely yours,

1  See “Item 1. Business” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K included herein for additional 
information regarding our Plan of Liquidation and estimated liquidating distributions.

2  Return of invested capital distributions and liquidating distributions of approximately  
$0.45 per share includes $0.12 per share of return of invested capital distributions,  
consisting of $0.02 per share of each of the monthly distributions paid from February 2018 
through July 2018, and approximately $0.33 per share of liquidating distributions,  
consisting of the monthly distributions paid from August 2018 through January 2019.

3  See “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and  
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K included herein  
for additional information regarding the determination of the NAV.

4  See “Item 2. Properties” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K included herein for additional 
information regarding our portfolio.

Jeffrey C. Hines
Chairman of the Board

Sherri W. Schugart
President and  
Chief Executive Officer

STRATEGIC DISPOSITIONS (CONTINUED)
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465 VICTORIA / SYDNEY, AUSTRALIA

250 ROYALL STREET / CANTON, MASSACHUSETTS

9320 EXCELSIOR BOULEVARD / HOPKINS, MINNESOTA

SIMON HEGELE LOGISTICS / MULTI-CITIES, GERMANY
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PART I 
 
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain statements that may be deemed forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such forward-looking statements relate to, without limitation, 
economic conditions that may impact our operations, our future leverage and financial position, our future capital expenditures, 
future distributions, other developments and trends in the commercial real estate industry and our business strategy. Forward-
looking statements are generally identifiable by the use of the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “could,” “intend,” 
“plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “predict,” “potential” or the negative of these words or other 
comparable terminology. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, and involve certain risks, uncertainties 
and assumptions that are difficult to predict. 
 

The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are based on our current expectations, plans, estimates, assumptions 
and beliefs that involve numerous risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect 
to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are 
difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. Any of the assumptions underlying 
forward-looking statements could prove to be inaccurate. To the extent that our assumptions differ from actual results, our 
ability to meet such forward-looking statements, including our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations, provide 
distributions to our stockholders and maintain the value of the real estate properties in which we hold an interest, may be 
significantly hindered. 
 

Our stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement in this Form 10-K. All 
forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Form 10-K, and the risk that actual results will differ materially from 
the expectations expressed in this Form 10-K may increase with the passage of time. In light of the significant uncertainties 
inherent in the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K, the inclusion of such forward-looking statements should not be 
regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the objectives and plans set forth in this Form 10-K will be 
achieved. Please see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” for a discussion of some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those presented in certain forward-looking statements. 
 
Item 1.  Business 
 
General Description of Business and Operations 
 

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (“Hines Global”) was incorporated under the Maryland General Corporation Laws on 
December 10, 2008, primarily for the purpose of investing in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real estate properties 
and other real estate investments located throughout the United States and internationally.  Hines Global raised the equity 
capital for its real estate investments through two public offerings from August 2009 through April 2014, and through its 
distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRP Offering”) from April 2014 through August 2018.  Collectively, through its public 
offerings, Hines Global raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $3.1 billion, including the DRP Offering, all of which 
was invested in the Company’s real estate portfolio. 

 
Hines Global conducts most of its activities through, and most of its real estate investments are held directly or indirectly 

by, Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating Partnership”), which was formed on January 7, 2009. Hines Global 
contributes the proceeds it receives from the issuance of common shares to the Operating Partnership and the Operating 
Partnership in turn issues general partner interests to Hines Global. The general partner interests entitle Hines Global to receive 
its share of the Operating Partnership’s earnings or losses and distributions of cash flow. 

 
We refer to Hines Global, the Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as the “Company,” and the use of 

“we,” “our,” “us” or similar pronouns in this annual report refers to Hines Global or the Company as required by the context in 
which such pronoun is used. 
 

We invested the proceeds from our public offerings into a diverse portfolio of real estate investments.  In recent years, we 
have concentrated our efforts on actively managing our assets and exploring a variety of strategic opportunities focused on 
enhancing the composition of our portfolio and its total return potential for its stockholders.  On April 23, 2018, in connection 
with its review of potential strategic alternatives available to the Company, our board of directors determined that it is in the 
best interests of the Company and its stockholders to sell all or substantially all of our properties and assets and for the 
Company to liquidate and dissolve pursuant to our Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution (the “Plan of Liquidation”).  The 
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principal purpose of the liquidation is to provide liquidity to our stockholders by selling the Company’s assets, making 
payments on property and corporate level debt, and distributing the net proceeds from liquidation to our stockholders.   As 
required by Maryland law and our charter, the Plan of Liquidation was approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at 
least a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote thereon at the Company’s annual meeting of 
stockholders held on July 17, 2018. 

 
In April 2018, our board of directors estimated that, in addition to regular operating distributions paid to our stockholders, 

if we are able to successfully implement the Plan of Liquidation, after the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets 
and the payment of all of the Company’s outstanding liabilities, we will have made total distributions to our stockholders of 
approximately $10.00 to $11.00 per share of the Company’s common stock, consisting of three components: (i) the $1.05 per 
share special distribution paid to stockholders in January 2018; (ii) the $0.12 per share of return of invested capital distributions 
paid to stockholders for the six months ended June 30, 2018; and (iii) the range of liquidating distributions to be made pursuant 
to the Plan of Liquidation of $8.83 to $9.83 per share, estimated by our board of directors on April 23, 2018, and we have made 
liquidating distributions of approximately $2.83 per share to date.  We expect to make the final liquidating distribution on or 
before a date that is within 24 months after stockholder approval of the Plan of Liquidation.  However, there can be no 
assurances regarding the amounts of any liquidating distributions or the timing thereof.  See “Distributions Objectives” later in 
this section for additional information regarding distributions made pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation. 

 
We sold 20 properties in 2018 and two additional properties in early 2019 for an aggregate sales price of $2.2 billion.  

Following these sales, we owned 12 real estate investments valued at $2.4 billion. These investments consisted of: 
 

•  Domestic office investments (3 investments) 
•  Domestic other investments (4 investments) 
•  International office investments (4 investments) 
•  International other investments (1 investments) 

 
We have no employees. Our business is managed by Hines Global REIT Advisors LP (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of our 

sponsor, Hines Interests Limited Partnership (“Hines”), under the terms and conditions of an advisory agreement between us, 
the Operating Partnership and the Advisor (the “Advisory Agreement”). As compensation for these services, we pay or have 
paid the Advisor asset management, acquisition, debt financing and disposition fees and we reimburse certain of the Advisor’s 
expenses incurred on our behalf in accordance with the Advisory Agreement. Hines or affiliates of Hines manage the leasing 
and operations of most of the properties in which we invest and, accordingly, we pay property management and leasing fees in 
connection with these services. Hines is owned and controlled by or for the benefit of Gerald D. Hines and his son Jeffrey C. 
Hines, the Chairman of our board of directors. Hines and its 4,300 employees have over 60 years of experience in the areas of 
investment selection, underwriting, due diligence, portfolio management, asset management, property management, leasing, 
disposition, finance, accounting and investor relations. 
 

Our office is located at 2800 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 5000, Houston, Texas 77056-6118. Our telephone number is 1-
888-220-6121. Our web site is www.HinesSecurities.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference into 
this report. 
 
Financing Strategy and Policies 
 

We have and may continue to use debt financing from time to time for property improvements, lease inducements, tenant 
improvements, redemptions and other working capital needs.  As of December 31, 2018, our portfolio was 22% leveraged 
based on the values of our real estate investments.  Following the sales of two additional properties in early 2019, as of 
March 28, 2019, our portfolio was approximately 31% leveraged based on the values of our real estate investments. 
 

Our existing indebtedness is and any additional indebtedness we incur will likely be subject to continuing covenants, and 
we are be required to make continuing representations and warranties about the Company in connection with such debt. 
Moreover, a substantial portion of our debt is be secured by some or all of our assets. If we default on the payment of interest or 
principal on any such debt, breach any representation or warranty in connection with any borrowing or violate any covenant in 
any loan document, our lender may accelerate the maturity of such debt, requiring us to immediately repay all outstanding 
principal. 
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Distribution Objectives 
 

In order to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we generally must distribute at least 90% of our taxable 
income (excluding capital gains) to our stockholders. Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors, 
which considers the requirements for our qualification as a REIT pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 
(the “Code”). 
 

We declared distributions of approximately $0.65 per share, per year for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016.  A portion of the distributions declared for the year ended December 31, 2018 was designated as a return of a portion of 
the stockholders’ invested capital as described further below.  Further, on July 17, 2018, in connection with the approval of the 
Plan of Liquidation by our stockholders, our board of directors determined to suspend indefinitely our distribution reinvestment 
plan, effective as of August 31, 2018. As a result of the suspension of our distribution reinvestment plan, all distributions paid 
after August 31, 2018 have been paid to our stockholders in cash. 

 
In addition to regular operating distributions paid to stockholders for the months of January 2018 through June 2018 in an 

aggregate amount of approximately $0.21 per share, from January 2018 through February 2019, we paid aggregate return of 
capital distributions to stockholders totaling approximately $4.00 per share (the “Return of Capital Distributions”), which 
represented a return of a portion of the stockholders’ invested capital.  These Return of Capital Distributions were made up of 
the following: 

 
•  a $1.05 per share special distribution (the “Special Distribution”) declared to all stockholders of record as of 

December 30, 2017 and paid in January 2018.  The Special Distribution was funded with a portion of the net proceeds 
received from the strategic sale of six assets during 2017. 

•  $0.12 per share resulting from a portion of the monthly distributions declared for the months of January 2018 through 
June 2018, (approximately $0.02 per share, per month), which were designated by our board of directors as a return of a 
portion of the stockholders’ invested capital and, as such, reduced the stockholders’ remaining investment in the 
Company. 

•  Approximately $0.33 per share resulting from the monthly liquidating distributions declared for the months of July 2018 
through December 2018 (approximately $0.054 per share, per month), which reduced the stockholders’ remaining 
investment in the Company. 

•  a $2.50 per share liquidating distribution declared to all stockholders of record as of February 13, 2019 and paid in 
February 2019. 

 
If we are able to successfully implement the Plan of Liquidation, then after the sale of all our assets and the payment of all 

our outstanding liabilities, we expect we will have made liquidating distributions pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation in the 
range of $8.83 to $9.83 per share of common stock, estimated by our board of directors as of April 23, 2018, which are in 
addition to the $1.17 return of invested capital distributions previously paid by the Company.  As described above, we have 
paid approximately $2.83 per share of liquidating distributions pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation as of March 1, 2019. 

 
Because we have already sold a significant number of assets and our expectation is to sell all of our remaining assets in the 

time frame set forth under our Plan of Liquidation, we determined to stop paying monthly distributions for periods after 
December 2018.  Any future distributable income earned from the remaining properties will be included in future liquidating 
distributions to stockholders. 

 
Tax Status 
 

We have elected to be treated as a REIT under the Code. Our management believes that we operate in such a manner as to 
qualify for treatment as a REIT and we intend to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that we will remain 
qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U.S. federal income 
taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  Income 
tax expense recorded by the Company during each of these years was primarily comprised of foreign income taxes related to 
the operation of its international properties. 
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Competition 
 

Numerous real estate companies, real estate investment trusts and U.S. institutional and foreign investors compete with us 
in obtaining creditworthy tenants to occupy our properties, including, but not limited to, Hines Global Income Trust, Inc. 
(“Hines Global Income Trust”), and other real estate investment vehicles sponsored by Hines. Many of these entities have 
significant financial and other resources, allowing them to compete effectively with us. Principal factors of competition include 
leasing terms (including rent and other charges and allowances for inducements and tenant improvements), the quality and 
breadth of tenant services provided, and reputation as an owner and operator of commercial real estate investments in the 
relevant market. Additionally, our ability to compete depends upon, among other factors, trends of the global, national and local 
economies, investment alternatives, financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants, availability and 
cost of capital, taxes, governmental regulations, legislation and demographic trends. 
 
Tenants 
 

We are dependent upon the ability of current tenants to pay their contractual rent amounts as the rents become due. During 
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, we did not earn more than 10% of total rental revenues from 
any individual tenant. 
 
Available Information 
 

Stockholders may obtain copies of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), free of charge from 
the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov or from our website at www.HinesSecurities.com. Further, a copy of this 
Our filings will be available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with the 
SEC. However, the information from our website is not incorporated by reference into this report. 
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors 
 

You should carefully read and consider the risks described below together with all other information in this report. If 
certain of the following risks actually occur, our results of operations and ability to pay distributions would likely suffer 
materially, or could be eliminated entirely. As a result, the value of our common shares may decline, and our stockholders 
could lose all or part of the money they paid to buy our common shares. 
 
Risks Related to the Liquidation of the Company 

 
There can be no assurances concerning the prices at which our properties will be sold or the timing of such sales. 

 
We cannot give any assurances as to the prices at which any of our properties ultimately will be sold, or the timing of such 

sales. Real estate market values are constantly changing and fluctuate with changes in interest rates, availability of financing, 
changes in general economic conditions and real estate tax rates, competition in the real estate market, the availability of 
suitable buyers, the perceived quality, consistency and dependability of income flows from tenancies and a number of other 
local, regional and national factors. In addition, environmental contamination, potential major repairs which are not presently 
contemplated, increased operating costs or other unknown liabilities, including in connection with non-compliance with 
applicable laws, if any, at the Company’s properties may adversely impact the sales price of those assets. As a result, the actual 
prices at which we are able to sell our properties may be less than the amounts we have assumed for purposes of stating the 
estimated range of liquidating distributions, which would result in the amount of such distributions being lower than our 
original estimate and the timing of the sales of our properties may not occur within the expected time frame. The amount 
available for distributions may also be reduced if the expenses we incur in selling our properties are greater than anticipated. In 
calculating our estimated range of liquidating distributions, we assumed that we will be able to find buyers for all of our assets 
at amounts based on our estimated range of market values for each property. However, for a variety of reasons, some of which 
are outside of our control, we may have overestimated the sales prices that we will ultimately be able to obtain for these assets. 
For example, in order to find buyers in a timely manner, we may be required to lower our asking price below the low end of our 
current estimate of the property’s market value. If we are not able to find buyers for these assets in a timely manner or if we 
have overestimated the sales prices we will receive, our liquidating distributions to our stockholders would be delayed or 
reduced. Furthermore, the estimated range of liquidating distributions to have been made under the Plan of Liquidation of $8.83 
to $9.83 per share of the Company’s common stock, estimated by the Board as of April 23, 2018 is based upon: (i) the board of 
director’s estimate of the range of proceeds to be received by the Company from the sale of the Company’s properties pursuant 
to the Plan of Liquidation, (ii) the amount of indebtedness owed on each property, including any estimated penalties that we 
expect to incur at the time of the disposition of such properties for early payment thereof and other indebtedness of the 
Company, (iii) the amount of cash on hand, including net proceeds from sales of the Company’s properties completed prior to 
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the our board of directors’ approval of the Plan of Liquidation, (iv) estimated cash flows to be generated by the continued 
operations of the Company during the liquidation process, and (v) the estimated expenses to be incurred in connection with the 
sale of each property and the winding down and dissolution of the Company. 

 
If we are unable to maintain the occupancy rates of currently leased space and lease currently available space, if tenants 
default under their leases or other obligations to us during the liquidation process or if our cash flow during the 
liquidation is otherwise less than we expect, our liquidating distributions may be delayed or reduced. 

 
In calculating the estimated range of liquidating distributions, our board of directors assumed that we would maintain the 

occupancy rates of currently-leased space, that we would be able to rent certain currently available space and that we would not 
experience any significant tenant defaults during the liquidation process that were not subsequently cured. The inability of a 
single major tenant or a number of smaller tenants to meet their rental obligations would adversely affect our income. Tenants 
may have the right to terminate their leases upon the occurrence of certain customary events of default and, in other 
circumstances, may not renew their leases or, because of market conditions, may be able to renew their leases on terms that are 
less favorable to us than the terms of the current leases. The weakening of the financial condition of a significant tenant or a 
number of smaller tenants and vacancies caused by defaults of tenants or the expiration of leases, may adversely affect the 
liquidation. Some of our properties are leased to a single or significant tenant and, accordingly, may be suited to the particular 
or unique needs of such tenant. We may have difficulty replacing such a tenant if the floor plan of the vacant space limits the 
types of businesses that can use the space without major renovation. In addition, the resale value of the property could be 
diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend principally upon the value of the leases of such 
property. 

To the extent that we receive less rental income than we expect during the liquidation process, or have difficulty selling 
certain of our properties due to such reduced rental income, our liquidating distributions will be reduced. 

 
If any of the parties to our sale agreements breach such agreements or default thereunder, or if the sales do not otherwise 
close, our liquidating distributions may be delayed or reduced. 

 
We will seek to enter into binding sale agreements for our properties. The consummation of the potential sales will be 

subject to satisfaction of closing conditions. If any of the transactions contemplated by these sale agreements do not close 
because of a buyer breach or default, failure of a closing condition or for any other reason, we will need to locate a new buyer 
for the assets which we may be unable to do promptly or at prices or on terms that are as favorable as the original sale 
agreement. We will also incur additional costs involved in locating a new buyer and negotiating a new sale agreement for the 
assets. These additional costs may exceed amounts included in our projections. In the event that we incur these additional costs, 
our liquidating payments to our stockholders could be delayed or reduced. 
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We cannot determine at this time when or whether we will ultimately pay total liquidating distributions to our stockholders 
within the estimated range of liquidating distributions estimated by our board of directors because there are many factors, 
some of which are outside of our control, which could affect our ability to make such liquidating distributions. 
 

Although we have provided an estimated range of liquidating distributions and have commenced paying liquidating 
distributions to our stockholders, we cannot determine at this time when, or potentially whether, we will be able to make total 
liquidating distributions to our stockholders in an amount that is within the range of liquidating distributions estimated by our 
board of directors on April 23, 2018. These distributions will depend on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the 
length of time it takes to implement the Plan of Liquidation, which we estimate could take two years or more, the price and 
timing of transactions entered into in the future, the cost of operating the Company through the date of our final dissolution, 
general business and economic conditions, and other matters. In addition, before making the final liquidating distribution, we 
will need to pay or arrange for the payment of all of our transaction costs in the liquidation, all other costs and all valid claims 
of our creditors. Our board of directors may also decide to acquire one or more insurance policies covering unknown or 
contingent claims against us, for which we would pay a premium which has not yet been determined. Our board of directors 
may also decide to provide for any unknown and outstanding liabilities and expenses, which may include the establishment of a 
reserve fund or transferring assets to a liquidating trust to pay contingent liabilities and ongoing expenses in an amount to be 
determined as information concerning such contingencies and expenses becomes available. The amount of transaction costs in 
the liquidation is not yet final, including prepayment penalties with respect to indebtedness on the properties, so we have used 
estimates of these costs in calculating the amounts of our projected liquidating distributions. To the extent that we have 
underestimated these costs in calculating our projections, our actual liquidating distributions may be lower than our estimated 
range. In addition, if the claims of our creditors are greater than what we have anticipated or if we decide to acquire one or 
more insurance policies covering unknown or contingent claims against us, our liquidating distributions may be delayed or 
reduced. Further, if a reserve fund is established or assets are transferred to a liquidating trust to pay contingent liabilities, 
payment of liquidating distributions to our stockholders may be delayed or reduced. 

 
The sales of our assets pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation will not be subject to further stockholder approval. 

 
Following the approval of the Plan of Liquidation by our stockholders in July 2018, our board of directors has the authority 

to sell any and all of the Company’s assets on such terms and to such parties, including affiliated parties (subject to the terms of 
our charter), as our board of directors determines appropriate, even if such terms are less favorable than those assumed for the 
purpose of estimating our range of liquidating distributions. Notably, our stockholders will have no subsequent opportunity to 
vote on such matters and will, therefore, have no right to approve or disapprove the terms of such sales. 

 
Even if you receive total liquidating distributions within the estimated range of $8.83 to $9.83 per share of the Company’s 
common stock, there can be no assurance regarding the total return you will realize. 

 
Although we have provided an estimated range of total liquidating distributions of $8.83 to $9.83 per share of the 

Company’s common stock and have paid approximately $2.83 per share since the date they were acquired, there can be no 
assurances regarding the amounts of any liquidating distributions or the timing thereof. Your total return will depend on the 
amount you paid for your shares and the date on which you purchased such shares. Stockholders should consult their financial 
advisors for more information about their potential total return. 

 
Our board of directors may amend or terminate the Plan of Liquidation, if it determines that doing so is in the best 
interest of the Company and our stockholders. 

 
At any time prior to the filing of Articles of Dissolution, our board of directors may amend or terminate the Plan of 

Liquidation without further stockholder approval if it determines that doing so would be in the best interest of the Company and 
our stockholders. Thus, we have the ability to determine to conduct the liquidation differently than previously described or we 
may determine not to complete the liquidation. 

 
If there are any lawsuits in connection with the Plan of Liquidation, it may be costly and may prevent the Plan of 
Liquidation from being completed or from being completed within the expected timeframe. 

 
Our stockholders may file lawsuits challenging the Plan of Liquidation which may name the Company or our board of 

directors as defendants. As of the date of this report, no such lawsuits challenging the Plan of Liquidation were pending, or to 
our knowledge, threatened. However, if such a lawsuit is filed, we cannot assure you as to the outcome of any such lawsuits, 
including the amount of costs associated with defending any such claims or any other liabilities that may be incurred in 
connection with such claims. If any plaintiffs are successful in obtaining an injunction prohibiting us from completing the Plan 
of Liquidation, such an injunction may delay the Plan of Liquidation or prevent it from being completed. Whether or not any 
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plaintiff’s claim is successful, this type of litigation often results in significant costs and diverts management’s attention and 
resources, which could adversely affect the operation of our business and reduce the funds available for liquidating distributions 
to our stockholders. 

 
We may fail to continue to qualify as a REIT, which would reduce the amount of any potential distributions. 

 
The estimated range of liquidating distributions determined by our board of directors assumes that the Company will 

continue to qualify as a REIT under the Tax Code during the entire liquidation process and, therefore, no provision has been 
made for federal income taxes. So long as we qualify as a REIT and distribute all of our taxable income each year, we generally 
will not be subject to federal income tax. While our board of directors does not presently intend to terminate our REIT status 
prior to the final liquidating distribution of our assets and our dissolution, pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation, our board of 
directors may take actions that would result in such a loss of REIT status. To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy various 
ongoing requirements relating to the nature of our gross assets and income, the timing and amount of distributions and the 
composition of our stockholders. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain its REIT qualification. 
We may encounter difficulties satisfying these requirements as part of the liquidation process. If we lose our REIT status, we 
would be taxable as a corporation for federal income tax purposes and would be liable for federal income taxes, including any 
applicable alternative minimum tax, at the corporate rate with respect to our entire income from operations and from liquidating 
sales of our assets for the taxable year in which our qualification as a REIT terminates and in any subsequent years, and we 
would not be entitled to a tax deduction for distributions that we make. We would also be subject to increased state and local 
taxes. As a result of these consequences, our failure to qualify as a REIT could substantially reduce the funds available for 
distribution to our stockholders. 
 

Distributing interests in a liquidating trust may cause you to recognize gain prior to the receipt of cash. 
 

The REIT provisions of the Tax Code generally require that each year we distribute as dividends to our stockholders at 
least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding any net 
capital gains). Our liquidating distributions generally will not qualify as deductible dividends for this purpose unless, among 
other things, we make such distributions within 24 months after the adoption of the Plan of Liquidation. We believe that the 
adoption of the Plan of Liquidation will be properly treated as having occurred upon its approval by our stockholders on July 
17, 2018. Although we anticipate that we will meet this timetable, conditions may arise which cause us not to be able to 
liquidate within such 24-month period. For instance, it may not be possible to sell our assets at acceptable prices during such 
period. 

 
In addition, the IRS could assert that the adoption of the Plan of Liquidation effectively commenced prior to July 17, 2019 

Date with the sale of, or agreement by us to sell, certain properties. If such an assertion were successful, we could be required 
to complete the Plan of Liquidation sooner than July 17, 2020, or otherwise distributions that we make pursuant to the Plan of 
Liquidation might not be deductible by us, which might result in a loss by us of our tax qualification as a REIT or in our 
otherwise incurring income taxes. 

 
In such event, rather than retain our assets and risk losing our status as a REIT, we may elect to contribute our remaining 

assets and liabilities to a liquidating trust and distribute interests in the liquidating trust to our stockholders in order to meet the 
24-month requirement. We may also elect to transfer our remaining assets and liabilities to a liquidating trust within such 24-
month period to avoid the costs of operating as a public company. Such a transfer would be treated as a distribution of our 
remaining assets to our stockholders, together with a contribution of the assets to the liquidating trust. As a result, a stockholder 
would recognize gain to the extent that his share of the cash and the net fair market value of any assets received by the 
liquidating trust was greater than the stockholder’s basis in his stock, notwithstanding that the stockholder would not 
contemporaneously receive a distribution of cash or any other assets with which to satisfy any resulting tax liability and the 
Company may have withholding tax obligations with respect to foreign stockholders. In addition, it is possible that the fair 
market value of the assets received by the liquidating trust, as estimated for purposes of determining the extent of the 
stockholder’s gain at the time at which interests in the liquidating trust are distributed to the stockholders, will exceed the cash 
or fair market value of property received by the liquidating trust on a later sale of the assets. In this case, the stockholder could 
recognize a loss in a taxable year subsequent to the taxable year in which the gain was recognized, the deductibility of which 
may be limited under the Tax Code. The distribution to stockholders of interests in a liquidating trust may also cause ongoing 
adverse tax consequences (particularly to tax-exempt and foreign stockholders, which may be required to file U.S. tax returns 
with respect to their share of income generated by the liquidating trust). 
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Stockholders may be liable to our creditors for the amount received from us if our reserve fund or the assets transferred to 
a liquidating trust are inadequate. 

 
Pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation, we intend to dispose of our assets, discharge our liabilities and distribute to our 

stockholders any remaining assets as soon as practicable. In the event that it should not be feasible, in the opinion of our board 
of directors, for the Company to pay, or adequately provide for, all of our debts and liabilities, or if our board of directors shall 
determine it is advisable, our board of directors may establish a liquidating trust to which the Company could distribute in kind 
its unsold assets. 

 
Any reserve fund or assets transferred to a liquidating trust established by us may not be adequate to cover any contingent 

expenses and liabilities. Under Maryland law, if we make distributions and fail to maintain an adequate reserve fund or fail to 
transfer adequate assets in a liquidating trust for payment of our contingent expenses and liabilities, each stockholder could be 
held liable for payment to our creditors of such amounts owed to creditors which we fail to pay. The liability of any stockholder 
would be limited to the amount of such liquidating distributions previously received by such stockholder from us or the 
liquidating trust. Accordingly, in such event, a stockholder could be required to return all such distributions received from the 
Company or the liquidating trust. If a stockholder has paid taxes on liquidating distributions previously received, a repayment 
of all or a portion of such amount could result in a stockholder incurring a net tax cost if the stockholder’s repayment of an 
amount previously distributed does not cause a commensurate reduction in taxes payable. On December 31, 2018, the 
Company had outstanding liabilities of approximately $906.8 million, of which approximately $678.1 million consisted of 
loans secured by properties we owned. All of these obligations are expected to be paid in full in connection with the sales of our 
properties. We may decide to establish a reserve fund or transfer assets to a liquidating trust to provide for any unknown or 
outstanding liabilities and expenses. We will continuously monitor expenses and any other foreseeable liabilities the Company 
may incur in implementing the Plan of Liquidation to seek to ensure that an adequate reserve fund is maintained or adequate 
assets are transferred to a liquidating trust to discharge these liabilities in full. 
 
Risks Related to Our Business in General 

 
A prolonged national or world-wide economic downturn or volatile capital market conditions could adversely affect our 
results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

If disruptions in the capital and credit markets were to occur, they could adversely affect our ability to obtain loans, credit 
facilities, debt financing and other financing, or, when available, to obtain such financing on reasonable terms, which could 
negatively impact our ability to implement our Plan of Liquidation in a manner that is accretive to our stockholders. 

 
If these disruptions in the capital and credit markets should occur as a result of, among other factors, uncertainty, changing 

regulation, changes in trade agreements reduced alternatives or additional failures of significant financial institutions, our 
access to liquidity could be significantly impacted. Prolonged disruptions could result in us selling our remaining assets at 
lower than expected prices, which could reduce or eliminate the liquidating distributions we make to our stockholders. 

 
We believe the risks associated with our business are more severe during periods of economic downturn if these periods are 

accompanied by declining values in real estate. For example, a prolonged economic downturn could negatively impact our 
property investments as a result of increased customer delinquencies and/or defaults under our leases, generally lower demand 
for rentable space, potential oversupply of rentable space leading to increased concessions, and/or customer improvement 
expenditures, or reduced rental rates to maintain occupancies. 

 
Our operations could be negatively affected to a greater extent if an economic downturn occurs, is prolonged or becomes 

more severe, which could significantly harm our revenues, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, business 
prospects and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and may result in a decrease in the value of our stockholders’ 
investment. 
 

Yields on and safety of deposits may be lower if there are to extensive declines in the financial markets. 
 

We may hold funds in investments, including money market funds, bank money market accounts and CDs or other 
accounts at third-party depository institutions. Unusual declines in the financial markets similar to those experienced during the 
Great Recession, could result in a loss of some or all of these funds. In particular, money market funds may experience intense 
redemption pressure in such years and have difficulty satisfying redemption requests. As a result, we may not be able to access 
the cash in our money market investments. In addition, current yields from these investments are minimal. 
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The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available to pay 
distributions and make additional investments. 

 
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation only insures amounts up to $250,000 per depositor. It is likely that we will 

have cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured 
levels. If any of the banking institutions in which we deposit funds ultimately fails, we may lose any amount of our deposits 
over federally insured levels. The loss of our deposits could reduce the amount of cash we have available to distribute or invest 
and could result in a decline in the value of our stockholders’ investments. 
 

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. In the event we do not repay or refinance such indebtedness, we could face 
substantial liquidity issues and might be required to issue equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities, 
or sell some of our assets to meet our debt payment obligations. 

 
As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $678.1 million of outstanding indebtedness, which, upon final maturity, 

we will need to refinance or repay. See Note 4 — Debt Financing for additional information regarding our outstanding debt. 
There can be no assurances we will be able to refinance our indebtedness (1) on commercially reasonable terms, (2) on terms, 
including with respect to interest rates, as favorable as our current debt, or (3) at all. 

 
Economic conditions and the credit markets have historically experienced, and may continue to experience, periods of 

volatility, uncertainty, or weakness that could impact the availability or cost of debt financing. 
 
A substantial portion of our outstanding indebtedness bears interest at floating rates based on the London interbank offered 

rate (“LIBOR”). In July 2017, the United Kingdom's Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it 
will stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. It is not possible to predict the effect of 
these changes, other reforms or the establishment of alternative reference rates. The discontinuation or modification of LIBOR 
could result in interest rate increases on our debt, which could adversely affect our cash flow, operating results and ability to 
make distributions to our stockholders at expected levels or at all. 

 
If we are unable to repay or refinance our debt, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate enough cash flows 

from operations or that we will be able to obtain enough capital to service our debt, fund our planned capital expenditures or 
pay future distributions at expected levels or at all. In such an event, we could face substantial liquidity issues and might be 
required to sell some of our assets to meet our debt payment obligations. Failure to repay or refinance indebtedness when 
required could result in a default under such indebtedness. If we incur additional indebtedness, any such indebtedness could 
exacerbate the risks described above. 
 

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants that relate to or otherwise limit our operations, which could 
limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders, to replace the Advisor or to otherwise achieve our investment 
objectives. 

When providing financing, a lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and 
our ability to incur additional debt. Loan agreements we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to further 
mortgage property, discontinue insurance coverage, or make distributions under certain circumstances. In addition, provisions 
of our loan agreements may deter us from replacing the Advisor because of the consequences under such agreements and may 
limit our ability to replace the property manager or terminate certain operating or lease agreements related to the property. 
These or other limitations may adversely affect our flexibility and our ability to achieve our investment objectives. 
 

We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, various financial instruments for purposes of “hedging” or reducing our 
risks, which may be costly and ineffective and may reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 

 
We may enter into currency rate swaps and caps or similar hedging or derivative transactions or arrangements, in order to 

manage or mitigate our risk of exposure to the effects of currency changes as a result of our international investments. Similarly, we 
have, and may continue to enter into interest rate swaps and caps, or similar hedging or derivative transactions or arrangements, in 
order to manage or mitigate our risk of exposure to the effects of interest rate changes due to variable interest rate debt that we may 
have. 
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Our success will be dependent on the performance of Hines as well as key employees of Hines. Certain other investment 
vehicles sponsored by Hines have experienced adverse developments in recent years and there is a risk that we may 
experience similar adverse developments. Adverse changes in affiliated programs could also adversely affect our ability to 
raise capital. 
 

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions is dependent upon the performance of Hines and 
its affiliates as well as key employees of Hines in the identification and acquisition of investments, the selection of tenants, the 
determination of any financing arrangements, the management of our assets and operation of our day-to-day activities. Our 
board of directors and the Advisor have broad discretion when identifying, evaluating, making and managing our investments 
with the proceeds of the Follow-On Offering. You will have no opportunity to evaluate the terms of transactions or other 
economic or financial data concerning our investments. We will rely on the management ability of Hines and the oversight of 
our board of directors as well as the management of any entities or ventures in which we invest. 
 

We may not be able to retain our key employees. To the extent we are unable to retain and/or find qualified successors for 
key employees that depart from the company, our results of operations may be adversely impacted. Our officers and the 
management of the Advisor also serve in similar capacities for numerous other entities. If Hines or any of its key employees are 
distracted by these other activities or suffer from adverse financial or operational problems in connection with operations 
unrelated to us, the ability of Hines and its affiliates to allocate time and/or resources to our operations may be adversely 
affected. If Hines is unable to allocate sufficient resources to oversee and perform our operations for any reason, our results of 
operations would be adversely impacted. We will not provide key-man life insurance policies for any of Hines’ key employees. 
  

Certain other investment vehicles sponsored by Hines have experienced adverse developments in recent years. Hines REIT 
sold shares of its common stock from 2004 to 2009 at various prices between $10.00 per share and $10.66 per share. Although 
Hines REIT re-opened its share redemption program with respect to ordinary redemption requests in April 2013, the program 
was suspended, except with respect to redemptions in connection with the death or disability of a stockholder, in December 
2009. In addition, Hines REIT decreased its distribution rate in July 2010 and further decreased the rate in April 2013. Hines 
REIT completed its liquidation and dissolution in August 2018 and paid distributions of $7.59 per share to its stockholders, 
including liquidating distributions of $6.57 per share and special distributions of $1.01 per share. The special distributions were 
paid from July 2011 through April 2013 and were in addition to the regular operating distributions of up to $5.49 per share paid 
to Hines REIT’s stockholders between 2004 and 2016. The amount of regular operating distributions received by stockholders 
varied depending on when they invested and whether they held their shares continuously through 2016. 
  

In addition to Hines REIT, Hines Global Income Trust and HMS Income Fund, Inc., Hines has sponsored more than 20 
privately-offered programs in the past ten years. Several of Hines’ privately-offered programs have experienced adverse 
economic developments due to the global financial crisis and deteriorating economic conditions in several European and South 
American countries, Mexico and several U.S. markets between 2007 and 2009. The adverse market conditions experienced by 
these programs may result in them altering their investment strategy, generating returns lower than originally expected, or 
ultimately may cause them to incur losses. There is a risk that we may experience similar adverse developments, as an 
investment vehicle sponsored by Hines. 
  

Adverse results in the other non-traded REITs on the Hines platform have the potential to affect Hines’ and our reputation 
among financial advisors and investors, which could affect our ability to raise capital. 
 

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest or war may affect the markets in which we operate our 
operations and our profitability. 

 
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest or war may negatively affect our operations and our 

stockholders’ investments in our shares. Certain of our real estate investments are located in areas that may be susceptible to 
attack. In addition, any kind of terrorist activity or violent criminal acts, including terrorist acts against public institutions or 
buildings or modes of public transportation (including airlines, trains or buses) could have a negative effect on our business. 
These events may directly impact the value of our assets through damage, destruction, loss or increased security costs. We may 
not be able to obtain insurance against the risk of terrorism because it may not be available or may not be available on terms 
that are economically feasible. Further, even if we do obtain terrorism insurance, we may not be able to obtain sufficient 
coverage to fund any losses we may incur. Risks associated with potential acts of terrorism in the areas in which we acquire 
properties or other real estate investments could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and 
casualty claims. Additionally, mortgage lenders in some cases have begun to insist that specific coverage against terrorism be 
purchased by commercial owners as a condition for providing loans. 
 



 

11 

The consequences of any armed conflict are unpredictable, and we may not be able to foresee events that could have an 
adverse effect on our business or our stockholders’ investments in our shares. More generally, any terrorist attack, other act of 
violence or war, including armed conflicts, could result in increased volatility in or damage to, the United States and worldwide 
financial markets and economy. They also could result in a continuation of the current economic uncertainty in the United 
States or abroad. Our revenues will be dependent upon the payment of rent and the return of our other investments which may 
be particularly vulnerable to uncertainty in the local economy. Increased economic volatility could adversely affect our tenants’ 
ability to pay rent or the return on our other investments or our ability to borrow money or issue capital stock at acceptable 
prices and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our 
ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their investment. 
 

We may be subject to litigation which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. 

We may be subject to litigation, including claims relating to our Plan of Liquidation or operations, offerings, unrecognized 
pre-acquisition contingencies and otherwise in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims may result in potentially 
significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. We generally intend to vigorously defend 
ourselves; however, we cannot be certain of the ultimate outcomes of claims that may arise in the future. Resolution of these 
types of matters against us may result in our payment of significant fines or settlements, which, if not insured against, or if 
these fines and settlements exceed insured levels, would adversely impact our earnings and cash flows. Certain litigation or the 
resolution of certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage which could adversely 
impact our results of operations and cash flows, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured and/or adversely impact 
our ability to attract officers and directors. 
 

Our business could suffer in the event the Advisor, our transfer agent or any other party that provides us with services 
essential to our operations experiences system failures or cyberincidents or a deficiency in cybersecurity. 

The Advisor, our transfer agent and other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations are vulnerable to 
damages from any number of sources, including computer viruses, unauthorized access, energy blackouts, natural disasters, 
terrorism, war and telecommunication failures. Any system failure or accident that causes interruptions in our operations could result 
in a material disruption to our business.  A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, 
integrity or availability of information resources. More specifically, a cyber incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event 
that may include, but is not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to systems to disrupt operations, corrupt data, steal assets or 
misappropriate confidential information, such as confidential stockholder records. As reliance on technology in our industry has 
increased, so have the risks posed to our systems, both internal and those we have outsourced. In addition, the risk of a cyber 
incident, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity 
and sophistication of attempted attacks and instructions from around the world have increased.  The remediation costs and lost 
revenues experienced by a victim of a cyber incident may be significant and significant resources may be required to repair system 
damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to alleviate problems, including reputational harm, loss of revenues 
and litigation, caused by any breaches. There also may be liability for any stolen assets or misappropriated confidential information. 
Any material adverse effect experienced by the Advisor, our transfer agent and other parties that provide us with services essential to 
our operations could, in turn, have an adverse impact on us. 
 
Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate 
 

Geographic concentration of our portfolio may make us particularly susceptible to adverse economic developments in the 
real estate markets of those areas. 

 
In the event that we have a concentration of properties in, or real estate investments that invest in properties located in, a 

particular geographic area, our operating results and ability to make distributions are likely to be impacted by economic 
changes affecting the real estate markets in that area. Therefore, stockholders’ investment in our common stock will be subject 
to greater risk to the extent that we lack a geographically diversified portfolio.  For example, based on our share of the 
estimated market value of the real estate investments in which we owned interests as of March 1, 2019, approximately 19% of 
our portfolio consists of our property located in Seattle, Washington and 16% of our portfolio consists of our property in 
London, England.  Consequently, our financial condition and ability to make distributions could be materially and adversely 
affected by any significant adverse developments in those markets. Please see “Item 2. Properties — Market Concentration.” 
 

Industry concentration of our tenants may make us particularly susceptible to adverse economic developments in these 
industries. 

 
In the event we have a concentration of tenants in a particular industry, our operating results and ability to make 

distributions may be adversely affected by adverse developments in these industries and we will be subject to a greater risk to 
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the extent that our tenants are not diversified by industry. For example, based on our pro rata share of space leased to tenants as 
of March 1, 2019, 38% of our space is leased to tenants in the retail industry, 13% is leased to tenants in the transportation and 
warehousing industry, and 11% is leased to tenants in the finance and insurance industry. Please see “Item 2. Properties — 
Industry Concentration.” 
 

We depend on tenants for our revenue, and therefore our revenue is dependent on the success and economic viability of 
our tenants. Our reliance on single or significant tenants in certain buildings may decrease our ability to lease vacated 
space. 

 
Rental income from real property constitutes a significant portion of our income. Delays in collecting accounts receivable 

from tenants could adversely affect our cash flows and financial condition. In addition, the inability of a single major tenant or 
a number of smaller tenants to meet their rental obligations would adversely affect our income. Therefore, our financial success 
is indirectly dependent on the success of the businesses operated by the tenants in our properties or in the properties securing 
loans we may own. Tenants may have the right to terminate their leases upon the occurrence of certain customary events of 
default and, in other circumstances, may not renew their leases or, because of market conditions, may be able to renew their 
leases on terms that are less favorable to us than the terms of the current leases.  The weakening of the financial condition or the 
bankruptcy or insolvency of a significant tenant or a number of smaller tenants and vacancies caused by defaults of tenants or 
the expiration of leases, may adversely affect our operations and our ability to pay distributions. 
 

Generally, under U.S. bankruptcy law, a debtor tenant has 120 days to exercise the option of assuming or rejecting the 
obligations under any unexpired lease for nonresidential real property, which period may be extended once by the bankruptcy 
court. If the tenant assumes its lease, the tenant must cure all defaults under the lease and may be required to provide adequate 
assurance of its future performance under the lease. If the tenant rejects the lease, we will have a claim against the tenant’s 
bankruptcy estate. Although rent owing for the period between filing for bankruptcy and rejection of the lease may be afforded 
administrative expense priority and paid in full, pre-bankruptcy arrears and amounts owing under the remaining term of the 
lease will be afforded general unsecured claim status (absent collateral securing the claim). Moreover, amounts owing under the 
remaining term of the lease will be capped. Other than equity and subordinated claims, general unsecured claims are the last 
claims paid in a bankruptcy and therefore funds may not be available to pay such claims in full. In addition, while the specifics 
of the bankruptcy laws of international jurisdictions may differ from the U.S. bankruptcy laws described herein, the bankruptcy 
or insolvency of a significant tenant or a number of smaller tenants at any of the international properties we may acquire, may 
similarly adversely impact our operations and our ability to pay distributions. 
 

Some of our properties may be leased to a single or significant tenant and, accordingly, may be suited to the particular or 
unique needs of such tenant. We may have difficulty replacing such a tenant if the floor plan of the vacant space limits the types 
of businesses that can use the space without major renovation. In addition, the resale value of the property could be diminished 
because the market value of a particular property will depend principally upon the value of the leases of such property. 

 
We may suffer adverse consequences if our revenues decline, since our operating costs do not necessarily decline in 
proportion to our revenue. 

 
We earn a significant portion of our income from renting our properties. Our operating costs, however, do not necessarily 

fluctuate in proportion to changes in our rental revenue. As a result, our costs will not necessarily decline even if our revenues 
do. Similarly, our operating costs could increase while our revenues stay flat or decline. In either such event, we may be forced 
to borrow funds to cover our costs, we may incur losses or we may not have cash available to service our debt. 
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Due to the risks involved in the ownership of real estate investments and real estate acquisitions, a return on an 
investment in Hines Global is not guaranteed, and our stockholders may lose some or all of their investment. 

 
By owning our shares, stockholders will be subjected to significant risks associated with owning and operating real estate 

investments. The performance of their investment in Hines Global will be subject to such risks, including: 
 

•  changes in the general economic climate; 
•  changes in local conditions such as an oversupply of space or reduction in demand for real estate; 
•  changes in interest rates and the availability of financing; 
•  changes in property level operating expenses due to inflation or otherwise; 
•  changes in laws and governmental regulations, including those governing real estate usage, zoning and taxes; and 
•  changes due to factors that are generally outside of our control, such as terrorist attacks and international instability, 

natural disasters and acts of God, over-building, adverse national, state or local changes in applicable tax, environmental 
or zoning laws and a taking of any of the properties which we own or in which we otherwise have interests by eminent 
domain. 
 

Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial 
condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their investment. 

 
We may be adversely affected by trends in the office real estate industry. 

 
Some of the properties that we own are office properties. Some businesses are rapidly evolving to make employee 

telecommuting, flexible work schedules, open workplaces and teleconferencing increasingly common. These practices enable 
businesses to reduce their space requirements. A continuation of the movement towards these practices could over time erode 
the overall demand for office space and, in turn, place downward pressure on occupancy, rental rates and property valuations, 
each of which could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make 
distributions to our stockholders. 
 

An economic slowdown or rise in interest rates or other unfavorable changes in economic conditions in the markets in 
which we operate could adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our 
ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their investment. 

 
The development of negative economic conditions in the markets in which we operate may significantly affect occupancy, 

rental rates and our ability to collect rent from our tenants, as well as our property values, which could have a material adverse 
impact on our cash flows, operating results, carrying value of investment property and ability to dispose of investment property. 
For example, an economic recession or rise in interest rates could make it more difficult for us to lease real properties, may 
require us to lease the real properties we acquire at lower rental rates and may lead to an increase in tenant defaults. In addition, 
these conditions may also lead to a decline in the value of our properties and make it more difficult for us to dispose of these 
properties at an attractive price. Other risks that may affect conditions in the markets in which we operate include: 
 

•  local conditions, such as an oversupply of the types of properties we invest in or a reduction in demand for such 
properties in the area; and 

•  increased operating costs, if these costs cannot be passed through to tenants. 
 
International, national, regional and local economic climates have been adversely affected by the slow job growth of recent 

years. To the extent any of the adverse conditions described above occurs in the specific markets in which we operate, market 
rents, occupancy rates and our ability to collect rents from our tenants will likely be affected and the value of our properties 
may decline. We could also face challenges related to adequately managing and maintaining our properties, should we 
experience increased operating cost and as a result, we may experience a loss of rental revenues. Any of these factors may 
adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, our ability to make distributions to our 
stockholders and the value of their investment. 

 
Our use of borrowings to fund improvements on properties or other cash needs could result in foreclosures and 
unexpected debt service expenses upon refinancing, both of which could have an adverse impact on our operations and 
cash flow. 

 
We are relying and intend to continue to rely in part on borrowings under our credit facilities and other external sources of 

financing to fund the costs of any capital expenditures and other items. Accordingly, we are subject to the risks that our cash 
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flow will not be sufficient to cover required debt service payments and that we will be unable to meet other covenants or 
requirements in the credit agreements. 
 

If we cannot meet our required debt obligations, the property or properties securing such indebtedness could be foreclosed 
upon by, or otherwise transferred to, our lender, with a consequent loss of income and asset value to us. For tax purposes, a 
foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding 
balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax 
basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but we may not receive any cash proceeds. 
Additionally, we may be required to refinance our debt subject to “lump sum” or “balloon” payment maturities on terms less 
favorable than the original loan or at a time we would otherwise prefer to not refinance such debt. A refinancing on such terms 
or at such times could increase our debt service payments, which would decrease the amount of cash we would have available 
for operations, new investments and distribution payments and may cause us to determine to sell one or more properties at a 
time when we would not otherwise do so. 
 

Uninsured losses relating to real property may adversely impact the value of our portfolio. 
 

We attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to cover casualty losses. However, there are types of 
losses, generally catastrophic in nature, which are uninsurable, are not economically insurable or are only insurable subject to 
limitations. Examples of such catastrophic events include acts of war or terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes and pollution 
or environmental matters. We may not have adequate coverage in the event we or our buildings suffer casualty losses. If we do 
not have adequate insurance coverage, the value of our assets will be reduced as the result of, and to the extent of, any such 
uninsured losses. Additionally, we may not have access to capital resources to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damage to a 
property. 
 

We may be unable to obtain desirable types of insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, if at all, and we may be unable to 
comply with insurance requirements contained in mortgage or other agreements due to high insurance costs. 

 
We may not be able either to obtain certain desirable types of insurance coverage, such as terrorism, earthquake, flood, 

hurricane and pollution or environmental matter insurance, or to obtain such coverage at a reasonable cost in the future, and this 
risk may limit our ability to finance or refinance debt secured by our properties. Additionally, we could default under debt or 
other agreements if the cost and/or availability of certain types of insurance make it impractical or impossible to comply with 
covenants relating to the insurance we are required to maintain under such agreements. In such instances, we may be required 
to self-insure against certain losses or seek other forms of financial assurance. 

 
The real estate industry is subject to extensive regulation, which may result in higher expenses or other negative 
consequences that could adversely affect us. 

 
Our activities are subject to federal, state and municipal laws, and to regulations, authorizations and license requirements 

with respect to, among other things, zoning, environmental protection and historical heritage, all of which may affect our 
business. We may be required to obtain licenses and permits with different governmental authorities in order to acquire and 
manage our assets. 

 
In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), which generally 

took effect in 2011, contains a sweeping overhaul of the regulation of U.S. financial institutions and financial markets. Key 
provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act require extensive rulemaking by the SEC and the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading 
Commission, some of which remains ongoing. Thus, the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on our business cannot be fully 
assessed until all final implementing rules and regulations are promulgated. 

 
Various rules currently in effect under the Dodd-Frank Act may have a significant impact on our business, including, 

without limitation, provisions of the legislation that increase regulation of and disclosure requirements related to investment 
advisors, swap transactions and hedging policies, corporate governance and executive compensation, investor protection and 
enforcement provisions, and asset-backed securities.  In February 2017, the U.S. President ordered the Secretary of the U.S. 
Treasury to review certain existing rules and regulations, such as those promulgated under the Dodd-Frank Act; however, the 
implications of that review are not yet known and none of the rules and regulations promulgated under the Dodd-Frank Act 
have been modified or rescinded as of the date of this report. 

 
For example, but not by way of limitation, the Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder 

provides for significantly increased regulation of the derivatives markets and transactions that affect our interest rate hedging 
activities, including: (i) regulatory reporting, (ii) subject to limited exemptions, mandated clearing through central 
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counterparties and execution on regulated exchanges or execution facilities, and (iii) margin and collateral requirements. While 
the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on our interest rate hedging activities cannot be fully assessed until all final 
implementing rules and regulations are promulgated, the foregoing requirements may affect our ability to enter into hedging or 
other risk management transactions, may increase our costs in entering into such transactions, and/or may result in us entering 
into such transactions on less favorable terms than prior to the Dodd-Frank Act. For example, subject to an exception for “end-
users” of swaps upon which we may seek to rely, we may be required to clear certain interest rate hedging transactions by 
submitting them to a derivatives clearing organization. To the extent we are required to clear any such transactions, we will be 
required to, among other things, post margin in connection with such transactions. The occurrence of any of the foregoing 
events may have an adverse effect on our business and our stockholders’ return. 

 
In addition, public authorities may enact new and more stringent standards, or interpret existing laws and regulations in a 

more restrictive manner, which may force companies in the real estate industry, including us, to spend funds to comply with 
these new rules. Any such action on the part of public authorities may adversely affect our results from operations. 

 
In the event of noncompliance with such laws, regulations, licenses and authorizations, we may face the payment of fines, 

project shutdowns, cancellation of licenses, and revocation of authorizations, in addition to other civil and criminal penalties. 
 
We operate in a competitive business, and many of our competitors have significant resources and operating flexibility, 
allowing them to compete effectively with us. 

 
Numerous real estate companies that operate in the markets in which we may operate will compete with us in acquiring 

and obtaining creditworthy tenants to occupy such properties or the properties owned by such investments. One such company 
with whom we may compete for tenants is Hines Global Income Trust. Such competition could adversely affect our business. 
There are numerous real estate companies, real estate investment trusts and U.S. institutional and foreign investors that will 
compete with us in seeking investments and tenants for properties. Many of these entities have significant financial and other 
resources, including operating experience, allowing them to compete effectively with us. In addition, our ability to charge 
premium rental rates to tenants may be negatively impacted. This increased competition may investments or lower our 
occupancy rates and the rent we may charge tenants. In addition, the arrival of new competitors in the immediate areas where 
we have assets could require unplanned investments in our assets, which may adversely affect us. We may also have difficulty 
in renewing leases or in leasing to new tenants, which may lead to a reduction in our cash flow and operating income, since the 
proximity of new competitors could divert existing or new tenants to such competitors, resulting in vacancies. 

 
The sale of properties may cause us to incur penalty taxes, fail to maintain our REIT status, or own and sell properties 
through Taxable REIT Subsidiaries (“TRSs”), each of which would diminish the return to our stockholders. 

 
The sale of one or more of our properties may be considered a “prohibited transaction” under the Code (which generally 

includes the sale of property held by us primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our trade or business). If we are 
deemed to have engaged in a prohibited transaction, all net gain that we derive from such sale would be subject to a 100% 
penalty tax. The Code sets forth a safe harbor for REITs that wish to sell property without risking the imposition of the 100% 
penalty tax. The principal requirements of the safe harbor are that: (i) the REIT must hold the applicable property for not less 
than two years for the production of rental income prior to its sale; (ii) the aggregate expenditures made by the REIT, or any 
partner of the REIT, during the two-year period preceding the date of sale which are includible in the basis of the property do 
not exceed 30% of the net selling price of the property; and (iii) property sales by the REIT do not exceed at least one of the 
following thresholds: (a) seven sales in the current year; (b) sales in the current year that do not exceed 10% of the REIT’s 
assets as of the beginning of the year (as measured by either fair market value or tax basis); or (c) sales in the current year that 
do not exceed 20% of the REIT’s assets as of the beginning of the year, and sales over a three-year period do not exceed, on 
average, 10% per annum of the REIT’s assets, in each case as measured by either fair market value or tax basis. Given our 
investment and operating strategy, the sale of one or more of our properties may not satisfy the above prohibited transaction 
safe harbor. 
 

If we desire to sell a property pursuant to a transaction that does not satisfy the safe harbor, we may be able to avoid the 
prohibited transaction tax if we hold and sell the property through a TRS. In that case, any gain would be taxable to the TRS at 
regular corporate income tax rates. We may decide to forego the use of a TRS in a transaction that does not meet the safe harbor 
based our own internal analysis, the opinion of counsel or the opinion of other tax advisors that the disposition should not be 
subject to the prohibited transaction tax. In cases where a property disposition is not affected through a TRS, the Internal 
Revenue Service, or IRS, could assert that the disposition constitutes a prohibited transaction. If such an assertion were 
successful, all of the net gain from the sale of the property will be payable as a tax which will have a negative impact on cash 
flow and the ability to make cash distributions. 
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Limitations on our ownership of non-real estate securities of our TRSs could adversely affect our operations and/or our 
ability to qualify as a REIT. 

 
As a REIT, the value of our ownership of non-real estate securities of our TRSs may not exceed 20% of the value of all of 

our assets at the end of any calendar quarter. If the IRS were to determine that the value of our ownership of such securities of 
all of our TRSs exceeded 20% of the value of our total assets at the end of any calendar quarter, then we could fail to qualify as 
a REIT. If we determine it to be in our best interest to own a substantial number of our properties through one or more TRSs, 
then it is possible that the IRS may conclude that the value of our interests in our TRSs exceeds 20% of the value of our total 
assets at the end of any calendar quarter and therefore cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT. Additionally, as a REIT, generally 
no more than 25% of our gross income with respect to any year may be from sources other than real estate. Dividends paid to 
us from a TRS are considered to be non-real estate income. Therefore, we may fail to qualify as a REIT if dividends from all of 
our TRSs, when aggregated with all other non-real estate income with respect to any one year, are more than 25% of our gross 
income with respect to such year. 
 

Potential liability as the result of, and the cost of compliance with, environmental matters could adversely affect our 
operations. 

 
Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or 

operator of real property may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on such 
property. Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of 
such hazardous or toxic substances. 
 

We have invested in properties historically used for industrial, manufacturing and commercial purposes. These properties 
are more likely to contain, or may have contained, underground storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products and other 
hazardous or toxic substances. All of these operations create a potential for the release of petroleum products or other hazardous 
or toxic substances. Leasing properties to tenants that engage in industrial, manufacturing, and commercial activities will cause 
us to be subject to increased risk of liabilities under environmental laws and regulations. The presence of hazardous or toxic 
substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell, rent or pledge such 
property as collateral for future borrowings. 

 
Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in which properties may be used or businesses may be 

operated, and these restrictions may require expenditures. Such laws may be amended so as to require compliance with 
stringent standards which could require us to make unexpected, substantial expenditures. Environmental laws provide for 
sanctions in the event of noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private 
parties. We may be potentially liable for such costs in connection with the acquisition and ownership of our properties in the 
United States. In addition, we may invest in properties located in countries that have adopted laws or observe environmental 
management standards that are less stringent than those generally followed in the United States, which may pose a greater risk 
that releases of hazardous or toxic substances have occurred to the environment. The cost of defending against claims of 
liability, compliance with environmental regulatory requirements or remediating any contaminated property could be 
substantial and require a material portion of our cash flow. 

 
We face possible risks associated with the physical effects of climate change. 

 
We cannot predict with certainty whether climate change is occurring and, if so, at what rate. However, the physical effects of 

climate change could have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations and business. To the extent climate change causes 
changes in weather patterns, our markets could experience increases in storm intensity, such as those experienced in Super Storm 
Sandy in October 2012 and Hurricane Harvey in 2017, and rising sea-levels. Over time, these conditions could result in declining 
demand for office space in our buildings or the inability of us to operate the buildings at all. Climate change may also have indirect 
effects on our business by increasing the cost of (or making unavailable) property insurance on terms we find acceptable, increasing 
the cost of energy and increasing the cost of snow removal at our properties. There can be no assurance that climate change will not 
have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations or business. 

 
Our properties are subject to property taxes that may increase in the future, which could adversely affect our cash flow. 

 
Our properties are subject to real and personal property taxes that may increase as property tax rates change and as the 

properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. We anticipate that most of our leases will generally provide that the 
property taxes or increases therein, are charged to the lessees as an expense related to the properties that they occupy. As the 
owner of the properties, however, we are ultimately responsible for payment of the taxes to the government. If property taxes 
increase, our tenants may be unable to make the required tax payments, ultimately requiring us to pay the taxes. In addition, we 
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will generally be responsible for property taxes related to any vacant space. If we purchase residential properties, the leases for 
such properties typically will not allow us to pass through real estate taxes and other taxes to residents of such properties. 
Consequently, any tax increases may adversely affect our results of operations at such properties. 

 
Our costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the ADA, may affect cash 
available for distributions. 
 

Any domestic properties we acquire will generally be subject to the ADA. Under the ADA, all places of public 
accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. The ADA has 
separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities” that generally require that 
buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. The ADA’s requirements could require 
removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary penalties or, in some cases, an award 
of damages. We may not acquire properties that comply with the ADA or we may not be able to allocate the burden on the seller 
or other third-party, such as a tenant, to ensure compliance with the ADA in all cases. Foreign jurisdictions may have similar 
requirements and any funds we use for ADA or similar compliance may affect cash available for distributions and the amount 
of distributions to you. 

 
Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold, which could lead to liability for adverse health effects and costs of 
remediating the problem. 

 
If any of our properties has or develops mold we may be required to undertake a costly program to remediate, contain or 

remove the mold. Mold growth may occur when moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials. Some molds may 
produce airborne toxins or irritants. Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing because exposure to mold may 
cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. We may become liable to our 
tenants, their employees and others if property damage or health concerns arise, all of which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our 
stockholders and the value of their investment. 
 

If we set aside insufficient working capital reserves, we may be required to defer necessary or desirable property 
improvements. 

 
If we do not establish sufficient reserves for working capital to supply necessary funds for capital improvements or similar 

expenses, we may be required to defer necessary or desirable improvements to our properties. If we defer such improvements, 
the applicable properties may decline in value, it may be more difficult for us to attract or retain tenants to such properties or 
the amount of rent we can charge at such properties may decrease. 

 
Changes in supply of or demand for similar properties in a particular area may adversely affect the value of the properties 
we own, which would lower the potential sales price of such properties. 
 

The real estate industry is subject to market forces and we are unable to predict certain market changes including changes 
in supply of or demand for similar properties in a particular area. For example, if demand for the types of real estate assets we 
invest were to sharply decrease or supply of those assets were to sharply increase, the prices of those assets could fall 
significantly. Any potential sale of an undervalued asset could decrease our rate of return on these investments and result in 
lower operating results and overall liquidity distributions. 

 
Retail properties depend on anchor tenants to attract shoppers and could be adversely affected by the loss of a key anchor 
tenant and trends in the retail sector generally. 

 
Four of our 12 properties in our portfolio as of March 1, 2019 are retail properties. Retail properties, like other properties, 

are subject to the risk that tenants may be unable to make their lease payments or may decline to extend a lease upon its 
expiration. A lease termination by a tenant that occupies a large area of a retail center (commonly referred to as an anchor 
tenant) could impact leases of other tenants. Other tenants may be entitled to modify the terms of their existing leases in the 
event of a lease termination by an anchor tenant, or the closure of the business of an anchor tenant that leaves its space vacant 
even if the anchor tenant continues to pay rent. Any such modifications or conditions could be unfavorable to us as the property 
owner and could decrease rents or expense recoveries. Additionally, major tenant closures may result in decreased customer 
traffic, which could lead to decreased sales at other stores. In the event of default by a tenant or anchor store, we may 
experience delays and costs in enforcing our rights as landlord to recover amounts due to us under the terms of our agreements 
with those parties. 
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The retail environment and the market for retail space have been, and in the future could be, adversely affected by 
weakness in the national, regional, and local economies, the level of consumer spending and consumer confidence, the adverse 
financial condition of some large retail companies, the ongoing consolidation in the retail sector, the excess amount of retail 
space in a number of markets, and increasing competition from discount retailers, outlet malls, internet retailers, and other 
online businesses. Increases in consumer spending via the internet may significantly affect our retail tenants’ ability to generate 
sales in their stores. New and enhanced technologies, including new digital technologies and new web services technologies, 
may increase competition for certain of our retail tenants. 
 

Leases with retail properties’ tenants may restrict us from re-leasing space. 
 

Most leases with retail tenants contain provisions giving the particular tenant the exclusive right to sell particular types of 
merchandise or provide specific types of services within the particular retail center. These provisions may limit the number and 
types of prospective tenants interested in leasing space in a particular retail property. 

 
We purchased assets at a time when the commercial real estate market was experiencing substantial influxes of capital 
investment and competition for properties, and the real estate we purchased may not appreciate or may decrease in value. 

 
Real estate investment transaction volume has increased since 2010, and estimated going-in capitalization rates, or cap 

rates (ratio of the net projected operating income of a property in its initial fiscal year divided by the net purchase price), have 
fallen relative to their post-recession peaks in late 2009.  There continues to be a significant amount of investment capital 
pursuing high-quality, well-located assets that generate stable cash flows, causing aggressive competition and pricing for assets 
which match our investment strategy.  This may continue to drive prices higher, resulting in lower cap rates and returns. We 
have purchased real estate in this environment and we are subject to the risks that the value of our assets may not appreciate or 
may decrease significantly below the amount we paid for such assets if the real estate market ceases to attract the same level of 
capital investment in the future as it attracted when we purchased such assets, or if the number of companies seeking to acquire 
such assets decreases. If any of these circumstances occur or the values of our investments are otherwise negatively affected, 
the value of our stockholders’ investment may be lower. 

 
We depend on the availability of public utilities and services, especially for water and electric power. Any reduction, 
interruption or cancellation of these services may adversely affect us. 

 
Public utilities, especially those that provide water and electric power, are fundamental for the operation of our assets. The 

delayed delivery or any material reduction or prolonged interruption of these services could result in tenants terminating their 
leases or result in an increase in our costs, as we may be forced to use backup generators, which also could be insufficient to 
fully operate our properties. Accordingly, any interruption or limitation in the provision of these essential services may 
adversely affect us. 
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Risks Related to International Investments 
 

We are subject to additional risks from our international investments. 
 

Many of the properties in our portfolio are located outside the United States. These investments may be affected by factors 
particular to the laws and business practices of the jurisdictions in which the properties are located. These laws and business 
practices may expose us to risks that are different from and in addition to those commonly found in the United States. Foreign 
investments pose the following risks: 
 

•  the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws; 
•  changing governmental rules and policies, including changes in land use and zoning laws, more stringent environmental 

laws or changes in such environmental laws; 
•  existing or new laws relating to the foreign ownership of real property or loans and laws restricting the ability of foreign 

persons or companies to remove profits earned from activities within the country to the person’s or company’s country of 
origin; 

•  the potential for expropriation; 
•  possible currency transfer restrictions; 
•  imposition of adverse or confiscatory taxes; 
•  changes in real estate and other tax rates and changes in other operating expenses in particular countries; 
•  possible challenges to the anticipated tax treatment of the structures that allow us to acquire and hold investments; 
•  adverse market conditions caused by terrorism, civil unrest and changes in national or local governmental or economic 

conditions; 
•  the willingness of domestic or foreign lenders to make loans in certain countries and changes in the availability, cost and 

terms of loan funds resulting from varying national economic policies; 
•  general political and economic instability in certain regions; 
•  the potential difficulty of enforcing obligations in other countries; and 
•  Hines’ limited experience and expertise in foreign countries relative to its experience and expertise in the United States. 

 
Investments in properties or other real estate investments outside the United States subject us to foreign currency risks, 
which may adversely affect distributions and our REIT status. 

 
Revenues generated from any properties or other real estate investments or ventures we enter into relating to transactions 

involving assets located in markets outside the United States likely will be denominated in the local currency. Therefore, any 
investments we make outside the United States may subject us to foreign currency risk due to potential fluctuations in exchange 
rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar. As a result, changes in exchange rates of any such foreign currency to the 
U.S. dollar may affect our revenues, operating margins and distributions and may also affect the book value of our assets and 
the amount of stockholders’ equity. 
 

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates used to value a REIT’s foreign assets may be considered changes in the value 
of the REIT’s assets. These changes may adversely affect our status as a REIT. Further, bank accounts in foreign currency 
which are not considered cash or cash equivalents may adversely affect our status as a REIT. 
 

The United Kingdom’s determination to exit the European Union could adversely affect market rental rates and 
commercial real estate values in the United Kingdom and Europe. 
 

On June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom held a non-binding referendum in which a majority of voters voted in favor of the 
United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union. On March 29, 2017, the United Kingdom gave formal notice of its exit from 
the European Union and commenced the two-year period of negotiations to determine the terms of the United Kingdom’s 
relationship with the European Union after the exit, including, among other things, the terms of trade between the United 
Kingdom and the European Union. The effects of the exit will depend on any agreements the United Kingdom makes to retain 
access to European Union markets either during a transitional period or more permanently. The announcement of the Brexit 
vote caused significant volatility in global stock markets and currency exchange rate fluctuations that resulted in the 
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies in which we conduct business. The long-term nature of the United 
Kingdom’s relationship with the European Union is unclear and there is considerable uncertainty when any relationship will be 
agreed and implemented.  Without further agreement, the United Kingdom will formally leave the European Union on May 22, 
2019.  In addition, the uncertainty caused by the departure of the United Kingdom from the European Union may: 

 
•  adversely affect European and worldwide economic and market conditions; 
•  adversely affect commercial property market rental rates in the United Kingdom and continental Europe; 
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•  adversely affect commercial property market values in the United Kingdom and continental Europe; 
•  adversely affect the availability of financing for commercial properties in the United Kingdom and continental Europe, 

which could reduce the price for which we are able to sell properties we have acquired in such geographic locations; and 
•  create further instability in global financial and foreign exchange markets, including volatility in the value of the sterling 

and euro. 
 

Each of these effects may occur before the United Kingdom departs from the European Union because the capital and credit 
markets are subject to volatility and disruption caused by the uncertainty introduced by the Brexit vote. As of March 1, 2019, 16% of 
our real estate investment portfolio was located in London, England. A decline in economic conditions could negatively impact 
commercial real estate fundamentals and result in lower occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values in our portfolio, which 
could, among other things, adversely affect our business and financial condition. 

 
Inflation in foreign countries, along with government measures to curb inflation, may have an adverse effect on our 
investments. 

 
Certain countries have in the past experienced extremely high rates of inflation. Inflation, along with governmental 

measures to curb inflation, coupled with public speculation about possible future governmental measures to be adopted, has had 
significant negative effects on these international economies in the past and this could occur again in the future. The 
introduction of governmental policies to curb inflation can have an adverse effect on our business. High inflation in the 
countries in which we purchase real estate or make other investments could increase our expenses and we may not be able to 
pass these increased costs on to our tenants. 
 

Lack of compliance with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) could subject us to penalties and 
other adverse consequences. 

 
We are subject to the FCPA, which generally prohibits United States companies from engaging in bribery or other 

prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Foreign companies, including 
potential competitors, are not subject to these prohibitions. Fraudulent practices, including corruption, extortion, bribery, pay-
offs, theft and others, occur from time-to-time in countries in which we may do business. If people acting on our behalf or at 
our request are found to have engaged in such practices, severe penalties and other consequences could be imposed on us that 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to 
make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their investment. 
 
Risks Related to Organizational Structure 
 

Any interest in Hines Global will be diluted by the Special OP Units and any other OP Units in the Operating Partnership, 
and any interest in Hines Global may be diluted if we issue additional shares. 

 
Hines Global owned a 99.99% general partner interest in the Operating Partnership as of December 31, 2018. Affiliates of 

Hines owned the remaining 0.01% interest in the Operating Partnership. Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership 
owns the special units of the Operating Partnership (the “Special OP Units”), which were issued as consideration for an 
obligation by Hines and its affiliates to perform services in connection with our real estate operations. Payments with respect to 
these interests will reduce the amount of distributions that would otherwise be payable to our stockholders in the future. 
 

Stockholders do not have preemptive rights to acquire any shares issued by us in the future. Therefore, investors may 
experience dilution of their equity investment if we: 
 

•  sell additional shares in the future, including those issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan; 
•  sell securities that are convertible into shares, such as units of the Operating Partnership (“OP Units”); 
•  at the option of the Advisor, issue OP Units to pay for certain fees;  
•  issue OP Units or common shares to the Advisor or affiliates in exchange for advances or deferrals of fees; 
•  issue shares in a private offering; or  
•  issue shares to sellers of properties acquired by us in connection with an exchange of partnership units from the 

Operating Partnership. 
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The repurchase of interests in the Operating Partnership held by Hines and its affiliates (including the Special OP Units 
and other OP Units) as required in our Advisory Agreement may discourage a takeover attempt. 

 
Under certain circumstances, including a merger, consolidation or sale of substantially all of our assets or any similar 

transaction, a transaction pursuant to which a majority of our board of directors then in office are replaced or removed, or the 
termination or non-renewal of our Advisory Agreement under various circumstances, the Operating Partnership is, at the 
election of Hines or its affiliates, required to purchase the Special OP Units and any OP Units that Hines or its affiliates own for 
cash (or, in certain cases, a promissory note) or our shares, at the election of the holder. These rights may deter these types of 
transactions which may limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their common shares that might 
otherwise exist if an investor attempted to acquire us. 
 

Hines’ ability to cause the Operating Partnership to purchase the Special OP Units and any other OP Units that it or its 
affiliates hold in connection with the termination of our Advisory Agreement may deter us from terminating our Advisory 
Agreement. 

 
Under certain circumstances, if we are not advised by an entity affiliated with Hines, Hines or its affiliates may cause the 

Operating Partnership to purchase some or all of the Special OP Units or any other OP Units then held by such entities. Under 
these circumstances if the amount necessary to purchase Hines’ and its affiliates’ interests in the Operating Partnership is 
substantial, these rights could discourage or deter us from terminating our Advisory Agreement under circumstances in which 
we would otherwise do so. 
 

Our board of directors determines our major policies and operations which increases the uncertainties faced by our 
stockholders. 

 
Our board of directors determines our major policies, including our policies regarding acquisitions, dispositions, financing, 

growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification, redemptions and distributions. Our board of directors may amend or revise 
these and other policies without a vote of the stockholders. Under the Maryland General Corporation Law and our articles, our 
stockholders have a right to vote only on limited matters. Our board of directors’ broad discretion in setting policies and the 
inability of our stockholders to exert control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks they face, especially if our 
board of directors and our stockholders disagree as to what course of action is in the best interests of our stockholders. 

 
The ownership limit in our articles may discourage a takeover attempt. 

 
Our articles provide that no holder of shares, other than any person to whom our board of directors grants an exemption, 

may directly or indirectly own more than 9.9% of the number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the aggregate of our 
outstanding shares or more than 9.9% of the number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any 
class or series of our outstanding securities. This ownership limit may deter tender offers for our common shares, which offers 
may be attractive to our stockholders, and thus may limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their 
common shares that might otherwise exist if an investor attempted to assemble a block of common shares in excess of 9.9% of 
the number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of the aggregate of our outstanding shares, or 9.9% in number or value, 
whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding common shares or otherwise to effect a change of control in us. 
 

We will not be afforded the protection of the Maryland General Corporation Law relating to business combinations. 
 

Provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law prohibit business combinations, unless prior approval of the board of 
directors is obtained before the person seeking the combination became an interested stockholder, with: 
 

•  any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting shares (an “interested 
stockholder”); 

•  any of our affiliates or associates who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the 
beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our then outstanding shares (also an “interested 
stockholder”); or 

•  an affiliate of an interested stockholder. 
 
These prohibitions are intended to prevent a change of control by interested stockholders who do not have the support of 

our board of directors. Because our articles contain limitations on ownership of more than 9.9% of our common shares, our 
board of directors has adopted a resolution presently opting out of the business combinations statute. Therefore, we will not be 
afforded the protections of this statute and, accordingly, there is no guarantee that the ownership limitations in our articles will 
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provide the same measure of protection as the business combinations statute and prevent an undesired change of control by an 
interested stockholder. 

 
Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of 
actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders' ability to obtain a 
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees. 

 
Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for 

Baltimore City, Maryland, or if that Court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of 
Maryland, Baltimore Division, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be 
initiated by our stockholders with respect to our company, our directors, our officers or our employees (we note we currently 
have no employees). This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that 
the stockholder believes is favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage 
meritorious claims from being asserted against us and our directors, officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to 
find this provision of our bylaws inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or 
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We adopted this provision because we believe it makes it less 
likely that we will be forced to incur the expense of defending duplicative actions in multiple forums and less likely that 
plaintiffs' attorneys will be able to employ such litigation to coerce us into otherwise unjustified settlements, and we believe the 
risk of a court declining to enforce this provision is remote, as the General Assembly of Maryland has specifically amended the 
Maryland General Corporation Law to authorize the adoption of such provisions. 

We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the 
“Investment Company Act”), and therefore we will not be subject to the requirements imposed on an investment company 
by the Investment Company Act which may limit or otherwise affect our investment choices. 

 
Hines Global, our Operating Partnership, and our subsidiaries will conduct our businesses so that none of such entities are 

required to register as “investment companies” under the Investment Company Act. Although we could modify our business 
methods at any time, at the present time we expect that the focus of our activities will involve investments in real estate, 
buildings, and other assets that can be referred to as “sticks and bricks” and in other real estate investments and will otherwise 
be considered to be in the real estate business. 

Companies subject to the Investment Company Act are required to comply with a variety of substantive requirements such 
as requirements relating to: 

•  limitations on the capital structure of the entity;  
•  restrictions on certain investments;  
•  prohibitions on transactions with affiliated entities; and  
•  public reporting disclosures, record keeping, voting procedures, proxy disclosure and similar corporate governance rules 

and regulations.  

These and other requirements are intended to provide benefits and/or protections to security holders of investment 
companies. Because we and our subsidiaries do not expect to be subject to these requirements, our stockholders will not be 
entitled to these benefits or protections. It is our policy to operate in a manner that will not require us to register as an 
investment company, and we do not expect or intend to register as an “investment company” under the Investment Company 
Act. 

Whether a company is an investment company can involve analysis of complex laws, regulations and SEC staff 
interpretations. Hines Global and the Operating Partnership intend to continue to conduct operations so as not to become 
subject to regulation as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. So long as Hines Global conducts its 
businesses directly and through its Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries that are not 
investment companies and none of Hines Global, the Operating Partnership and the wholly-owned or majority-owned 
subsidiaries hold themselves out as being engaged primarily in the business of investing in securities, Hines Global will not 
have to register. The securities issued by any subsidiary that is excepted from the definition of investment company under 
Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, together with any other “investment securities” (as used in 
the Investment Company Act) its parent may own, may not meet the standards of the 40% test. In other words, even if some 
interests in other entities were deemed to be investment securities, so long as such investment securities do not comprise more 
than 40% of an entity’s assets, the entity will not be required to register as an investment company. If an entity held investment 
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securities and the value of these securities exceeded 40% of the value of its total assets, and no other exemption from 
registration was available, then that entity might be required to register as an investment company. 

We do not expect that we, the Operating Partnership, or other subsidiaries will be an investment company because we will 
seek to assure that holdings of investment securities in any such entity will not exceed 40% of the total assets of that entity as 
calculated under the Investment Company Act. In order to operate in compliance with that standard, each entity may be 
required to conduct its business in a manner that takes account of these provisions. We, our Operating Partnership, or a 
subsidiary could be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell or we may need to sell assets we would otherwise 
wish to retain, if we deem it necessary to remain in compliance with the 40% test. In addition, we may also have to forgo 
opportunities to acquire certain investments or interests in companies or entities that we would otherwise want to acquire, or 
acquire assets we might otherwise not select for purchase, if we deem it necessary to remain in compliance with the 40% test. 
For example, these restrictions will limit the ability of our subsidiaries to invest directly in mortgage-backed securities that 
represent less than the entire ownership in a pool of mortgage loans, debt and equity tranches of securitizations and certain asset 
backed securities and real estate companies or in assets not related to real estate. 

 
If Hines Global, the Operating Partnership or any subsidiary owns assets that qualify as “investment securities” as such 

term is defined under the Investment Company Act and the value of such assets exceeds 40% of the value of its total assets, the 
entity could be deemed to be an investment company. In that case the entity would have to qualify for an exemption from 
registration as an investment company in order to operate without registering as an investment company. Certain of the 
subsidiaries that we may form in the future could seek to rely upon the exemption from registration as an investment company 
under the Investment Company Act pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of that Act, which is available for, among other things, 
entities “primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in 
real estate.” This exemption generally requires that at least 55% of an entity’s portfolio must be comprised of qualifying assets 
and at least another 25% of such entity’s portfolio must be comprised of real estate-related assets (as such terms are used under 
the Investment Company Act) and no more than 20% of such entity’s portfolio may be comprised of miscellaneous assets. 
Qualifying assets for this purpose include certain mortgage loans and other assets, such as whole pool agency residential 
mortgage backed securities (“RMBS”) that the SEC staff, in various no-action letters, has determined are the functional 
equivalent of mortgage loans for the purposes of the Investment Company Act. We intend to treat as real estate-related assets 
non-agency RMBS, commercial mortgage backed securities, debt and equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real 
estate businesses, agency partial pool certificates and securities issued by pass-through entities of which substantially all of the 
assets consist of qualifying assets and/or real estate-related assets. 

 
We may in the future organize one or more subsidiaries that seek to rely on the Investment Company Act exemption 

provided to certain structured financing vehicles by Rule 3a-7. To the extent that we organize subsidiaries that rely on Rule 3a-7 
under the Investment Company Act for an exemption from the Investment Company Act, these subsidiaries will need to comply 
with the restrictions contained in this Rule. In general, Rule 3a-7 exempts from the Investment Company Act issuers that limit 
their activities as follows: 
 

•  the issuer issues securities the payment of which depends primarily on the cash flow from “eligible assets”;  
•  the securities sold are fixed income securities rated investment grade by at least one rating agency (fixed income 

securities which are unrated or rated below investment grade may be sold to institutional accredited investors and any 
securities may be sold to “qualified institutional buyers” and to persons involved in the organization or operation of the 
issuer);  

•  the issuer acquires and disposes of eligible assets (1) only in accordance with the agreements pursuant to which the 
securities are issued, (2) so that the acquisition or disposition does not result in a downgrading of the issuer’s fixed 
income securities and (3) the eligible assets are not acquired or disposed of for the primary purpose of recognizing gains 
or decreasing losses resulting from market value changes; and  

•  unless the issuer is issuing only commercial paper, the issuer appoints an independent trustee, takes reasonable steps to 
transfer to the trustee an ownership or perfected security interest in the eligible assets, and meets rating agency 
requirements for commingling of cash flows.  

In addition, in certain circumstances, compliance with Rule 3a-7 may also require, among other things, that the indenture 
governing the subsidiary include additional limitations on the types of assets the subsidiary may sell or acquire out of the 
proceeds of assets that mature, are refinanced or otherwise sold, on the period of time during which such transactions may 
occur, and on the level of transactions that may occur. In light of the requirements of Rule 3a-7, our ability to manage assets 
held in a special purpose subsidiary that complies with Rule 3a-7 will be limited and we may not be able to purchase or sell 
assets owned by that subsidiary when we would otherwise desire to do so, which could lead to losses. 
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In addition to the exceptions and exemptions discussed above, we, the Operating Partnership and/or our subsidiaries may 
rely upon other exceptions and exemptions, including the exemptions provided by Section 3(c)(6) of the Investment Company 
Act (which exempts, among other things, parent entities whose primary business is conducted through majority-owned 
subsidiaries relying upon the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) discussed above) from the definition of an investment 
company and the registration requirements under the Investment Company Act. 

There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations governing the Investment Company Act status of REITs, including 
actions by the Division of Investment Management of the SEC providing more specific or different guidance regarding these 
exemptions, will not change in a manner that adversely affects our operations. To the extent that the SEC staff provides more 
specific guidance regarding any of the matters bearing upon the exceptions discussed above or other exemptions from the 
definition of an investment company under the Investment Company Act upon which we may rely, we may be required to 
adjust our strategy accordingly. 
 

If Hines Global or the Operating Partnership is required to register as an investment company under the Investment 
Company Act, the additional expenses and operational limitations associated with such registration may reduce our 
stockholders’ investment return or impair our ability to conduct our business as planned. 

 
If we were required to register as an investment company, but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our 

business, criminal and civil actions could be brought against us, some of our contracts might be unenforceable, unless a court 
were to direct enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of us and liquidate our business. 
 
Risks Related to Potential Conflicts of Interest 
 

We may compete with other investment vehicles affiliated with Hines for tenants. 
 

Hines and its affiliates are not prohibited from engaging, directly or indirectly, in any other business or from possessing 
interests in any other business venture or ventures, including businesses and ventures involved in the acquisition, development, 
ownership, management, leasing or sale of real estate projects. Hines or its affiliates own and/or manage properties in most, if 
not all, geographical areas in which we expect to acquire interests in real estate assets. Therefore, our properties compete for 
tenants with other properties owned and/or managed by Hines and its affiliates. Hines may face conflicts of interest when 
evaluating tenant opportunities for our properties and other properties owned and/or managed by Hines and its affiliates and 
these conflicts of interest may have a negative impact on our ability to attract and retain tenants. 
 

Employees of the Advisor and Hines will face conflicts of interest relating to time management and allocation of 
resources. 

 
We do not have employees. Pursuant to a contract with Hines, we rely on employees of Hines and its affiliates to manage 

and operate our business and they are contractually bound to devote the time and attention reasonably necessary to conduct our 
business in an appropriate manner. Our officers and the officers and employees of the Advisor, Hines and its affiliates hold 
similar positions in numerous entities and they may from time to time allocate more of their time to service the needs of such 
entities than they allocate to servicing our needs. Hines is not restricted from acquiring, developing, operating, managing, 
leasing or selling real estate through entities other than us and Hines will continue to be actively involved in real estate 
operations and activities other than our operations and activities. Hines currently controls and/or operates other entities that 
own properties in many of the markets in which we will seek to invest. Hines spends a material amount of time managing these 
properties and other assets unrelated to our business. We lack the ability to manage it without the time and attention of Hines’ 
employees. 
 

Hines and its affiliates are general partners and sponsors of other investment vehicles having investment objectives and 
legal and financial obligations similar to ours. Because Hines and its affiliates have interests in other investment vehicles and 
also engage in other business activities, they may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time and resources among our 
business and these other activities. Our officers and directors, as well as those of the Advisor, own equity interests in entities 
affiliated with Hines from which we may buy properties. These individuals may make substantial profits in connection with 
such transactions, which could result in conflicts of interest.  As a result of these interests, they could pursue transactions that 
may not be in our best interest. 

 
Hines may face conflicts of interest if we sell properties to Hines. 

 
We may in the future sell properties to Hines and affiliates of Hines.  Hines, its affiliates and its employees (including our 

officers and directors) may make substantial profits in connection with such transactions.  We must follow certain procedures 
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when selling assets to Hines and its affiliates.  Hines may owe fiduciary and/or other duties to the purchaser in these 
transactions and conflicts of interest between us and the purchaser could exist in such transactions.  Because we are relying on 
Hines, these conflicts could result in transactions based on terms that are less favorable to us than we would receive from a 
third party. 
 

Hines and its affiliates may face conflicts of interest caused by compensation arrangements with us, which could result in 
actions that are not in our stockholders’ best interest. 
 

Hines, the Advisor and their affiliates receive substantial fees from us in return for their services and these fees could influence 
the Advisor’s advice to us. Among other matters, the compensation arrangements could affect their judgment with respect to: 

 
•  Property dispositions in circumstances where Hines or an affiliate of Hines manages the property and earns significant 

fees for managing the property; and 
•  Various liquidity events and whether to pursue a liquidity event at all. 

 
Asset management fees paid to the Advisor and property management and leasing fees paid to Hines and its affiliates 

would be paid irrespective of the quality of the underlying real estate or property management services during the term of the 
related agreement. The Advisor is also entitled to a fee equal to a percentage of the total consideration paid in connection with a 
disposition. This fee may incentivize the Advisor to recommend the disposition of a property or properties through a sale, 
merger, or other transaction that may not be in our best interests at the time. In addition, the premature disposition of an asset 
may add concentration risk to the portfolio or may be at a price lower than if we held the property. Moreover, the Advisor has 
considerable discretion with respect to the terms and timing of disposition and leasing transactions. In evaluating investments 
and other management strategies, the opportunity to earn these fees may lead the Advisor to place undue emphasis on criteria 
relating to its and its affiliates’ compensation at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to achieve 
higher short-term compensation. Considerations relating to compensation from us to the Advisor and its affiliates could result in 
decisions that are not in the best interests of our stockholders, which could hurt our ability to pay our stockholders distributions 
or result in a decline in the value of our stockholders’ investment. 
 

Hines may face conflicts of interest in connection with the management of our day-to-day operations and in the 
enforcement of agreements between Hines and its affiliates. 

 
Hines and the Advisor manage our day-to-day operations and properties pursuant to an advisory agreement. This 

agreement was not negotiated at arm’s-length and certain fees payable by us under such agreement are paid regardless of our 
performance. 
 

Hines and its affiliates may encounter conflicts of interest with respect to position as to matters relating to this agreement. 
Areas of potential conflict include the computation of fees and reimbursements under such agreements, the enforcement, 
renewal and/or termination of the agreements and the priority of payments to third parties as opposed to amounts paid to 
affiliates of Hines. These fees may be higher than fees charged by third parties in an arm’s-length transaction as a result of these 
conflicts. 

 
Certain of our officers and directors face conflicts of interest relating to the positions they hold with other entities. 

 
All of our officers and non-independent directors are also officers and directors of the Advisor and/or other entities 

controlled by Hines, such as the advisor to Hines REIT, the advisor to Hines Global Income Trust and the advisor to HMS 
Income Fund, Inc. Some of these entities may compete with us for investment and leasing opportunities. These personnel owe 
fiduciary duties to these other entities and their security holders and these duties may from time to time conflict with the 
fiduciary duties such individuals owe to us and our stockholders. For example, conflicts of interest adversely affecting our 
investment decisions could arise in decisions or activities related to: 
 

•  the allocation of new investments among us and other entities operated by Hines; 
•  the allocation of time and resources among us and other entities operated by Hines; 
•  the timing and terms of the investment in or sale of an asset; 
•  investments with Hines and affiliates of Hines; 
•  the compensation paid to the Advisor; and 
•  our relationship with Hines in the management of our properties. 
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These conflicts of interest may also be impacted by the fact that such individuals may have compensation structures tied to 
the performance of such other entities controlled by Hines and these compensation structures may potentially provide for 
greater remuneration in the event an investment opportunity is presented to a Hines affiliate rather than us. 

 
Our officers and directors have limited liability. 

 
Generally, we are obligated under our articles to indemnify our officers and directors against certain liabilities incurred in 

connection with their services. We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our officers and directors. 
Pursuant to these indemnification agreements, we have generally agreed to indemnify our officers and directors for any such 
liabilities that they incur. These indemnification agreements, as well as the indemnification provisions in our articles, could 
limit our ability and the ability of our stockholders to effectively take action against our officers and directors arising from their 
service to us. In addition, there could be a potential reduction in distributions resulting from our payment of premiums 
associated with insurance or payments of a defense, settlement or claim. 
 

Our Umbrella Partnership Real Estate Investment Trust (“UPREIT”) structure may result in potential conflicts of 
interest. 

 
Persons holding OP Units have the right to vote on certain amendments to the Agreement of Limited Partnership of the 

Operating Partnership, as well as on certain other matters. Persons holding such voting rights may exercise them in a manner 
that conflicts with the interests of our stockholders. As general partner of the Operating Partnership, we will be obligated to act 
in a manner that is in the best interest of all partners of the Operating Partnership. Circumstances may arise in the future when 
the interests of limited partners in the Operating Partnership may conflict with the interests of our stockholders. 
 
Risks Related to Taxes 
 

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, our operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders would be adversely 
impacted. 

 
We believe that we qualify as a REIT under the Code. A REIT generally is not taxed at the corporate level on income that it 

currently distributes to its stockholders. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex rules 
for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and 
circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT. In addition, new 
legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions could significantly change the tax laws with respect to 
qualification as a REIT or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of such qualification. 
 

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year: 
 

•  we would not be allowed to deduct our distributions to our stockholders when computing our taxable income; 
•  we would be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates; 
•  we would be disqualified from being taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which 

qualification was lost, unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions; 
•  our cash available for distribution would be reduced and we would have less cash to distribute to our stockholders; and 
•  we might be required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assets in order to pay corporate tax obligations that 

we may incur as a result of our disqualification. 
 
We may be required to defer repatriation of cash from foreign jurisdictions in order to qualify as a REIT. 

 
Investments in foreign real property may give rise to foreign currency gains and losses. Certain foreign currency gains may 

be excluded from income for purposes of determining our compliance with one or both of the REIT gross income tests; 
however, under certain circumstances (for example, if we regularly trade in foreign securities) such gains will be treated as non-
qualifying income. To reduce the risk of foreign currency gains adversely affecting our REIT qualification, we may be required 
to defer the repatriation of cash from foreign jurisdictions or to employ other structures that could affect the timing, character or 
amount of income we receive from our foreign investments. No assurance can be given that we will be able to manage our 
foreign currency gains in a manner that enables us to qualify as a REIT or to avoid U.S. federal income or other taxes on our 
income as a result of foreign currency gains. 
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If the Operating Partnership is classified as a “publicly traded partnership” under the Code, our operations and our 
ability to pay distributions to our stockholders could be adversely affected. 

 
We believe that the Operating Partnership will be treated as a partnership, and not as an association or a publicly traded 

partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In this regard, the Code generally classifies “publicly traded partnerships” (as 
defined in Section 7704 of the Code) as associations taxable as corporations (rather than as partnerships), unless substantially 
all of their taxable income consists of specified types of passive income. In order to minimize the risk that the Code would 
classify the Operating Partnership as a “publicly traded partnership” for tax purposes, we placed certain restrictions on the 
transfer and/or repurchase of partnership units in the Operating Partnership. However, if the IRS successfully determined that 
the Operating Partnership should be taxed as a corporation, the Operating Partnership would be required to pay U.S. federal 
income tax at corporate rates on its net income, its partners would be treated as stockholders of the Operating Partnership and 
distributions to partners would constitute non-deductible distributions in computing the Operating Partnership’s taxable income. 
In addition, we could fail to qualify as a REIT, and the imposition of a corporate tax on the Operating Partnership would reduce 
the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 
 

Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income. 
 

Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common shares, or gain from the sale of common shares, 
should generally constitute unrelated business taxable income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to 
this rule. In particular: 
 

•  part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our common shares 
may be treated as unrelated business taxable income if our stock is predominately held by qualified employee pension 
trusts, we are required to rely on a special look through rule for purposes of meeting the REIT stock ownership tests, and 
we are not operated in such a manner as to otherwise avoid treatment of such income or gain as unrelated business 
taxable income; 

•  part of the income and gain recognized by a tax exempt investor with respect to our common shares would constitute 
unrelated business taxable income if such investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common shares; and 

•  part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common shares by social clubs, voluntary employee 
benefit associations and supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans which are 
exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9) or (17), of the Code may be treated as unrelated 
business taxable income. 

 
Foreign investors may be subject to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act (“FIRPTA”) on sale of common 
shares if we are unable to qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT. 

 
A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including shares of a U.S. corporation whose assets consist 

principally of U.S. real property interests, is generally subject to tax under FIRPTA on the gain recognized on such disposition. 
FIRPTA does not apply, however, to the disposition of stock in a REIT if the REIT is “domestically controlled.” In addition, 
except with respect to “qualified foreign pension plans”, FIRPTA will apply if we make a distribution that is attributable to gain 
recognized by us on a disposition of a U.S. real property interest, even if we are domestically controlled. A REIT is 
“domestically controlled” if less than 50% of the REIT’s capital stock, by value, has been owned, directly and indirectly, by 
persons who are not U.S. persons during a continuous five-year period ending on the date of disposition or, if shorter, during 
the entire period of the REIT’s existence. 
 

We cannot assure our stockholders that we will qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT. If we were to fail to so 
qualify, gains realized by foreign investors other than “qualified foreign pension plans” and foreign governments on a sale of 
our common shares would be subject to tax under FIRPTA (unless our common shares were traded on an established securities 
market and the foreign investor did not at any time during a specified testing period directly or indirectly own more than 10% 
of the value of our outstanding common shares).  Our common shares are not currently traded on an established securities 
market. 
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In certain circumstances, we may be subject to federal, state, local or foreign income or other taxes, which would reduce our 
cash available to pay distributions to our stockholders. 

 
Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state, local or foreign income or 

other taxes. For example, if we have net income from a “prohibited transaction,” such income will be subject to a 100% tax. We may 
not be able to make sufficient distributions to avoid paying federal income tax and/or the 4% excise tax that applies to certain 
income retained by a REIT. We may also decide to retain gain that we recognize from the sale or other disposition of our properties 
and pay income tax directly on such gain. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they recognized that gain and paid 
the tax on it directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no benefit 
from their deemed payment of such tax liability. We may also be subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, either 
directly or at the level of the Operating Partnership or of other entities through which we indirectly own our assets. Any taxes that 
we pay will reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 
 

We have entered, and may continue to enter into, certain hedging transactions which may have a potential impact on our 
REIT status. 

 
We have entered into hedging transactions with respect to certain of our activities and may continue to enter into similar 

transactions in the future. Our hedging activities may include entering into interest rate and/or foreign currency swaps, caps and 
floors, options to purchase these items, and futures and forward contracts. 
 

The gross income tests applicable to REITs generally exclude any income or gain from a hedging or similar transaction entered 
into by the REIT primarily to manage the risk of  interest rate, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings 
made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets or to manage the risk of currency fluctuations with respect to an item 
of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95% gross income test (or any property which generates such 
income or gain), provided that we properly identify such hedges and other transactions in the manner required by the Code and 
regulations. To the extent that we do not properly identify such transactions as hedges or we hedge with other types of financial 
instruments, or hedge asset values or other types of indebtedness, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-
qualifying income for purposes of the gross income tests and may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. In addition, to the extent 
that our position in a hedging transaction has positive value, the instrument may be treated as a non-qualifying asset for purposes of 
the gross asset tests to which REITs are subject. 
 

Entities through which we hold foreign real estate investments may be subject to foreign taxes, notwithstanding our status 
as a REIT. 

 
Even if we maintain our status as a REIT, entities through which we hold investments in assets located outside the United 

States may be subject to income taxation by jurisdictions in which such assets are located. Our cash available for distribution to 
our stockholders will be reduced by any such foreign income taxes. 
 

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends. 
 

The maximum tax rate applicable to income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, 
trusts or estates is currently 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the reduced rates. The 
more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts or 
estates to perceive investments in our common shares to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stock of non-REIT 
corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of our common shares. 

 
Recharacterization of sale-leaseback transactions may cause us to lose our REIT status. 

 
We may hold real property which is leased back to the person from whom we acquired it. We will use commercially 

reasonable efforts to structure any such sale-leaseback transaction such that the lease will be characterized as a “true lease,” 
thereby allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but cannot assure our 
stockholders that the IRS will not challenge such characterization. In the event that any such sale-leaseback transaction is 
challenged and recharacterized as a financing transaction or loan for U.S. federal income tax purposes, deductions for 
depreciation relating to such property would be disallowed. We might fail to satisfy the REIT qualification “asset tests” or the 
“income tests” and, consequently, lose our REIT status effective with the year of recharacterization if a sale-leaseback 
transaction were so recharacterized. Alternatively, the amount of our REIT taxable income could be recalculated which might 
also cause us to fail to meet the distribution requirement for a taxable year. 
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Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities. 
 
To qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other 

things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our stockholders and 
the ownership of shares of our common stock.  We may be required to forego otherwise attractive investments or make 
distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution.  Thus, 
compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits. 
 

Complying with the REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments. 
 

We must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash items, 
government securities and qualified real estate assets in order to ensure our qualification as a REIT. The remainder of our 
investments (other than governmental securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the 
outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one 
issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified real 
estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 20% (the limit was 25% prior to January 1, 2018) 
of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. If we fail to comply 
with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end of the 
calendar quarter in order to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be 
required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments. 

 
Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect us and/or our investors. 

 
In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made to the U.S. federal income tax 

laws applicable to the qualification and taxation of REITs and to investments in REITs and similar entities. Additional changes 
to tax laws may continue to occur in the future and may be given retroactive or prospective effect, and we cannot assure our 
stockholders that any such changes will not adversely affect how we are taxed or the taxation of our stockholders. Any such 
changes could have an adverse effect on us and on an investment in shares of our common stock. We urge our stockholders to 
consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and 
proposals and their potential effect on an investment in shares of our common stock. 

 
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which made significant changes to the U.S. federal income tax rules for taxation of 
individuals and corporations, including REITs and their stockholders, was signed into law on December 22, 2017 and the 
precise application of all facets of the legislation is unclear. In addition, as a result of these changes, we may be limited in 
our ability to deduct interest expense, or be required to spread depreciation deductions over longer periods of time and we 
may be limited in our ability to utilize losses incurred in earlier years to offset income generated in subsequent years. 

 
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act made significant changes to the U.S. federal income tax rules for taxation of individuals and 

corporations, including REITs and their stockholders.  In the case of individuals, the tax brackets were adjusted, the top federal 
income rate was reduced to 37%, special rules reduce taxation of certain income earned through pass-through entities and 
reduce the top effective rate applicable to ordinary dividends from REITs to 29.6% (through a 20% deduction for ordinary 
REIT dividends received that are not “capital gain dividends” or “qualified dividend income” ) and various deductions were 
eliminated or limited, including limiting the deduction for state and local taxes to $10,000 per year. Most of the changes 
applicable to individuals are temporary and apply only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 
1, 2026.  The top corporate income tax rate was reduced to 21%.  There are only minor changes to the tax rules applicable to 
REITs (other than the 20% deduction applicable to individuals for ordinary REIT dividends received).  The Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act makes numerous other large and small changes to the tax rules that do not affect REITs directly but may affect our 
stockholders and may indirectly affect us.  For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act amended the rules for accrual of income so 
that income is taken into account no later than when it is taken into account on applicable financial statements, even if financial 
statements take such income into account before it would accrue under the original issue discount rules, market discount rules 
or other rules in the Code.  Such rule may cause us to recognize income before receiving any corresponding receipt of cash, 
which may make it more likely that we could be required to borrow funds or take other action to satisfy the REIT distribution 
requirements for the taxable year in which such income is recognized, although the precise application of this rule is unclear at 
this time. 

 
In addition, per the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the amount of business interest expense that we may deduct may be limited to 

the sum of 30% of our adjusted taxable income for the tax year and our business interest income for the tax year. Business 
interest expense generally is interest paid or accrued with respect to indebtedness allocable to a trade or business. It does not 
include investment interest. Adjusted taxable income generally means taxable income from trade or business activities before 
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any deductions for interest, net operating losses, or the new deduction for pass-through business income provided for in the Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act. In taxable years beginning before January 1, 2022, adjusted taxable income is also computed before 
deducting depreciation and amortization expense. Interest expense that is disallowed may be carried forward indefinitely. 
Businesses with average annual gross receipts of $25 million or less (determined by taking into account businesses operated by 
certain affiliated entities) are exempt from this limitation. A real property trade or business may elect to not be subject to this 
limit. A real property trade or business is any real property development, redevelopment, construction, reconstruction, 
acquisition, conversion, rental, operation, management, leasing, or brokerage trade or business. An electing real property trade 
or business must use longer alternative depreciation system periods prospectively for all real estate, including real estate 
acquired prior to the election. We have not yet determined whether the new limitation will affect us or any of our subsidiaries, 
or whether we and our subsidiaries are eligible to make and will make this election. Once made, this election is irrevocable. 
Further, under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, a company’s ability to deduct 
net operating losses is generally limited to 80% of taxable income (prior to the application of the dividends paid deduction), 
which may limit our ability or the ability of our subsidiaries to derive tax benefits in a later year from losses incurred and 
carried forward from a prior year. Additionally, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act reduced individual taxpayers’ ability to deduct state 
and local taxes, including property taxes further limited their ability to deduct mortgage interest expense, such that interest is 
only deductible with respect to up to a total of $750,000 of mortgages and the legislation does not permit deduction of interest 
on home equity loans (after grandfathering all existing mortgages).  These changes may potentially (and negatively) affect the 
markets in which we may invest. 
 

Stockholders are urged to consult with their tax advisors with respect to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and any other regulatory 
or administrative developments and proposals, including their potential impact on stockholders’ investment in our common 
shares. 
 
Risks Related to ERISA 
 

If our assets are deemed to be plan assets under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, 
(“ERISA”), the Advisor and the fiduciaries of investing ERISA plans may be exposed to liabilities under Title I of ERISA 
and the Internal Revenue Code. 

 
In some circumstances where an ERISA plan holds an interest in an entity, an undivided interest in the assets of the entity 

attributable to that interest are deemed to be ERISA plan assets unless an exception applies. This is known as the “look-through 
rule.” Under those circumstances, the obligations and other responsibilities of plan sponsors, plan fiduciaries and plan 
administrators, and of parties in interest and disqualified persons, under Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, as 
applicable, may be applicable, and there may be liability under these and other provisions of ERISA and the Code. We believe 
that our assets should not be treated as plan assets because the shares should qualify as “publicly-offered securities” that are 
exempt from the look-through rule under applicable regulations of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. We note, however, that 
because certain limitations are imposed upon the transferability of shares so that we may qualify as a REIT, and perhaps for 
other reasons, it is possible that this exemption may not apply.  If that is the case, and if the Advisor or we are exposed to 
liability under ERISA or the Code, our performance and results of operations could be adversely affected.  In addition, if that 
were the case, an investment in our common shares might constitute an ineffective delegation of fiduciary responsibility to the 
Advisor, and expose the fiduciary of the benefit plan to co-fiduciary liability under ERISA for any breach by the Advisor of the 
fiduciary duties mandated under ERISA. Prior to making an investment in us, potential investors should consult with their legal 
and other advisors concerning the impact of ERISA and the Code on such investors’ investment and our performance. 

 
There are special considerations that apply to pension or profit sharing trusts or individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”) 

investing in our common stock. 
 
If stockholders have invested the assets of an IRA, pension, profit sharing, 401(k), Keogh or other qualified retirement 

plan, or plan to further invest through our distribution reinvestment plan, they should satisfy themselves that: 
 

•  their investment is consistent with their fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the Code; 
•  their investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing their plan or IRA, including their 

plan’s investment policy; 
•  their investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of 

ERISA; 
•  their investment will not impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA; 
•  their investment will not produce “unrelated business taxable income” for the plan or IRA; 
•  they will be able to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA requirements; and 
•  their investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. 
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Investment Risks 

 
There is no public market for our common shares; therefore, it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares 
and, if they are able to sell their shares, they will likely sell them at a substantial discount. The most recently determined 
per share net asset value (“NAV”) of our common shares is an amount that is less than the price some stockholders paid 
for their shares in our prior public offerings and may be further adjusted in the future. 

 
There is no public market for our common shares, and we do not expect one to develop. Additionally, our charter contains 

restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our shares, and these restrictions may limit the ability of our stockholders to sell 
their shares. If they are able to sell their shares, they may only be able to sell them at a substantial discount from the price they 
paid. This may be the result, in part, of the fact that the amount of funds available for investment are reduced by funds used to 
pay certain up-front fees and expenses, including organization and offering costs, such as issuer costs, selling commissions, and 
the dealer manager fee and acquisition fees and expenses in connection with our public offerings. Unless our aggregate 
investments increase in value to compensate for these up-front fees and expenses, which may not occur, it is unlikely that our 
stockholders will be able to sell their shares, without incurring a substantial loss. Stockholders may also experience substantial 
losses if we dispose of our assets or in connection with a liquidation event. We cannot assure stockholders that their shares will 
ever appreciate in value to equal the price they paid for their shares. Thus, stockholders should consider our common shares as 
an illiquid and long-term investment, and they must be prepared to hold their shares for an indefinite length of time. On 
February 14, 2019, our board of directors established a per share NAV of our common stock of $6.17, when adjusted for the 
Return of Capital Distributions of $4.00 per share is lower than the $10.28 and $10.40 per share primary offering prices in our 
second public offering. For a discussion of how the per share NAV was determined, see “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s 
Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Market Information.” 

 
Payments to the holder of the Special OP Units or holders of any other OP Units will reduce cash available for 
distribution to our stockholders. 

 
An affiliate of Hines has received OP Units in return for its $190,000 contribution to the Operating Partnership. The 

Advisor or its affiliates may also choose to receive OP Units in lieu of certain fees. The holders of all OP Units will be entitled 
to receive cash from operations pro rata with the distributions being paid to us and such distributions to the holder of the 
OP Units will reduce the cash available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, Hines Global REIT Associates Limited 
Partnership, the holder of the Special OP Units, will be entitled to cash distributions, under certain circumstances, including 
from sales of our real estate investments, refinancings and other sources, which may reduce cash available for distribution to 
our stockholders and may negatively affect the value of our shares of common stock. Furthermore, under certain circumstances 
the Special OP Units and any other OP Units held by Hines or its affiliates are required to be repurchased, in cash at the 
holder’s election and there may not be sufficient cash to make such a repurchase payment; therefore, we may need to use cash 
from operations, borrowings, or other sources to make the payment, which will reduce cash available for distribution to our 
stockholders. 

 
Our board of directors recently suspended our share redemption program, and if stockholders are able to have their 
shares redeemed, it may be at a price that is less than the price they paid for the shares and the then-current market value 
of the shares. 

 
In December 2018, the Board determined to suspend our share redemption program, effective February 2, 2019, except for 

the redemption requests related to the death and disability of the stockholder.  Further, our share redemption program limits the 
number of shares that may be redeemed in any consecutive twelve month period to no more than 5% of the number of shares 
outstanding at the beginning of that period, which we refer to as the “5% limitation.” Our board of directors may terminate, 
suspend or amend the share redemption program upon 30 days’ written notice without stockholder approval. In accordance with 
the share redemption program, shares that are redeemed in connection with the death or disability of a stockholder, will be 
redeemed at the per share NAV most recently announced by the Company in a public filing with the SEC as of the applicable 
date of the redemption. As a result, beginning March 1, 2019, the new redemption price will be equal to the new per share NAV 
of $6.17. 

 
The redemption price our stockholders may receive upon any such redemption may not be indicative of the price our 

stockholders would receive if our shares were actively traded or if we were liquidated, and our stockholders should not assume 
that they will be able to sell all or any portion of their shares back to us pursuant to our share redemption program or to third 
parties at a price that reflects the then current market value of the shares or at all. 
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As a result of the suspension of our share redemption program, our stockholders’ primary source of liquidity will be a 
completion of the Plan of Liquidation, which is subject to the risks described elsewhere herein. 

 
There is no separate counsel for us and our affiliates, which could result in conflicts of interest. 

Morrison and Foerster LLP acts as legal counsel to us and also represents the Advisor and some of its affiliates. There is a 
possibility in the future that the interests of the various parties may become adverse and, under the code of professional 
responsibility of the legal profession, Morrison and Foerster LLP may be precluded from representing any one or all of such 
parties. If any situation arises in which our interests appear to be in conflict with those of the Advisor or its affiliates, additional 
counsel may be retained by one or more of the parties to assure that their interests are adequately protected, which may result in 
us incurring additional fees and expenses. Moreover, should a conflict of interest not be readily apparent, Morrison and Foerster 
LLP may inadvertently act in derogation of the interest of the parties which could affect our ability to meet our investment 
objectives. 

 
The fees we pay and the agreements entered into with Hines and its affiliates were not determined on an arm’s-length 
basis and therefore may not be on the same terms we could achieve from a third party. 

 
The compensation paid to the Advisor, Hines and other affiliates for services they provide us was not determined on an 

arm’s-length basis. All service agreements, contracts or arrangements between or among Hines and its affiliates, including the 
Advisor and us, were not negotiated at arm’s-length. Such agreements include our Advisory Agreement, and property 
management and leasing agreements. A third party unaffiliated with Hines may be willing and able to provide certain services 
to us at a lower price. 
 

We pay substantial compensation to Hines, the Advisor and their affiliates, which may be increased by our independent 
directors. 

 
Subject to limitations in our articles, the fees, compensation, income, expense reimbursements, interests and other 

payments payable to Hines, the Advisor and their affiliates may increase if such increase is approved by a majority of our 
independent directors. 
 

We do not, and do not expect to, have research analysts reviewing our performance. 
 

We do not, and do not expect to, have research analysts reviewing our performance or our securities on an ongoing basis. 
Therefore, our stockholders will not have an independent review of our performance and the value of our common stock 
relative to publicly traded companies. 
 
Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments 
 

Not applicable. 
 

Item 2.  Properties 
 
Our real estate investments are held directly and through entities wholly-owned by the Operating Partnership, or indirectly 

through other entities. We sold 20 properties in 2018 for an aggregate sales price of $1.7 billion.  Additionally, we sold 55 M Street in 
January 2019 for a contract sales price of $135.3 million and 550 Terry Francois in February 2019 for a contract sales price of $342.5 
million.  Following the completion of these sales, our portfolio consisted of 12 real estate investments valued at $2.4 billion.  The 
following tables include additional information regarding our remaining portfolio. 
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The following table provides additional information regarding each of the real estate investments we owned an interest in as of 
March 1, 2019: 

Property (1)  Location 
Investment 

Type  

Date Acquired/ Net 
Purchase Price (in 

millions) (2) 

Estimated 
Going-in 

Capitalization 
Rate (3)  

Leasable 
Square Feet 

Percent 
Leased (4) 

Domestic Office Investments   

Campus at Marlborough ...................  
Marlborough, 
Massachusetts Office  10/2011; $103.0 8.0%  531,916 71%  

Riverside Center .............................  Boston, Massachusetts Office  3/2013; $197.1 5.7%  509,702 86%  
The Summit (5) ...............................  Bellevue, Washington Office  3/2015; $316.5 5.6%  539,576 95%  
Total for Domestic Office Investments ......................................  1,581,194 84%

Domestic Other Investments         

Minneapolis Retail Center .................  Minneapolis, Minnesota Retail  
8/2012 & 12/2012; 

$130.6 6.5%  399,021 98%  
The Markets at Town Center ..............  Jacksonville, Florida Retail  7/2013; $135.0 5.9%  317,557 72%  
The Avenue at Murfreesboro ..............  Nashville, Tennessee Retail  8/2013; $163.0 6.4%  768,381 91%  

The Rim .......................................  San Antonio, Texas Retail  

2/2014, 4/2015, 
12/2015, & 12/2016: 

$285.9 5.9%  1,045,109 91% 

Total for Domestic Other Investments ......................................  2,530,068 90%

International Office Investments         
Gogolevsky 11 ...............................  Moscow, Russia Office 8/2011; $96.1 8.9%  94,239 94%

New City ......................................  Warsaw, Poland Office  3/2013; $163.5 7.1%  484,182 88%  
Perspective Defense ........................  Paris, France Office  6/2013; $165.8 8.5%  289,663 47%  
25 Cabot Square .............................  London, England Office  3/2014; $371.7 6.7%  479,437 76%  
Total for International Office Investments ................................  1,347,521 75%

International Other Investments         
FM Logistic ..................................  Moscow, Russia Industrial  4/2011 $70.8 11.2%  748,578 100%  
Total for International Other Investments  748,578 100%

Total for All Investments .......................................................  6,207,361 86%

 
(1) On March 1, 2019, the Company effectively owned a 99.99% interest in the investments listed.  Affiliates of Hines owned the 

remaining 0.01% interest in the Operating Partnership. 
 

(2) For acquisitions denominated in a foreign currency, amounts have been translated at a rate based on the rate in effect on the 
acquisition date. 
 

(3) The estimated going-in capitalization rate is determined as of the date of acquisition by dividing the projected property revenues 
in excess of expenses for the first fiscal year following the date of acquisition by the net purchase price (excluding closing costs 
and taxes). Property revenues in excess of expenses includes all projected operating revenues (rental income, tenant 
reimbursements, parking and any other property-related income) less all projected operating expenses (property operating and 
maintenance expenses, property taxes, insurance and property management fees).  
 
The projected property revenues in excess of expenses includes assumptions which may not be indicative of the actual future 
performance of the property, and the actual economic performance of each property for our period of ownership may differ 
materially from the amounts used in calculating the estimated going-in capitalization rate. These include assumptions, with 
respect to each property, that in-place tenants will continue to perform under their lease agreements during the 12 months 
following our acquisition of the property.  In addition, with respect to the Minneapolis Retail Center, Riverside Center, the 
Markets at Town Center, the Avenue at Murfreesboro, and The Summit, the projected property revenues in excess of expenses 
include assumptions concerning estimates of timing and rental rates related to re-leasing vacant space. 
 

(4) Data as of December 31, 2018. 
 

(5) The Summit consists of two Class A office towers (Summit I and Summit II).  In 2019, we will commence construction of 
Summit III, a new office building on the property, which will have approximately 374,220 square feet of additional office space, 
which has been 100% pre-leased to a single tenant. 
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Investment Type 
 

The following chart depicts the percentage of our portfolio’s investment types as of March 1, 2019, based on the appraised values 
of our real estate investments as of December 31, 2018. 

 
 

 
Lease Expirations 
 

The following table lists the scheduled lease expirations and related expiring base rents for each of the years ending December 31, 
2019 through December 31, 2028 and thereafter for all of the properties which we owned as of March 1, 2019. The table also shows 
the approximate leasable square feet represented by the applicable lease expirations: 

 

    Leasable Area   

Year  Number of Leases  
Approximate 
Square Feet 

Percent of Total 
Leasable Area 

Annual Base 
Rental Income of 
Expiring Leases  

Percent of Total 
Annual Base 

Rental Income 

Vacant ................................  —  864,852 13.9% $ —  —%

2019 ...................................  41  210,700 3.4% $ 5,693,303  4.2%

2020 ...................................  59  550,148 8.9% $ 16,950,922  12.4%

2021 ...................................  46  310,590 5.0% $ 8,152,196  6.0%

2022 ...................................  60  1,321,363 21.3% $ 20,297,680  14.8%

2023 ...................................  42  643,072 10.4% $ 15,269,701  11.2%

2024 ...................................  25  254,364 4.1% $ 6,824,676  5.0%

2025 ...................................  34  616,585 9.9% $ 19,619,075  14.3%

2026 ...................................  14  105,739 1.7% $ 3,329,679  2.4%

2027 ...................................  21  246,418 4.0% $ 5,038,706  3.7%

2028 ...................................  15  305,935 4.9% $ 10,120,634  7.4%

Thereafter ...........................  23  777,595 12.5% $ 25,559,777  18.6%
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Market Concentration 
 

The map below depicts the location of our real estate investments as of March 1, 2019. Approximately 68% of our portfolio is 
located throughout the United States and approximately 32% is located internationally. The estimated values of our real estate 
investments were based on their appraised values as of December 31, 2018. 

 
 
The following table provides a summary of the market concentration of our portfolio based on the estimated value of each of the 

real estate investments in which we owned interests as of March 1, 2019. 
 

Market  Market Concentration 

Seattle, Washington ................................................................................................................................ 19% 

London, United Kingdom ....................................................................................................................... 16% 

San Antonio, Texas ................................................................................................................................ 13% 

Minneapolis, Minnesota ......................................................................................................................... 11% 

Boston, Massachusetts ........................................................................................................................... 11% 

Nashville, Tennessee .............................................................................................................................. 9% 

Paris, France ......................................................................................................................................... 7% 

Jacksonville, Florida .............................................................................................................................. 6% 

Warsaw, Poland ..................................................................................................................................... 5% 

Moscow, Russia ..................................................................................................................................... 3% 

 
Industry Concentration 

 
The following table provides a summary of the industry concentration of the tenants of our real estate investments, as of March 1, 

2019, based on their leased square footage as of December 31, 2018: 
 

Industry  Industry Concentration 

Retail ...................................................................................................................................................  38% 

Transportation and Warehousing ........................................................................................................  13% 

Finance and Insurance ........................................................................................................................  11% 

Other Professional Services ................................................................................................................  7% 

Health Care .........................................................................................................................................  6% 

Government ........................................................................................................................................  5% 

Other (1) ................................................................................................................................................  5% 

Utilities ...............................................................................................................................................  4% 

Hospitality ..........................................................................................................................................  4% 

Information .........................................................................................................................................  4% 

Manufacturing ....................................................................................................................................  3% 
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(1) Included in the “Other” category is approximately 5% of our portfolio, which is made up of industries which are individually less 

than 3% of our portfolio and includes: administrative and support services, arts, educational services, entertainment and 
recreation, legal, oil and gas, real estate, and wholesale trade. 
 

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings 
 

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company or its subsidiaries may become subject to legal 
proceedings, claims or disputes. As of March 28, 2019, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any 
material pending legal proceedings. 
 
Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures 
 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
 
Market Information 
 

As of December 31, 2018, we had 267.1 million common shares outstanding, held by a total of approximately 58,600 
stockholders. The number of stockholders is based on the records of our registrar and transfer agent. There is no established 
public trading market for our common stock. Therefore, there is a risk that a stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at a 
time or price acceptable to the stockholder. 

 
To assist the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) members and their associated persons that participate in 

our public offerings in their effort to comply with National Association of Securities Dealers (“NASD”) Rule 2340, we disclose 
in each annual report distributed to investors a per share estimated value of the shares, the method by which it was developed 
and the date of the data used to develop the estimated value. In addition, we plan to prepare annual statements of estimated 
share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA in the preparation of 
their reports relating to an investment in our shares and such statements should not be used for any other purpose.  Our board of 
directors previously determined that as of December 31, 2017, our per share NAV was $9.04.  Additionally, on February 14, 
2019, our board of directors determined a new NAV of $6.17 as of that date.  This new per share NAV is lower than the 
previously determined per share NAV of $9.04 as of December 31, 2017, primarily as a result of the return of invested capital 
distributions and liquidating distributions declared by the Company in 2018 and 2019, which aggregated to approximately 
$2.95 per share.  The new per share NAV was determined utilizing the guidelines established by the Institute for Portfolio 
Alternatives’ Practice Guideline 2013-01 – “Valuation of Publicly Registered, Non-Listed REITs” issued on April 29, 2013, 
except that it includes an estimate of closing costs that we would expect to incur related to the Company’s liquidation of its 
remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation adopted by the Company in July 2018 with the approval of our 
stockholders. See below for a description of how the new per share NAV was determined.  It is currently anticipated that a new 
per share NAV will next be determined in early 2020. 
 
Methodology 

 
We engaged Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. (“Cushman”), a division of which is an independent third party real estate 

advisory and consulting firm, to provide, or cause its subsidiaries to provide, appraised values of our domestic real estate 
property investments as of December 31, 2018.  These appraisals were performed in accordance with Uniform Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice.  Cushman has extensive experience in conducting appraisals and valuations on real properties 
and each of our appraisals was prepared by personnel who are members of the Appraisal Institute and have the Member of 
Appraisal Institute (“MAI”) designation. 

 
Additionally, we engaged Knight Frank, LLP (“Knight Frank”), an independent third party real estate advisory and 

consulting services firm, to provide appraised values of our international real estate investments as of December 31, 2018. 
These appraisals were performed in accordance with the professional standards as published by the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors. 

 
We also engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated (“JLL”), an independent third party real estate advisory and consulting 

services firm, to perform valuations of our debt obligations as of December 31, 2018. 
 
In establishing the per share NAV of $6.17, we used appraised values of our real estate property investments as of 

December 31, 2018, except for 55 M Street and 550 Terry Francois, which were excluded because they were sold in January 
and February 2019, respectively.   We also obtained valuations of our debt obligations as of December 31, 2018. No 
indebtedness was secured by 55M Street or 550 Terry Francois as of December 31, 2018.  Additionally, our board of directors 
included in its determination the values of other assets and liabilities such as cash, tenant receivables, accounts payable and 
accrued expenses, distributions payable and other assets and liabilities, all of which were valued at cost and an estimate of 
closing costs that we would expect to incur in relation to the liquidation of our remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of 
Liquidation.  These other assets and liabilities were also adjusted to include the effects of monthly distributions and 
redemptions paid in early 2019, the sales of 55 M Street and 550 Terry Francois in early 2019, and the $2.50 per share 
liquidating distribution that was declared and paid in February 2019.  No liquidity discounts or discounts relating to the fact 
that we are externally managed were applied to the per share NAV and no attempt was made to value Hines Global as an 
enterprise. 
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Additionally, we engaged Altus Group U.S. Inc., (“Altus”) to review the appraisals provided by Cushman and Knight 
Frank and to assess the reasonableness of our new per share NAV.  The appraisal reviews were conducted under the 
supervisions of a member of the MAI.  In assessing the reasonableness of our new per share NAV, Altus utilized the appraised 
values provided by Cushman and Knight Frank, the valuations of our debt obligations provided by JLL and information 
provided by management regarding balances of cash, tenant receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, distributions 
payable and other assets and liabilities and an estimate of closing costs that we expect to incur related to the liquidation of our 
remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation.  Altus concluded that the new per share NAV determined by our board 
of directors was reasonable. 

 
The independent firms that we engaged to assist us in connection with our determination of a new NAV per share, as 

described above, have provided, and are expected to continue to provide, real estate appraisal, valuation and financial advisory 
services to us and to Hines and its affiliates and have received, and are expected to continue to receive, fees in connection with 
such services. Certain of these firms and their respective affiliates may from time to time in the future perform other real estate 
appraisal, valuation and financial advisory services for us and for Hines and its affiliates, or in transactions related to the 
properties that are the subject of the valuations being performed for us, or otherwise, so long as such other services do not 
adversely affect the independence of the applicable firm as certified in the applicable report. 

 
The aggregate value of our real estate property investments as of February 14, 2019 was $2.4 billion.  Additionally, we 

have sold 22 properties since December 31, 2017, with an aggregate sales price of $2.2 billion.  Including the effect of the sold 
properties, the aggregate value of our real estate property investments increased 1.6% when compared to the previously 
determined value of our assets as of December 31, 2017.  This 1.6% net increase resulted from 4.0% appreciation in the 
aggregate values of our real estate property investments as offset by a 2.4% decrease resulting from the weakening of the Euro, 
British pound sterling, and Australian dollar against the U.S. dollar. 

 
The aggregate value of our real estate property investments owned as of February 14, 2019 also represented a 12.7% 

increase compared to their aggregate net purchase price. The table below sets forth the calculation of our per share NAV as of 
February 14, 2019 and our previous per share NAV as of December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 

  February 14, 2019  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

  
Gross Amount 

(in millions)  
Per 

Share  
Gross Amount

(in millions)  
Per 

Share  
Gross Amount

(in millions) 
Per 

Share 
Real estate property 
investments .........................

 
$ 2,397

 
 $ 9.07  $ 4,445  $ 16.20

 
 $ 5,095 $ 18.37

Other assets ........................  709  2.68  441  1.61  213 0.77

Debt obligations and other 
liabilities .............................

 
(742)  (2.81) (1,962)  (7.15)  (2,330) (8.40)

Liquidating/ Special 
Distributions .......................

 
(661) (1) (2.50) (1) (288) (2) (1.05) (2)   

Noncontrolling interests .....  —  —  (11)  (0.04)  (89) (0.32)

Net Asset Value before 
closing costs .......................

 
$ 1,703

 
 $ 6.44  $ 2,625  $ 9.57

 
 $ 2,889 $ 10.42

Estimated closing costs ......  (72)  (0.27)  (146)  (0.53)  (107) (0.39)

NAV ...................................  $ 1,631  $ 6.17  $ 2,479  $ 9.04  $ 2,782 $ 10.03

Shares outstanding .............  264    274    277  

 
(1) In February 2019, the Company declared and paid a liquidating distribution pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation of $2.50.  

In addition to the $2.50 per share liquidating distribution reflected in the table above, the Company paid return of invested 
capital distributions and liquidating distributions in an aggregate amount of approximately $0.45 per share, which included 
$0.12 per share of return of invested capital distributions, consisting of $0.02 per share of each of the monthly distributions 
paid from February 2018 through July 2018, and approximately $0.33 per share of liquidating distributions, consisting of 
the monthly distributions paid from August 2018 through January 2019.  These liquidating distributions and return of 
invested capital distributions, in an aggregate amount of approximately $2.95 per share, were the primary cause of the 
reduction of our per share NAV as of February 14, 2019, compared to our per share NAV as of December 31, 2017, as 
described in the table below. 
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(2) In December 2017, the Company declared a distribution of $1.05 per share (the “Special Distribution”) to all stockholders 
of record as of December 31, 2017, which was paid in January 2018.  This distribution was designated by the Company as 
a special distribution, which represented a return of a portion of the stockholders’ invested capital from sales of investment 
property and, as such, reduced their remaining investment in the Company.  The Special Distribution reduced the previous 
per share NAV determined as of December 31, 2016 from $10.03 to $8.98. 
 
The table below provides additional information regarding the change in the Company's per share NAV: 
 

  NAV Per Share as of 

  February 14, 2019 

NAV per share (as of December 31, 2017) ...........................................................  $ 9.04

Less: Liquidating distributions and return of invested capital distributions .........  $ (2.95)

Adjusted NAV per share .......................................................................................  $ 6.09

Net increase to NAV per share during the period ..................................................  $ 0.08

Ending NAV per share ..........................................................................................  $ 6.17

 
Our board of directors determined the per share NAV by (i) utilizing the values of our real estate property investments of 

approximately $2.4 billion and adding our other assets comprised of our cash, tenant and other receivables and other assets of 
$709 million, (ii) subtracting the values of our debt obligations and other liabilities comprised of our accounts payable and 
accrued expenses, due to affiliates, distributions payable (including the $2.50 per share liquidating distribution declared and 
paid in February 2019) and other liabilities of $1.4 billion, (iii) subtracting an estimate of closing costs that we would expect to 
incur in relation to the liquidation of its remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation of $72 million, and 
(iv) dividing the total by our common shares outstanding as of February 14, 2019 of 264 million, resulting in a per share NAV 
of $6.17. 

 
Other than with respect to the values of our real estate property investments and values of our debt obligations, the values 

of the assets and liabilities described above were determined based on their cost and included certain pro forma adjustments 
primarily related to significant activities that occurred between December 31, 2018 and February 14, 2019, such as the sales of 
55 M Street and 550 Terry Francois, the payment of one monthly distribution and redemptions, and the payment of a $2.50 per 
share liquidating distribution, as well as estimated closing costs that we expect to incur in relation to the liquidation of its 
remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation.  Our board of directors thought it appropriate to include an estimate of 
the closing costs, including disposition fees payable to affiliates of Hines, that the Company expects to incur related to the 
liquidation of our remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation.  However, there can be no assurances of the time 
frame in which the Company expects to liquidate its remaining properties or that the closing costs related to the liquidation of 
its remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation would be incurred in the amount estimated by the Company.  Other 
than the adjustments described in the paragraphs above, no other adjustments were made related to the period from January 1, 
2019 through February 14, 2019, because the Company did not believe they would have a material effect on its per share NAV.  
Additionally, the calculation of the per share NAV excluded certain items on our unaudited consolidated balance sheet that were 
determined to have no future value or economic impact on the valuation.  Examples include receivables related to straight-line 
rental revenue and costs incurred to put debt in place.  Other items were excluded because they were already considered 
elsewhere in the valuation.  Examples include intangible lease assets and liabilities related to our real estate property 
investments and costs incurred for capital expenditures that were included in the appraised values of our real estate property 
investments and the fair values of interest rate swaps and caps, as they were included in the valuation of our debt. 

 
The appraised values provided by Cushman and Knight Frank described above were determined primarily by using 

methodologies that are commonly used in the commercial real estate industry.  For our domestic real estate property 
investments, these methodologies included discounted cash flow analyses and reviews of current, historical and projected 
capitalization rates for properties comparable to those owned by us and assume an 8-12 year holding period, other than one 
property, which had a 19-year holding period.  For our international real estate investments, these methodologies included cash 
flow analyses and going-in capitalization rates for properties comparable to those owned by us.  The tables below summarize 
the key assumptions that were used in the valuations of our real estate property investments. 
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 Range  Weighted Average 

Domestic Real Estate Property Investments    

Office/Retail    
Exit capitalization rate ........................................................................... 5.00% - 8.00%  5.97% 

Discount rate/internal rate of return ....................................................... 6.00% - 9.00%  6.94% 

International Real Estate Property Investments    
Office/Industrial    

Going-in capitalization rate .................................................................... 2.17% - 10.89%  3.92% 

 
As with any valuation methodology, the methodology used to determine the per share NAV was based upon a number of 

assumptions, estimates and judgments that may not be accurate or complete.  Further, different parties using different property-
specific and general real estate and capital market assumptions, estimates, judgments and standards could derive a per share 
NAV that could be significantly different from the per share NAV determined by our board of directors.  While our board of 
directors believes that the assumptions used in determining the appraised values of our real estate property investments are 
reasonable, a change in these assumptions would impact the calculation of such values.  For example, assuming all other 
factors remained unchanged, an increase in the average discount rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in the appraised 
values of our domestic real estate property investments of 2.0%, while a decrease in the average discount rate of 25 basis points 
would yield an increase in the appraised values of our domestic real estate property investments of 2.7%. Likewise, an increase 
in the average exit capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in the appraised values of our domestic real 
estate property investments of 2.5%, while a decrease in the average exit capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield an 
increase in the appraised values of our domestic real estate property investments of 3.5%. Additionally, an increase in the 
average going-in capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in the appraised values of our international real 
estate property investments of 5.1%, while a decrease in the average going-in capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield 
an increase in the appraised values of our international real estate property investments of 5.5%. 

 
The per share NAV determined by our board of directors does not represent the fair value of our assets less liabilities in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and such per share NAV is not a representation, warranty or 
guarantee that (i) a stockholder would be able to realize an amount equal to the per share NAV if such stockholder attempts to 
sell the his or her shares; (ii) a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the per share NAV upon our 
liquidation or sale; (iii) shares of our common stock would trade at the per share NAV on a national securities exchange;  or 
(iv) a third party would offer the per share NAV in an arm’s-length transaction to purchase all or substantially all of our shares 
of common stock; or (v) the methodologies used to determine the per share NAV would be acceptable to FINRA. In addition, 
we can make no claim as to whether the estimated value will or will not satisfy the applicable annual valuation requirements 
under ERISA and the Code with respect to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA and other retirement plans or accounts 
subject to Section 4975 of the Code that are investing in our shares. 

 
Further, the per share NAV was calculated as of a moment in time, and, although the value of shares of our common stock 

will fluctuate over time as a result of, among other things, developments related to individual assets, purchases and sales of 
additional assets and the payment of fees and closing costs in connection therewith, changes in the real estate and capital 
markets, the distribution of sales proceeds to our stockholders (if any) and changes in corporate policies such as our distribution 
level relative to earnings, we do not undertake to update the per share NAV on a regular basis. As a result, stockholders should 
not rely on the per share NAV as an accurate measure of the then-current value of shares of our common stock in making a 
decision to buy or sell shares of our common stock. 
 
Distributions 
 

We declared distributions of approximately $0.65 per share, per year for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016.  A portion of the distributions declared for the year ended December 31, 2018 was designated as a return of a portion of 
the stockholders’ invested capital as described further below.  Further, on July 17, 2018, in connection with the approval of the 
Plan of Liquidation by our stockholders, our board of directors determined to suspend indefinitely our distribution reinvestment 
plan effective as of August 31, 2018. As a result of the suspension of our distribution reinvestment plan, all distributions paid 
after August 31, 2018 have been paid to our stockholders in cash. 

 
From January 2018 through February 2019, in addition to the $0.21 of regular operating distributions that we paid to 

stockholders, we paid aggregate distributions to stockholders totaling approximately $4.00 per share, which represented a 
return of a portion of the stockholders’ invested capital (“Return of Capital Distributions”).  These Return of Capital 
Distributions were made up of the following: 
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•  a $1.05 per share a special distribution (the “Special Distribution”) declared to all stockholders of record as of 

December 30, 2017 and paid in January 2018.  The Special Distribution was funded with a portion of the net proceeds 
received from the strategic sale of six assets during 2017. 

•  $0.12 per share resulting from a portion of the monthly distributions declared for the months of January 2018 through 
June 2018, (approximately $0.02 per share, per month), which were designated by our board of directors as a return of a 
portion of the stockholders’ invested capital and, as such, reduced the stockholders’ remaining investment in the 
Company. 

•  Approximately $0.33 per share resulting from the monthly liquidating distributions declared for the months of July 2018 
through December 2018 (approximately $0.054 per share, per month), which reduced the stockholders’ remaining 
investment in the Company. 

•  a $2.50 per share a liquidating distribution declared to all stockholders of record as of February 13, 2019 and paid in 
February 2019. 

 
If we are able to successfully implement the Plan of Liquidation, then after the sale of all our assets and the payment of all 

our outstanding liabilities, we expect we will have made liquidating distributions pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation in the 
range of $8.83 to $9.83 per share of common stock, estimated by tour board of directors as of April 23, 2018, which are in 
addition to the $1.17 return of invested capital distributions previously paid by the Company, as described above.  As described 
above, we have paid approximately $2.83 per share of liquidating distributions pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation as of 
March 1, 2019. 

 
 We intend to fund all future distributions with proceeds from the sale of our remaining properties pursuant to the Plan of 

Liquidation and any distributable income earned from revenue generated by our remaining properties is expected to be included 
in future liquidating distributions. We funded 0% of our operating distributions in 2018, 19% of our operating distributions in 
2017, and 85% of our operating distributions in 2016 with cash flows from operations. We have funded the remaining 
distributions from proceeds from the sales of our real estate investments in the current and prior periods, and cash flows from 
financing activities. 

 
 The table below outlines our total distributions declared to stockholders and holders of noncontrolling interests for each of 

the quarters during the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, including the breakout between the 
distributions declared in cash and those reinvested pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan (in thousands): 

 

 Stockholders  
Noncontrolling 

Interests  

Distributions for the three months 
ended 

Cash 
Distributions

Distributions 
Reinvested 

Total 
Declared  Total Declared  

2018   

December 31, 2018 ................................... $ 43,586 $ — $ 43,586  $ 134  

September 30, 2018 .................................. 36,970 7,187 44,157  11,769 (1)

June 30, 2018 ............................................ 22,457 21,844 44,301  52  

March 31, 2018 ......................................... 22,126 22,294 44,420  60  

Total .......................................................... $ 125,139 $ 51,325 $ 176,464  $ 12,015  

2017       

December 31, 2017 ................................... $ 310,078 $ 22,890 $ 332,968  $ 1,064  

September 30, 2017 .................................. 22,224 23,031 45,255  1,786  

June 30, 2017 ............................................ 21,935 22,953 44,888  21,053 (2)

March 31, 2017 ......................................... 21,614 22,883 44,497  2,804  

Total .......................................................... $ 375,851 $ 91,757 $ 467,608  $ 26,707  

 
(1) For the three months ended September 30, 2018, distributions declared to noncontrolling interests included a 

distribution totaling $11.6 million to an affiliate of Hines, who was the Company’s joint venture partner in the 
WaterWall Place JV, as a result of the sale of WaterWall Place. 

(2) For the three months ended June 30, 2017, distributions declared to the noncontrolling interests included a distribution 
totaling $21.0 million to the Company’s JV partner in the Aviva Coral Gables joint venture, as a result of the sale of 
Aviva Coral Gables. 
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In general, distributions to stockholders are characterized for federal income tax purposes as ordinary income, capital 

gains, non-taxable return of capital or a combination of the three. Distributions that exceed our current and accumulated 
earnings and profits (calculated for tax purposes) constitute a return of capital for tax purposes rather than a distribution and 
reduce the stockholders’ basis in our common shares. To the extent that a distribution exceeds both current and accumulated 
earnings and profits and the stockholders’ basis in the common shares, it will generally be treated as a capital gain. We annually 
notify stockholders of the taxability of distributions paid during the preceding year. 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, approximately 74.6% and 76.2% of the distributions paid 
were taxable to the investor as capital gains and approximately 25.4% and 23.8% were treated as a return of capital for federal 
income tax purposes. The amount of distributions paid and taxable portion in each period are not indicative or predictive of 
amounts anticipated in future periods. 
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 
 

On July 17, 2018, 3,318.584 restricted common shares were granted to each of our independent directors, Messrs. Peter 
Shaper, Thomas L. Mitchell, John S. Moody and Jack L. Farley. Such restricted shares were granted pursuant to Restricted 
Share Award Agreements between us and each of our independent directors, as part of the independent directors’ annual 
compensation for service on our board of directors and without registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
“Securities Act”), in reliance upon the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. 

 
Share Redemption Program 
 

Effective February 2, 2019, in connection with the Plan of Liquidation and in line with common practice within the 
industry when executing a Plan of Liquidation, our board of directors suspended the share redemption program, except for the 
redemption requests related to the death or disability of a shareholder. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, our share redemption program was amended in order to modify the pricing under the share 

redemption program, such that the redemption price applicable to all redemption requests, including redemption requests made 
in connection with the death or disability of a stockholder, is equal to the NAV per share our common stock most recently 
announced by the Company in a public filing with the SEC. 

 
Additionally, effective as of August 20, 2018, and in connection with the suspension of our DRP offering, our share 

redemption program was amended to eliminate the requirement that the funds available for redemption be limited to proceeds 
received from the DRP in the prior month. Our board of directors may determine from time to time to adjust the timing of 
redemptions or suspend or terminate our share redemption program upon 30 days notice. Subject to the limitations and 
restrictions on the program and to funds being available, the number of shares repurchased during any consecutive twelve 
month period will be limited to no more than 5% of the number of outstanding shares of common stock at the beginning of the 
twelve month period. 
 
Issuer Redemptions of Equity Securities 
 

The following table lists shares we redeemed (in thousands) under our share redemption plan during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2018, including the average price paid per share. 

Period  

Total Number 
of Shares 
Redeemed 

Average 
Price Paid 
Per Share 

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 
Publicly Announced 
Plans of Programs  

Maximum Number of 
Shares that May Yet be 
Redeemed Under the 
Plans or Programs (1) 

October 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018 ...........  1,575,550 $ 9.04 1,575,550   —
November 1, 2018 to November 30, 2018 ...  1,042,626 $ 9.04 1,042,626   —

December 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 ....  1,199,145 $ 9.04 1,199,145   —

Total .............................................................  3,817,321 3,817,321    

 
(1) See description of our share redemption program above for a description of the limitations on the number of shares that 

may be redeemed.  
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data 
 

The following selected consolidated financial data are qualified by reference to and should be read in conjunction with our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” below (in thousands, except per share amounts).  As described below, in recent years, we 
disposed of a significant number of our real estate investments, and these dispositions are responsible for many of the changes 
in the amounts below. 

 
On April 23, 2018, our board of directors determined that it is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders to 

sell all or substantially all of our properties and assets and for the Company to liquidate and dissolve pursuant to the Plan of 
Liquidation.  The principal purpose of the liquidation is to provide liquidity to our stockholders by selling the Company’s 
assets, paying its debts and distributing the net proceeds from liquidation to our stockholders. 

 
By the end of 2015, we completed our acquisition phase, and have owned, in total, interests in 45 real estate properties, 31 

of which had been sold as of December 31, 2018.  We sold 20 properties in 2018, six properties in 2017 and two properties in 
2016.  As of December 31, 2018, we owned interests in 14 real estate investments. 

 

 2018  2017  2016  2015  2014 

Operating Data:         

Revenues .................................................................. $ 308,865  $ 403,649  $ 477,908  $ 476,873  $ 456,264

Depreciation and amortization ................................. $ 106,432  $ 138,503  $ 174,110  $ 186,965  $ 193,870

Asset management and acquisition fees ................... $ 34,332  $ 37,949  $ 37,001  $ 44,522  $ 53,069

General and administrative....................................... $ 10,473  $ 9,250  $ 11,149  $ 8,597  $ 6,782

Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments ........... $ 541,401  $ 364,325  $ 127,294  $ 14,684  $ 64,003

Income (loss) before benefit (provision) for 
income taxes ............................................................. $ 500,067  $ 379,813  $ 164,553

 
 $ (436) $ 16,648

Benefit (provision) for income taxes ........................ $ (12,220) $ 8,705  $ (7,326)  $ (4,518) $ (5,806)

Provision for income taxes related to sale of real 
estate ........................................................................ $ (22,846) $ (12,911) $ —

 
 $ —  $ —

Net income (loss) ..................................................... $ 465,001  $ 375,607  $ 157,227  $ (4,954) $ 10,842

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling 
interests .................................................................... $ (10,219) $ (54,657) $ (2,563)  $ (2,281) $ (1,420)

Net income (loss) attributable to common 
stockholders ............................................................. $ 454,782  $ 320,950  $ 154,664

 
 $ (7,235) $ 9,422

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common 
share: ........................................................................ $ 1.68  $ 1.16  $ 0.56

 
 $ (0.03) $ 0.04

Distributions declared per common share ................ $ 0.65  $ 1.70 (1) $ 0.65  $ 0.65  $ 0.65

Weighted average common shares outstanding - 
basic and diluted ....................................................... 271,458  276,374  275,914

 
 272,773  263,323

Balance Sheet Data:         

Total investment property ......................................... $ 1,769,955  $ 2,689,276  $ 3,049,643  $ 3,267,877  $ 2,964,699

Cash and cash equivalents ........................................ $ 244,277  $ 401,326  $ 127,393  $ 136,627  $ 143,609

Total assets ............................................................... $ 2,499,711  $ 3,726,197  $ 3,988,432  $ 4,372,946  $ 4,115,173

Long-term obligations (2) .......................................... $ 676,767  $ 1,834,953  $ 2,207,299  $ 2,545,656  $ 2,121,223

 

(1) Includes special distribution of $1.05 per share paid in January 2018. See Item 1. Business — Distribution Objectives for 
additional details. 

(2) These amounts include notes payable, notes payable to affiliates and long-term derivative instruments. 
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Item 7.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following information contains forward-looking statements, which 
are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Please see “Special Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” above for a description of these risks and uncertainties. 
 
Executive Summary 
 

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (“Hines Global”) was incorporated under the Maryland General Corporation Laws on 
December 10, 2008, primarily for the purpose of investing in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real estate properties 
and other real estate investments located throughout the United States and internationally.  Hines Global raised the equity 
capital for its real estate investments through two public offerings from August 2009 through April 2014, and through its 
distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRP Offering”) from April 2014 through August 2018.  Collectively, through its public 
offerings, Hines Global raised gross offering proceeds of approximately $3.1 billion, including the DRP Offering, all of which 
was invested in the Company’s real estate portfolio. 

 
We invested the proceeds from our public offerings into a diverse portfolio of real estate investments.  In recent years, we 

have concentrated our efforts on actively managing our assets and exploring a variety of strategic opportunities focused on 
enhancing the composition of our portfolio and its total return potential for its stockholders.  On April 23, 2018, in connection 
with its review of potential strategic alternatives available to the Company, our board of directors determined that it is in the 
best interest of the Company and its stockholders to sell all or substantially all of our properties and assets and for the Company 
to liquidate and dissolve pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation.  The principal purpose of the liquidation is to provide liquidity to 
our stockholders by selling the Company’s assets, paying its debts and distributing the net proceeds from liquidation to our 
stockholders.  As required by Maryland law and our charter, the Plan of Liquidation was approved by the affirmative vote of 
the holders of at least a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote thereon at the Company’s 
annual meeting of stockholders held on July 17, 2018. 

 
In April 2018, our board of directors estimated that, in addition to regular operating distributions paid to our stockholders, 

if we are able to successfully implement the Plan of Liquidation, then after the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s 
assets and the payment of all of the Company’s outstanding liabilities, we will have made total Return of Capital distributions 
to our stockholders of approximately $10.00 to $11.00 per share of the Company’s common stock, consisting of three 
components: (i) the $1.05 per share special distribution paid to stockholders in January 2018; (ii) the $0.12 per share of return 
on invested capital distributions paid to stockholders for the six months ended June 30, 2018; and (iii) the range of liquidating 
distributions to be made pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation of $8.83 to $9.83 per share, estimated by our board of directors in 
April, and we have made liquidating distributions of approximately $2.83 per share to date. As described below, we have 
already paid Return on Capital Distributions totaling approximately $4.00 per share. We expect to make the final liquidating 
distribution on or before a date that is within 24 months after stockholder approval of the Plan of Liquidation.  However, there 
can be no assurances regarding the amounts of any liquidating distributions or the timing thereof. 

 
From January 2018 through February 2019, we paid Return of Capital Distributions to our stockholders totaling 

approximately $4.00, consisting of the $1.05 per share Special Distribution, the $0.12 per share Return of Invested Capital 
Distributions, $0.33 per share monthly liquidating distributions paid between August 2018 and January 2019, and the $2.50 per 
share liquidating distribution paid in February 2019. 

 
At the peak of our acquisition phase, we owned interests in 45 properties.  We sold interests in six properties for an 

aggregate sales price of $1.0 billion during 2017, 20 properties for an aggregate sales price of $1.7 billion during 2018 and two 
additional properties in early 2019 for an aggregate sales price of $477.8 million.  Following these sales, we owned 12 
properties valued at $2.4 billion.  Approximately 68% of our remaining portfolio is located throughout the United States and 
approximately 32% is located internationally. Additionally, our remaining portfolio is comprised of investments in 
approximately 60% office, 39% retail, and 1% industrial. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingencies as of the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate 
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our assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Additionally, application of our accounting policies 
involves exercising judgments regarding assumptions as to future uncertainties. Actual results may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions or conditions.  The following is a discussion of our critical accounting policies.  For a discussion of 
all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
Investment Property and Lease Intangibles 

 
Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment each reporting period if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of the individual property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a comparison will be made of the current 
and projected operating cash flows and expected proceeds from the eventual disposition of each property on an undiscounted 
basis to the carrying amount of such property. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, it would be written 
down to the estimated fair value to reflect impairment in the value of the asset. The determination of whether investment 
property is impaired requires a significant amount of judgment by management and is based on the best information available 
to management at the time of the evaluation. For the year ended December 31, 2018 we determined that three of our properties 
were impaired as a result of deteriorating market conditions.  As a result, impairment losses of $19.2 million were recorded to 
write down the carrying values to fair value for the year ended December 31, 2018.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, we 
determined that one of our investment properties was impaired, as a result of deteriorating market conditions.  As a result, an 
impairment loss of  $7.1 million was recorded to write down its carrying value to its fair value for the year ended December 31, 
2017.  No impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 
Deferred Leasing Costs 

 
Direct leasing costs, primarily consisting of third-party leasing commissions, tenant inducements and legal costs, are 

capitalized and amortized over the life of the related lease.  Tenant inducement amortization is recorded as an offset to rental 
revenue and the amortization of other direct leasing costs is recorded in amortization expense.  We consider a number of 
different factors to evaluate whether we or the lessee is the owner of the tenant improvements for accounting purposes. These 
factors include: (i) whether the lease stipulates how and on what a tenant improvement allowance may be spent; (ii) whether 
the tenant or landlord retains legal title to the improvements; (iii) the uniqueness of the improvements; (iv) the expected 
economic life of the tenant improvements relative to the term of the lease; and (v) who constructs or directs the construction of 
the improvements. The determination of who owns the tenant improvements for accounting purposes is subject to significant 
judgment. In making that determination, we consider all of the above factors. No one factor, however, necessarily establishes 
any determination. 
 

Revenue Recognition and Valuation of Receivables 
 

We are required to recognize minimum rent revenues on a straight-line basis over the terms of tenant leases, including rent 
holidays and bargain renewal options, if any.  Revenues associated with tenant reimbursements are recognized in the period in 
which the expenses are incurred based upon the tenant’s lease provision. Leases are not uniform in dealing with such cost 
reimbursements and there are many variations to the computation.  We make quarterly accrual adjustments, positive or 
negative, to tenant reimbursement revenue to adjust the recorded amounts to our best estimate of the final amounts to be billed 
and collected with respect to the cost reimbursements.  Revenues relating to lease termination fees are recognized on a straight-
line basis amortized from the time that a tenant’s right to occupy the leased space is modified through the end of the revised 
lease term and are included in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. To the extent our 
leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, we will record a receivable for rent not yet due under the lease terms. 
Accordingly, our management must determine, in its judgment, to what extent the unbilled rent receivable applicable to each 
specific tenant is collectible. We review unbilled rent receivables on a quarterly basis and take into consideration the tenant’s 
payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and 
economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectibility of unbilled rent with respect 
to any given tenant is in doubt, we would be required to record an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts or record a 
direct write-off of the specific rent receivable, which would have an adverse effect on our net income for the year in which the 
reserve is increased or the direct write-off is recorded and would decrease our total assets and stockholders’ equity. 
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a 
discussion regarding recent accounting pronouncements and the potential impact, if any, on our financial statements. 
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 
Historically our most significant demands for funds were related to the purchase of real estate properties and other real 

estate-related investments. Specifically, we funded $5.1 billion of real estate investments using $3.1 billion of proceeds from 
our public offerings, including the DRP offerings, and debt proceeds. We invested all of the proceeds raised through our public 
offerings by the end of 2015.  As a result, any real estate investments we made since that time were funded using proceeds from 
the dispositions of other real estate investments, debt proceeds, or our distribution reinvestment plan. Other significant demands 
for funds include the payment of operating expenses, distributions (excluding special distributions) and debt service. Generally, 
we expect to meet these operating cash needs using cash flows from operating activities. 

 
Additionally, as described previously, we have recently commenced the Plan of Liquidation and have begun selling our 

properties and distributing proceeds from the sale of our properties to our stockholders in the form of liquidating distributions. 
We received proceeds from the sale of 28 properties from 2017 through early 2019, which were used to make Return of Capital 
distributions totaling $1.1 billion from January 2018 through early 2019 (approximately $4.00 per share). 

 
In prior periods, we did not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fully fund distributions paid. Therefore, a 

portion of our distributions were paid from other sources, such as proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan, proceeds 
from the sales of assets, cash advances by the Advisor, and cash resulting from a waiver or deferral of fees.  We have not placed 
a cap on the amount of our distributions that may be paid from any of these other sources. Because we have already sold a 
significant number of assets and our expectation is to sell the remaining assets in the time frame anticipated under the Plan of 
Liquidation, we determined to stop paying monthly distributions after December 2018.  We intend to fund all future 
distributions with proceeds from the sale of our remaining properties and any future distributable income earned from the 
operating income or the sale of the remaining properties is expected to be included in the future liquidating distributions to the 
shareholders. 

 
We believe that the proper use of leverage can enhance returns on real estate investments. As of December 31, 2018, our 

portfolio was 22% leveraged, based on the values of our real estate investments. At that time, we had $678.1 million of 
principal outstanding under our various loan agreements with a weighted average interest rate of 3.4%, including the effects of 
related interest rate caps. Following the sales of two additional properties in early 2019, as of March 28, 2019, our portfolio 
was approximately 31% leveraged based on the values of our real estate investments.  As of March 28, 2019, approximately 
$697.2 million of our loans are maturing within a year.  We intend to repay these loans using proceeds from the sale of our real 
estate investments, but may refinance them or use proceeds from our revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. 
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”), or other available cash if we are unable to refinance them at satisfactory terms. 

 
The discussions below provide additional details regarding our operating, investing, and financing cash flows. 

 
 Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

 
Our real estate properties generate cash flow in the form of rental revenues, which are used to pay direct leasing costs, 

property-level operating expenses and interest payments. Property-level operating expenses consist primarily of salaries and 
wages of property management personnel, utilities, cleaning, insurance, security and building maintenance costs, property 
management and leasing fees, and property taxes. Additionally, we pay general and administrative expenses, acquisition fees 
and expenses and asset management fees, which also reduce our operating cash flows. 

 
Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $2.5 million compared to $89.7 million 

provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2017.  Operating cash flows have declined due to the 
dispositions of six properties in 2017 and 20 properties in 2018.  Additional significant components of the decrease in operating 
cash flows consisted of a $16.6 million termination payment received from the largest tenant at 25 Cabot Square in the year 
ended December 31, 2017, payments totaling $22.8 million of capital gains tax during the year ended December 31, 2018 
related to the sales of the German Logistics Portfolio and Australia Portfolio, which were sold in 2018, and a payment of $11.8 
million capital gains tax during the year ended December 31, 2018 related to Mercedes Benz Bank, which was sold in 2017. 
 

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $89.7 million compared to $156.8 
million as of December 31, 2016.  The decrease in operating cash flows is primarily due to the sale of eight properties in 2016 
and 2017, in addition to higher deferred lease costs paid during the year ended December 31, 2017. 
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

Net cash from investing activities primarily relates to proceeds received from the sales of our real estate investments, 
capital expenditures at our properties, and activities related to our loans receivable. Additionally, prior to 2017, cash flows from 
investing activities included payments made for the acquisition of our real estate investments.  Net cash from investing 
activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased $328.4 million compared to the same period in 2017 primarily as a 
result of property sales in 2018: 

 
2018 

 
•  We received proceeds of $1.3 billion from the sale of 20 properties during the year ended December 31, 2018. See 

Note 3 — Investment Property for additional information regarding the sale of the properties. 
•  We paid $76.6 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties, which includes re-development costs 

incurred at 25 Cabot Square and costs related to the development site at The Summit.  With respect to the re-
development project at 25 Cabot Square, we expect the total construction costs to be approximately £113.0 million 
(approximately $143.5 million assuming a rate of $1.27 per GBP as of December 31, 2018) and for the project to be 
completed in the first quarter of 2019. With respect to the development site at The Summit, we expect the project to be 
completed in early 2020. 

 
2017 

 
•  We received proceeds of $947.9 million from the sale of six properties. 
•  We paid $43.1 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties, which includes re-development costs 

incurred at Minneapolis Retail Center and 25 Cabot Square. 
•  We made real estate loans of $2.3 million and received proceeds from the collection of real estate loans receivable of 

$7.2 million. 
•  We received proceeds of $10.3 million from the sale of real estate loans receivable. 

 
2016 
 
•  We had cash outflows of $30.1 million related to our acquisition of the final phase of The Rim. 
•  We received proceeds of $266.3 million from the sale of Komo Plaza. 
•  We paid $19.9 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties. 
•  We made real estate loans of $6.2 million and received proceeds from the collection of real estate loans receivable of 

$47.0 million. 
•  We received distributions in excess of equity in earnings from our unconsolidated entity of $2.0 million, resulting 

from the sale of @1377 
 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
 
Redemptions 
 
As described previously, we ceased offering primary shares pursuant to our second public offering in April 2014.  During 

the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, we redeemed $124.0 million, $121.4 million and $63.8 
million in shares of our common stock through our share redemption program.  During the year ended December 31, 2017, we 
also redeemed $52.6 million of Convertible Preferred Equity Certificates (“CPEC”) held by the non controlling interest owner 
in the Brindleyplace JV. 
 

Distributions 
 

As described previously, we have declared distributions of approximately $0.65 per share, per year (approximately 
$0.0541667 per share, per month) for each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.  Distributions were paid 
monthly on or around the first business day following the completion of each month to which they relate. All distributions were 
paid in cash or reinvested in shares of our common stock for those participating in our distribution reinvestment plan.  As a 
result of the suspension of our distribution reinvestment plan, all distributions paid after August 31, 2018 were paid to our 
stockholders in cash. 

 
Additionally, we declared a Special Distribution of $1.05 per share ($288.0 million) to all stockholders of record as of 

December 30, 2017, that was paid in January 2018. Excluding the special distribution, distributions paid to stockholders 
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(including those reinvested in stock) during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $177.1 million, $179.8 
million and $179.7 million, respectively. 

 
Also, in 2018, we declared distributions to a non-controlling interests holder totaling $11.6 million to an affiliate of Hines, 

as a result of the sale of WaterWall Place, as well as a distribution in 2017, totaling $21.0 million to the non controlling interest 
holder in the Aviva Coral Gables JV, due to the sale of the property. 

 
The table below contains additional information regarding distributions to our stockholders as well as the sources of 

distribution payments (all amounts are in thousands): 
 

 Stockholders   

Distributions for the Year Ended 
Cash 

Distributions  
Distributions 
Reinvested 

Total 
Declared  

Distributions funded 
from Cash Flows 
From Operating 

Activities 

December 31, 2018 ..................................................... $125,139 $ 51,325 $ 176,464 (1) $ — —%

December 31, 2017 ..................................................... $375,851 (2) $ 91,757 $ 467,608  $ 89,729  19%

December 31, 2016 ..................................................... $85,820  $ 94,003 $ 179,823  $ 156,775  85%

 

(1) Includes $120.5 million related to the $0.45 per share Return of Capital distributions, which consists of portions of the per 
share distributions for the months of January 2018 through June 2018 and each of the per share distributions for the months 
of July 2018 through December 2018, as described previously. 

(2) Includes $288.0 million related to the special distribution declared in December 2017, as described above. 
 
Our cash flows from operations have been and may continue to be insufficient to fund distributions to stockholders.  We 

have funded the remaining distributions from proceeds from the sales of our real estate investments in the current and prior 
periods, and/or cash flows from financing activities. 
 

Debt Financings 
 

We utilize permanent mortgage financing to leverage returns on our real estate investments and use borrowings under our 
Revolving Credit Facility to provide funding for near-term investment or working capital needs.  As mentioned previously, our 
portfolio was 22% leveraged as of December 31, 2018 (based on the values of our real estate investments) with a weighted 
average interest of 3.4%. 
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Below is additional information regarding our loan activities for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.  See 
Note 4 — Debt Financing for additional information regarding our outstanding debt: 

 
2018 
 
 
•  We borrowed approximately $343.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility and made payments of $637.0 

million. 
•  We made payments totaling $353.6 million to repay mortgage loans that had been secured by properties sold during 

the year. 
•  We also made payments totaling $198.3 million to repay the mortgage loans for 100 Brookes and The Summit and we 

made payments of $6.7 million on our remaining outstanding mortgage loans. 
 
2017 
 

 
•  We borrowed approximately $159.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility and made payments of $179.0 

million. 
•  Upon the sales of the Brindleyplace Project, Aviva Coral Gables, Mercedes Benz Bank, and Fifty South Sixth, we 

made payments totaling $357.0 million to fully pay down the mortgage loans that had been secured by the applicable 
property. 

•  We made a payment of $5.4 million related to the 100 Brookes loan in May 2017. 
•  We made a payment of $72.0 million to fully pay down the secured mortgage loan related to 55 M Street in September 

2017. 
•  We made payments totaling $8.1 million on our remaining outstanding mortgage loans. 
 
2016 
 

 
•  We borrowed approximately $159.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility and made payments of $367.0 

million, which included a $253.0 million payment made using proceeds from the sale of Komo Plaza in December 
2016. 

•  The Flagship JV made payments of $14.4 million on its revolving credit facility related to the repayment of certain of 
its loans receivable during the period. 

•  We made payments of $7.8 million related to our loan secured by New City, including a one-time payment of $5.8 
million in July 2016. 

•  We made a payment of $18.0 million to pay off our loan secured by Southpark in December 2016. 
•  We also made payments totaling $5.3 million on our remaining outstanding mortgage loans. 
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Results of Operations 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 

 
Same-store Analysis 

 
The following table presents the property-level revenues in excess of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018, as 

compared to the same period in 2017, by reportable segment. Same-store properties for the year ended December 31, 2018 
include 14 properties owned as of January 1, 2017 that were 86% leased as of December 31, 2018 compared to 92% leased as 
of December 31, 2017.  In total, property revenues in excess of expenses of the same-store properties decreased 10% for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.  The same-store comparison includes the 
results of operations of 55 M Street and 550 Terry Francois, both of which were sold subsequent to December 31, 2018. Below 
is additional information regarding our same-store results and significant variances from the prior year.  All amounts are in 
thousands, except for percentages: 
 

 Years Ended December 31,  Change 

 2018  2017  $  % 

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)        

Same-store properties        

Domestic office investments .................................................... $ 57,290  $ 65,145  $ (7,855) (12)%

Domestic other investments ..................................................... 51,912  52,270  (358) (1)%

International office investments ............................................... 18,662  21,030  (2,368) (11)%

International other investments ................................................ 2,696  6,411  (3,715) (58)%

Total same-store properties ................................................... $ 130,560  $ 144,856  $ (14,296) (10)%

Disposed properties (2) ................................................................ 59,169  112,954  (53,785) (48)%

Total property revenues in excess of expenses ....................... $ 189,729  $ 257,810  $ (68,081) (26)%

        

Other        

Depreciation and amortization ................................................... $ 106,432  $ 138,503  $ (32,071) (23)%

Impairment losses ....................................................................... $ 19,180  $ 7,124  $ 12,056  169 %

Gain (loss) on derivative instruments ......................................... $ 2,158  $ (634)  $ 2,792  (440)%

Gain on sale of real estate investments ....................................... $ 541,401  $ 364,325  $ 177,076  49 %

Interest expense .......................................................................... $ 56,700  $ 59,461  $ (2,761) (5)%

Other (income) expenses ............................................................ $ (1,546) $ (680)  $ (866) 127 %

Income tax provision (benefit) ................................................... $ 12,220  $ (8,705)  $ 20,925  (240)%

Provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate ............. $ 22,846  $ 12,911  $ 9,935  77 %
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(1) Property revenues in excess of expenses include total revenues less property operating expenses, real property taxes and 

property management fees. 
 

(2) Includes the property revenues in excess of expenses for the properties that were sold in 2018 and 2017. 
 

Domestic office investments: 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of 550 Terry Francois decreased $3.1 million, primarily due to a reduction of 
gross rents collected from the single tenant as a result of a lease modification in 2017. 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of Riverside Center decreased $1.9 million, primarily due to vacancies that 
occurred during the fourth quarter of 2017. 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of Summit Holdings decreased $1.8 million, primarily due to tenant incentives 
being amortized against rents for a new major tenant lease and an existing major tenant lease renewal in 2018. 

 

International office investments: 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of 25 Cabot Square decreased $3.4 million, primarily due to vacancies at the 
building and increases in property operating expenses caused by a large refurbishment and expansion project that 
began in 2017. 

◦  The decrease was partially offset by increases in foreign currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar, which 
caused increases in the operating results of our international properties.  Specifically, the Euro increased 5% 
against the U.S. dollar during that period. See “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market 
Risk” for additional information regarding our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. 

 

International other investments: 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of FM Logistics decreased $3.7 million, primarily due to lease renewals at lower 
rental rates in the fourth quarter of 2017. 

 
Other Changes 
 
The decrease in depreciation and amortization in the table above is primarily due to the sale of 26 of our properties during 

2017 and 2018. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, we determined that three of our investment properties were impaired as a result of 

deteriorating market conditions.  As a result, impairment losses of $19.2 million were recorded to write down the carrying 
values to fair value for the year ended December 31, 2018.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, we determined that one of 
our investment properties was impaired as a result of deteriorating market conditions.  As a result, an impairment loss of $7.1 
million was recorded to write down its carrying value to its fair value for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

 
The gain on sale of real estate investments for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, was due to the sale of 20 

properties during 2018 and six properties during 2017. 
 
The gain on derivatives for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily related to the net gain from the foreign 

currency forward contracts that we entered into related to the sales of our properties in Australia, Germany, Poland and the 
United Kingdom during the year.  The loss on derivatives for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily related to a loss 
on the foreign currency forward contract that we entered into related to the sale of Mercedes Benz Bank in 2017. 

 
The decrease in the interest expense in the table above is primarily due to our lower debt principal balance partially offset 

by an increase in interest rates for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to the year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
The increase in our income tax provision is primarily due to the taxes incurred and reduction of deferred tax assets upon 

the sale of the Poland Logistics Portfolio in Poland. 
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The provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate is due to taxes recognized upon the sale of German Logistics 
Properties and the Australia Portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the sale of Mercedes Benz Bank in July 2017 
for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

 
Other Expenses 

 
The tables below provide additional information related to our asset management and acquisition fees, general and 

administrative expenses, and foreign currency gains (losses) for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.  All amounts in 
thousands, except percentages: 

 

 Years Ended December 31, Change 

 2018 2017 $ % 

Asset management fees ....................................................... $ 34,332 $ 37,949 $ (3,617) (10)%

General and administrative expenses .................................. $ 10,473 $ 9,250 $ 1,223 13 %

Foreign currency gains (losses) ........................................... $ (7,650) $ 10,046 $ (17,696) (176)%

 
The changes identified in the table above are primarily due to the following: 

 

•  We pay monthly asset management fees to the Advisor based on an annual fee of 1.5% of the net equity capital 
invested in real estate, which may be affected by the timing of the property sales, amounts of equity invested in 
properties that are sold, capital expenditures and changes in the leverage of our properties.  

 

•  General and administrative expenses include legal and accounting fees, printing and mailing costs, insurance costs, 
costs and expenses associated with our board of directors and other administrative expenses. The increase is due to 
increased legal and consulting costs associated with the Plan of Liquidation. 

 

•  See below for a description of the changes related to foreign currency gains (losses). 

 
Foreign Currency Gains (Losses) 

 
Our international real estate investments use functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The financial statements for 

these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate 
in effect as of the balance sheet date while income statement accounts are translated using the average exchange rate for the 
period and significant nonrecurring transactions using the rate on the transaction date. Gains or losses resulting from translation 
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity until the properties are sold and the 
gains or losses are realized. 

 
By contrast, gains and losses related to transactions denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency 

are recorded in foreign currency gains (losses) on the consolidated statement of operations. An exception is made where an 
intercompany loan or advance is deemed to be of a long-term investment nature, in which instance foreign currency transaction 
gains or losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. 

 
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, these gains/losses were primarily related to the effect of remeasuring 

our borrowings denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies and the changes to the related exchange rates 
between the date of the borrowing and the end of each period.  These gains or losses exclude $58.3 million and $8.8 million of 
losses for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, which related to the sale of our properties and were 
included in the “gain on sale of real estate investments” in our consolidated statements of operations. 
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Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
 

Same-store Analysis 
 
The following table presents the property-level revenues in excess of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017, as 

compared to the same period in 2016, by reportable segment. Same-store properties for the year ended December 31, 2017 
include 34 properties owned as of January 1, 2016 that were 92% leased as of December 31, 2017 compared to 93% leased as 
of December 31, 2016.  In total, property revenues in excess of expenses of the same-store properties decreased 10% for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. Below is additional information regarding 
our same-store results and significant variances from the prior year.  All amounts are in thousands, except for percentages: 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  Change 

 2017  2016  $  % 

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)        

Same-store properties        

Domestic office investments ..................................................... $ 89,676  $ 91,617  $ (1,941)  (2)%

Domestic other investments ...................................................... 55,232  54,050  1,182  2 %

International office investments ................................................ 55,886  81,116  (25,230)  (31)%

International other investments ................................................. 29,778  29,121  657  2 %

Total same-store properties .................................................... $ 230,572  $ 255,904  $ (25,332)  (10)%

Disposed properties (2) ................................................................. 27,238  69,755  (42,517)  (61)%

Total property revenues in excess of expenses ........................ $ 257,810  $ 325,659  $ (67,849)  (21)%

        
Other        

Depreciation and amortization .................................................... $ 138,503  $ 174,110  $ (35,607)  (20)%

Impairment losses ........................................................................ $ 7,124  $ —  $ 7,124  — %

Gain (loss) on derivative instruments .......................................... $ (634)  $ (689)  $ 55  (8)%

Gain on sale of real estate investments ........................................ $ 364,325  $ 127,294  $ 237,031  186 %

Interest expense ........................................................................... $ 59,461  $ 64,473  $ (5,012)  (8)%

Income tax provision (benefit) .................................................... $ (8,705)  $ 7,326  $ (16,031)  (219)%

Provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate .............. $ 12,911  $ —  $ 12,911  — %

 
(1) Property revenues in excess of expenses include total revenues less property operating expenses, real property taxes and 

property management fees. 
 

(2) Includes the property revenues in excess of expenses for the properties that were sold in 2016 and 2017. 
 

International office investments: 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of 25 Cabot Square decreased $17.3 million, primarily due to vacancies at the 
building and increases in property operating expenses caused by a large refurbishment and expansion project.  25 
Cabot Square was 59% leased at December 31, 2017, compared to 100% leased at December 31, 2016. 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses of Perspective Défense decreased $9.5 million, primarily due to a decrease in the 
average occupancy during the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, 
as well as a $2.2 million termination payment received during the year ended December 31, 2016.  A tenant 
representing 53% of the net rentable area of Perspective Défense vacated as of September 2016. 

◦  Revenues in excess of expenses at 465 Victoria increased $1.5 million, primarily due to a $2.2 million lease 
termination payment received during the year ended December 31, 2017. 
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Other Changes 
 
The decrease in depreciation and amortization in the table above is primarily due to the sales of several of our properties 

during 2016 and 2017 and lower amortization of our intangible lease assets. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2017, we determined that one of our investment properties was impaired, as a result of 

deteriorating market conditions. As a result, an impairment loss of $7.1 million was recorded to write down its carrying value to 
its fair value for the year ended December 31, 2017.  No impairment charges were recorded for the year ended December 31, 
2016. 

 
The increase in the gain on sale of real estate investments in the table above is due to the gain recognized upon the sales of 

six properties during 2017.  One property was sold during the year ended December 31, 2016.  The gains on the sales of the 
Brindleyplace Project and Mercedes Benz Bank are recognized net of foreign exchange losses that had been recognized as 
other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity, and reclassified into earnings upon the sales of the properties. 

 
The decrease in the interest expense in the table above is primarily due to our lower debt principal balance offset by an 

increase in interest rates for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
The increase in our income tax benefit is primarily due to the restructuring of certain of our Polish subsidiaries resulting 

from recent changes in tax laws in Poland. 
 
The increase in the provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate is due to capital gains taxes incurred upon the 

sale of Mercedes Benz Bank in July 2017. 
 
Other Expenses 
 
The tables below provide details relating to our acquisition-related expenses, asset management and acquisition fees and 

general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  All amounts in thousands, except 
percentages: 
 

 Years Ended December 31, Change 

 2017 2016 $ % 

Acquisition fees ................................................................... $ — $ 191 $ (191) (100)%

Asset management fees ....................................................... $ 37,949 $ 36,810 $ 1,139 3 %

Asset management and acquisition fees .............................. $ 37,949 $ 37,001 $ 948 3 %

     

Acquisition-related expenses ............................................... $ 127 $ 372 $ (245) (66)%

General and administrative expenses .................................. $ 9,250 $ 11,149 $ (1,899) (17)%

Foreign currency gains (losses) ........................................... $ 10,046 $ (8,240) $ 18,286 (222)%

 
The changes identified in the table above are primarily due to the following: 
 

•  Acquisition fees and acquisition-related expenses decreased because we did not complete any acquisitions in 2017. 

 

•  We pay monthly asset management fees to the Advisor based on an annual fee of 1.5% of the net equity capital 
invested in real estate, which may be affected by the timing of the property sales, amounts of equity invested in 
properties that are sold, capital expenditures and changes in the leverage of our properties.  

 

•  General and administrative expenses include legal and accounting fees, printing and mailing costs, insurance costs, 
costs and expenses associated with our board of directors and other administrative expenses. The decrease is due to a 
reduction of certain costs associated with evaluating various strategic alternatives to execute a liquidity event. 

 

•  See below for a description of the changes related to foreign currency gains (losses). 
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Foreign Currency Gains (Losses) 
 
Our international real estate investments use functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The financial statements for 

these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate 
in effect as of the balance sheet date while income statement accounts are translated using the average exchange rate for the 
period and significant nonrecurring transactions using the rate on the transaction date. Gains or losses resulting from translation 
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. By contrast, gains and losses 
related to transactions denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency are recorded in foreign currency 
gains (losses) on the consolidated statement of operations. An exception is made where an intercompany loan or advance is 
deemed to be of a long-term investment nature, in which instance foreign currency transaction gains or losses are included in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. 
 

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, these gains/losses were primarily related to the effect of remeasuring 
our borrowings denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies and the changes to the related exchange rates 
between the date of the borrowing and the end of each period. 

 
Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations 

 
Funds from Operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP financial performance measure defined by the National Association of 

Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) and is widely recognized by investors and analysts as one measure of operating 
performance of a real estate company. FFO excludes items such as real estate depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and 
amortization, as applied in accordance with GAAP, implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably 
over time and also assumes that such assets are adequately maintained and renovated as required in order to maintain their 
value. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions such as occupancy rates, rental rates, 
inflation, interest rates, the business cycle, unemployment and consumer spending, it is management’s view, and we believe the 
view of many industry investors and analysts, that the presentation of operating results for real estate companies using historical 
cost accounting alone is insufficient. In addition, FFO excludes gains and losses from the sale of real estate and impairment 
charges related to depreciable real estate assets and in-substance real estate equity investments, which we believe provides 
management and investors with a helpful additional measure of the historical performance of our real estate portfolio, as it 
allows for comparisons, year to year, that reflect the impact on operations from trends in items such as occupancy rates, rental 
rates, operating costs, general and administrative expenses and interest costs. A property will be evaluated for impairment if 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (i.e. the carrying amount exceeds the total 
estimated undiscounted future cash flows from the property). Undiscounted future cash flows are based on anticipated 
operating performance, including estimated future net rental and lease revenues, net proceeds on the sale of the property, and 
certain other ancillary cash flows. While impairment charges are excluded from the calculation of FFO as described above, 
stockholders are cautioned that due to the limited term of our operations, it could be difficult to recover any impairment 
charges. 

 
In addition to FFO, management uses modified funds from operations (“MFFO”), as defined by the Investment Program 

Association, (the “IPA”), as a non-GAAP supplemental financial performance measure to evaluate our operating performance. 
The IPA has recommended the use of MFFO as a supplemental measure for publicly registered, non-listed REITs to enhance 
the assessment of the operating performance of a non-listed REIT. MFFO is not equivalent to our net income or loss as 
determined under GAAP, and MFFO may not be useful as a measure of the long-term operating performance of our 
investments or as a comparative measure to other publicly registered, non-listed REITs if we do not continue to operate with a 
limited life and targeted exit strategy, as currently intended and described herein. MFFO includes funds generated by the 
operations of our real estate investments and funds used in our corporate-level operations. MFFO is based on FFO, but includes 
certain additional adjustments which we believe are appropriate. Such items include reversing the effects of straight-line rent 
revenue recognition, fair value adjustments to derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and 
certain other items as described below. Some of these adjustments are necessary to address changes in the accounting and 
reporting rules under GAAP such as the accounting for acquisition-related expenses from a capitalization/depreciation model to 
an expensed-as-incurred model that were put into effect in 2009 and other changes to GAAP rules for real estate subsequent to 
the establishment of NAREIT’s definition of FFO. These changes in the accounting and reporting rules under GAAP affected 
all industries, and as a result of these changes, acquisition fees and expenses typically have been accounted for as operating 
expenses under GAAP for periods through December 31, 2017. Management believes these fees and expenses do not affect our 
overall long-term operating performance. These changes also have prompted a significant increase in the magnitude of non-
cash and non-operating items included in FFO, as defined. Such items include amortization of out-of-market lease intangible 
assets and liabilities and certain tenant incentives. 
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Other adjustments included in MFFO are necessary to address issues that are common to publicly registered, non-listed 
REITs. Publicly registered, non-listed REITs typically have a significant amount of acquisition activity and are substantially 
more dynamic during their initial years of investment and operations. While other start-up entities may also experience 
significant acquisition activity during their initial years, we believe that non-listed REITs like us are unique in that they have a 
limited life with targeted exit strategies within a relatively limited time frame after the acquisition activity ceases. 

 
The purchase of properties, and the corresponding expenses associated with that process, including acquisition fees and 

expenses, is a key operational feature of our business plan to generate operational income and cash flows in order to make 
distributions to our stockholders. MFFO excludes acquisition fees payable to the Advisor and acquisition expenses. Under 
GAAP for periods prior to January 1, 2018, acquisition fees and expenses characterized as operating expenses in determining 
operating net income. These expenses were paid in cash by us, and therefore such funds will not be available to distribute to our 
stockholders. All paid and accrued acquisition fees and expenses with respect to the acquisition of a property negatively impact 
our operating performance during the period in which the property was acquired and will have negative effects on returns to our 
stockholders, the potential for future distributions, and future cash flows, unless earnings from operations or net sales proceeds 
from the disposition of other properties are generated to cover the purchase price of the property, the related acquisition fees 
and expenses and other costs related to such property. Therefore, MFFO may not be an accurate indicator of our operating 
performance, especially with respect to periods in which properties were being acquired. For periods prior to January 1, 2018, 
since MFFO excludes acquisition fees and expenses, MFFO would only be comparable to the operations of non-listed REITs 
that have completed their acquisition activity and have other similar operating characteristics. 

 
Management uses MFFO to evaluate the financial performance of our investment portfolio, including the impact of 

potential future investments. In addition, management uses MFFO to evaluate and establish our distribution policy and the 
sustainability thereof. Further, we believe MFFO is one of several measures that may be useful to investors in evaluating the 
potential performance of our portfolio following the conclusion of the acquisition phase, as it excludes acquisition fees and 
expenses that were expensed rather than capitalized for periods prior to January 1, 2018, as described herein. 

 
MFFO has limitations as a performance measure in offerings where the price of a share of common stock is a stated value 

and there is no net asset value determination during the offering stage and for a period thereafter. MFFO is useful in assisting 
management and investors in assessing the sustainability (that is, the capacity to continue to be maintained) of operating 
performance in future operating periods, and in particular, after the offering and acquisition stages are complete and net asset 
value is disclosed. MFFO is not a useful measure in evaluating net asset value because impairments are taken into account in 
determining net asset value but not in determining MFFO. 

 
FFO and MFFO should not be construed to be more relevant or accurate than the current GAAP methodology in 

calculating net income or in its applicability in evaluating our operating performance. In addition, FFO and MFFO should not 
be considered as alternatives to net income (loss) or income (loss) from continuing operations as an indication of our 
performance or as alternatives to cash flows from operating activities as an indication of our liquidity, but rather should be 
reviewed in conjunction with these and other GAAP measurements. Further, FFO and MFFO are not intended to be used as 
liquidity measures indicative of cash flow available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions to our 
stockholders. Please see the limitations listed below associated with the use of MFFO: 
 

•  As we have recently completed the acquisition phase of our life cycle, acquisition costs and other adjustments that are 
increases to MFFO are, and may continue to be, a significant use of cash and dilutive to the value of an investment in our 
shares. 

 
•  MFFO excludes acquisition fees payable to the Advisor and acquisition expenses. Although these amounts reduce net 

income, under GAAP for periods prior to January 1, 2018, we generally have funded such costs with proceeds from our 
public offerings and acquisition-related indebtedness (and, solely with respect to acquisition-related costs incurred in 
connection with our acquisition of the Brindleyplace Project in July 2010, equity capital contributions from our joint 
venture partner) and do not consider these fees and expenses in the evaluation of our operating performance and 
determining MFFO. 

 
•  We use interest rate swap contracts and interest rate caps as economic hedges against the variability of interest rates on 

variable rate loans. Although we expect to hold these instruments to maturity, if we were to settle these instruments 
currently, it would have an impact on our operating performance.  Additionally, these derivative instruments are 
measured at fair value on a quarterly basis in accordance with GAAP.  MFFO excludes gains (losses) related to changes 
in these estimated values of our derivative instruments because such adjustments may not be reflective of ongoing 
operations and may reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance. 
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•  We use foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability of foreign exchange rates on 
certain international investments. These derivative instruments are typically short-term and are frequently settled at 
amounts that result in additional amounts paid or received. However, such gains (losses) are excluded from MFFO since 
they are not considered to be operational in nature.  Additionally, these derivative instruments are measured at fair value 
on a quarterly basis in accordance with GAAP.  MFFO excludes gains (losses) related to changes in these estimated 
values of our derivative instruments because such adjustments may not be reflective of ongoing operations or may reflect 
unrealized impacts on our operating performance. 

 
•  We utilize the definition of FFO as set forth by NAREIT and the definition of MFFO as set forth by the IPA. Our FFO 

and MFFO as presented may not be comparable to amounts calculated by other REITs, if they use different approaches. 
 
•  Our business is subject to volatility in the real estate markets and general economic conditions, and adverse changes in 

those conditions could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and MFFO. Accordingly, the 
predictive nature of MFFO is uncertain and past performance may not be indicative of future results.  

 
Neither the SEC, NAREIT nor any regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments that we 

use to calculate FFO or MFFO. In the future, the SEC, NAREIT or a regulatory body may decide to standardize the allowable 
adjustments across the non-listed REIT industry and we would have to adjust our calculation and characterization of FFO or 
MFFO. 

 
The following section presents our calculation of FFO and MFFO and provides additional information related to our 

operations (in thousands, except per share amounts) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. As we have 
recently completed the investment phase of our operations, FFO and MFFO are not useful in comparing operations for the three 
periods presented below. 

 Period from 
Inception 

(December 10, 2008) 
through December 

31, 2018 

    

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2018  2017 2016 

Net income (loss) ..................................................................... $ 793,833 $ 465,001  $ 375,607 $ 157,227

Depreciation and amortization (1) ...................................... 1,094,017 106,432  138,503 174,110

Loss (gain) on sale of investment property (2) ................... (1,111,735) (541,401)  (364,325) (127,296)

Impairment Losses(3) ......................................................... 26,305 19,180  7,124 —

Provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate .... 35,757 22,846  12,911 —

Gain on sale from unconsolidated subsidiary .................... (7,196) —  — (7,196)

Adjustments for noncontrolling interests (4) ....................... (31,633) (7)  (2,480) (6,191)

Funds from Operations attributable to common stockholders .. 799,348 72,051  167,340 190,654

Loss (gain) on derivative instruments (5) ........................... (6,303) (2,158)  634 689

Loss (gain) on foreign currency (6) .................................... 40,425 6,012  (8,280) 5,134

Other components of revenues and expenses (7) ................ (25,349) 6,054  20,259 (11,156)

Acquisition fees and expenses (8) ....................................... 223,148 —  127 562

Adjustments for noncontrolling interests (4) ...................... 5,216 (1)  (759) 2,706

Modified Funds from Operations attributable to common 
stockholders .............................................................................. $ 1,036,485 $ 81,958

 
 $ 179,321 $ 188,589

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share ................. $ 4.21 $ 1.68  $ 1.16 $ 0.56

Funds from Operations attributable to common stockholders 
per common share .................................................................... $ 4.56 $ 0.27

 
 $ 0.61 $ 0.69

Modified Funds from Operations attributable to common 
stockholders per common share ............................................... $ 5.92 $ 0.30

 
 $ 0.65 $ 0.68

Weighted average shares outstanding ....................................... 175,106 271,458  276,374 275,914
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Notes to the table: 
 
(1) Represents the depreciation and amortization of various real estate assets.  Historical cost accounting for real estate assets 

in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. Since 
real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, we believe that such depreciation and 
amortization may be of limited relevance in evaluating current operating performance and, as such, these items are 
excluded from our determination of FFO. 
 

(2) Represents the gain on disposition of certain real estate investments.  Although this gain is included in the calculation of 
net income (loss), we have excluded it from FFO because we believe doing so appropriately presents the operating 
performance of our real estate investments on a comparative basis. 
 

(3) Represents impairment charges recorded for 2018 and 2017 in accordance with GAAP. Although such impairment charges 
on operating real estate investments and our investments in unconsolidated entities are included in the calculation of net 
income (loss), we have excluded them from FFO because we believe doing so more appropriately presents the operating 
performance of our real estate investments and our investments in unconsolidated entities on a comparative basis. See 
“Critical Accounting Policies — Investment Property and Lease Intangibles” for additional information regarding our 
impairment charges. 
 

(4) Includes income attributable to noncontrolling interests and all adjustments to eliminate the noncontrolling interests’ share 
of the adjustments to convert our net loss to FFO and MFFO. 
 

(5) Represents components of net income (loss) related to the estimated changes in the values of our interest rate contract 
derivatives and foreign currency forwards.  We have excluded these changes in value from our evaluation of our operating 
performance and MFFO because such adjustments may not be reflective of our ongoing performance and may reflect 
unrealized impacts on our operating performance. 
 

(6) Represents components of net income (loss) primarily resulting from the remeasurement of loans denominated in 
currencies other than our functional currencies. We have excluded these changes in value from our evaluation of our 
operating performance and MFFO because such adjustments may not be reflective of our ongoing performance and may 
reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance. 
 

(7) Includes the following components of revenues and expenses that we do not consider in evaluating our operating 
performance and determining MFFO for the period from inception through December 31, 2018 and for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands): 

 

 Period from 
Inception (December 

10, 2008) through 
December 31, 2018 

     

  Years Ended December 31, 

  2018  2017 2016 

Straight-line rent adjustment (a) ...................................... $ (108,238) $ (6,089)  $ 3,366 $ (26,202)
Amortization of lease incentives (b) ................................ 64,674  19,496  18,693 12,274

Amortization of out-of-market leases (b) ........................ 15,208  (7,353)  (2,130) 2,849

Other ................................................................................ 3,007  —  330 (77)

 $ (25,349) $ 6,054  $ 20,259 $ (11,156)

 
(a) Represents the adjustments to rental revenue as required by GAAP to recognize minimum lease payments on a straight-

line basis over the respective lease terms.  We have excluded these adjustments from our evaluation of our operating 
performance and in determining MFFO because we believe that the rent that is billable during the current period is a 
more relevant measure of our operating performance for such period. 
 

(b) Represents the amortization of lease incentives and out-of-market leases. 
 

(8) Represents acquisition expenses and acquisition fees paid to the Advisor that are expensed in our consolidated statements 
of operations. We fund such costs with proceeds from our offering, and therefore do not consider these expenses in 
evaluating our operating performance and determining MFFO. 
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From inception through December 31, 2018, we declared operating distributions to our stockholders totaling $1,018.7 

million (which does not include $120.5 million return of capital distributions declared from January to December 2018, nor the 
$288.0 million return of capital special distribution declared in December 2017), compared to total aggregate FFO of $799.3 
million and cash flows from operating activities of $587.9 million. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we declared 
operating distributions to our stockholders totaling $56.0 million (excluding Return of Capital distributions), compared to total 
aggregate FFO of $72.1 million. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we declared operating distributions to our 
stockholders totaling $179.6 million and $179.8 million, respectively, compared to total aggregate FFO of $167.3 million and 
$190.7 million, respectively. During our offering and investment stages, we incurred acquisition fees and expenses in 
connection with our real estate investments, which were recorded as reductions to net income and FFO. From inception through 
December 31, 2018, we incurred acquisition fees and expenses totaling $223.2 million. 
 

As noted previously, our cash flows from operations have been insufficient to fully fund distributions paid. Therefore, 
some or all of our distributions may continue to be paid from other sources, such as proceeds from the sale of real estate 
investments and/or cash flows from financing activities.  We have not placed a cap on the amount of our distributions that may 
be paid from any of these sources. 

 
Because we have already sold a significant number of assets and our expectation is to sell the remaining assets in the time 

frame under our Plan of Liquidation, we have determined to stop paying monthly distributions after December 2018.  Any 
future distributable income earned from the remaining properties will be included in the future liquidating distributions to our 
stockholders. 
 
Related-Party Transactions and Agreements 
 

We have entered into agreements with the Advisor, Dealer Manager and Hines or its affiliates, whereby we pay certain fees 
and reimbursements to these entities during the various phases of our organization and operation. During the organization and 
offering stage, these included payments to our Dealer Manager for selling commissions and the dealer manager fee and 
payments to the Advisor for reimbursement of issuer costs. During the acquisition and operational stages, these include 
payments for certain services related to acquisitions, financing and management of our investments and operations provided to 
us by the Advisor and Hines and its affiliates pursuant to various agreements we have entered into or anticipate entering into 
with these entities. We have also entered into several affiliated transactions with affiliates of Hines to make investments and 
provide financing. In addition to the description of the Aviva Coral Gables JV and the @1377 partnership agreement below, see 
Note 6 — Related Party Transactions to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for additional information concerning our Related-Party Transactions and Agreements. 

 
In July 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a limited partnership agreement with an 

affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines Ponce & Bird Holdings LP, a Delaware limited liability company, for the purpose 
of developing a residential/living project in Miami, Florida. Hines served as the initial general partner and as the development 
partner and a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership was the initial limited partner in the partnership, which we refer to as the 
Aviva Coral Gables JV. Hines owned a 17% interest in the joint venture and the Company owned the remaining 83% interest 
through its subsidiary. As compensation for providing development management services, Hines was paid a fee equal to 4% of 
the development project costs. In addition, subject to certain return thresholds being achieved, the Aviva Coral Gables JV 
agreement provided that Hines may receive certain incentive distributions in the event the residential/living project is 
liquidated. The project was completed in April 2015. Hines received total distributions of $21.0 million from the Aviva Coral 
Gables JV in June 2017, which included a return of capital, preferred return distributions, and incentive distributions based on 
the return thresholds set forth in the Aviva Coral Gables JV agreement having been achieved.  These distributions 
represented 37.3% of the total distributions made by the Aviva Coral Gables JV from the sale of the property. 

 
The @1377 partnership agreement provided that, subject to certain return thresholds being achieved, Hines would receive 

certain incentive distributions.  Hines received total distributions of $15.7 million from the @1377 partnership in June 2016, 
which included a return of capital, preferred return distributions, and incentive distributions based on the return thresholds set 
forth in the @1377 partnership agreement having been achieved.  These distributions represented 58% of the total distributions 
from the @1377 partnership. 

 
The WaterWall agreement provided that, subject to certain return thresholds being achieved, an affiliate of Hines would 

receive certain incentive distributions.  An affiliate of Hines received total distributions of $11.6 million from the WaterWall JV 
in September 2018, which included a return of capital, preferred return distributions, and incentive distributions based on the 
return thresholds set forth in the WaterWall agreement having been achieved.  These distributions represented 27% of the total 
distributions from the WaterWall JV from the sale of the property. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a 

current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, 
liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. 

 
Contractual Obligations 
 

The following table lists our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018. Specifically included are our 
obligations under long-term debt agreements (in thousands): 
 

  Payments due by Period 

Contractual Obligations  
Less Than 1 

Year(1) 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 
More Than 5 

Years Total 

Notes payable (2) ......................................... $ 464,253 $ 233,910 $ — $ — $ 698,163

Total contractual obligations ...................... $ 464,253 $ 233,910 $ — $ — $ 698,163

 
(1) Includes $305.9 million in interest and principal payments related to the Term Loan Commitment.  The principal is now 

due in June 2020 under the terms of the Amended Revolving Credit Facility executed in February 2019.  See Note 4 — 
Debt Financing to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details. 
 

(2) Notes payable includes principal and interest payments under our mortgage loans. For the purpose of this table, we 
assumed that rates of our unhedged variable-interest loans were equal to the rates in effect as of December 31, 2018 and 
remain constant for the remainder of the loan term.  Further, for the purpose of this table, for mortgages denominated in a 
foreign currency, we assumed the exchange rate in effect as of December 31, 2018 remains constant for the remainder of 
the loan term. 
 

Recent Developments and Subsequent Events 
 

55 M Street 
 
In January 2019, we sold 55 M Street for a contract sales price of $135.3 million.  We acquired the property in December 

2013 for $140.9 million.  The purchaser is not affiliated with us or our affiliates. 
 

550 Terry Francois 
 
In February 2019, we sold 550 Terry Francois for a contract sales price of $342.5 million.  We acquired the property in 

August 2012 for $180.0 million.  The purchaser is not affiliated with us or our affiliates. 
 

February 2019 Liquidating Distribution 
 
In February 2019, we declared a liquidating distribution of $2.50 per share ($661.0 million in total), to all stockholders of 

record as of February 13, 2019.  This liquidating distribution represented a return of a portion of our stockholders’ invested 
capital from sales of investment property and, as such, reduced their remaining investment in the Company. 

 
JP Morgan Chase Revolving Credit Facility 
 
In March 2019, we entered into an amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility, which resulted in the following changes: 
 
•  a decrease in total commitments to $725.0 million, including $225.0 million to the term loan commitment (“Term 

Loan Commitment”), and $500.0 million available under the revolving loan commitment (“Revolving Loan 
Commitment”); 

•  extended the maturity date to March 4, 2020, subject to three additional six-month extensions at the Company’s option 
and subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. 
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Summit Development Agreement 
 
In March 2019, we entered into a Development Management Agreement with Hines for the construction and development 

of an office building at The Summit in Bellevue, Washington.  Additionally, Hines will be paid a project administration fee 
equal to 2.5% of qualified construction costs. 
 
Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
 

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, 
equity prices and other market changes that affect market-sensitive instruments. In pursuing our business plan, we believe that 
interest rate risk, currency risk and real estate valuation risk are the primary market risks to which we are exposed. 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
We are exposed to the effects of interest rate changes primarily as a result of debt used to maintain liquidity and fund 

expansion of our real estate investment portfolio and operations. One of our interest rate risk management objectives is to limit 
the impact of interest rate changes on cash flows. To achieve this objective, we may borrow at fixed rates or fix and cap the 
variable rates of interest on variable interest rate borrowings through the use of interest rate swaps and caps. We have and may 
continue to enter into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps in order to mitigate our interest rate 
risk on a related financial instrument. We will not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. We 
are exposed to credit risk of the counterparty to these interest rate swap agreements in the event of non-performance under the 
terms of the derivative contracts.  In the event of non-performance by the counterparty, if we were not able to replace these 
swaps, we would be subject to the variability of interest rates on the total amount of debt outstanding under the mortgage. 

 
At December 31, 2018, we had fixed rate debt of $223.1 million and variable rate debt of $455.0 million.  If interest rates 

were to increase by 1% and all other variables were held constant, we would incur $4.6 million in additional annual interest 
expense associated with our variable-rate debt.  Additionally, we have notional amounts of approximately $140.0 million in 
interest rate caps to cap our variable rate debt.  As of December 31, 2018, the variable interest rates did not exceed their capped 
interest rates. 
 

Foreign Currency Risks 
 

We currently have real estate investments located in countries outside of the U.S. that are subject to the effects of exchange 
rate movements between the foreign currency of each real estate investment and the U.S. dollar, which may affect future costs 
and cash flows as well as amounts translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements.  Generally, 
we have entered into mortgage loans denominated in foreign currencies for these investments, which provide natural hedges 
with regard to changes in exchange rates between the foreign currencies and U.S. dollar and reduces our exposure to exchange 
rate differences.  Additionally, we are typically a net receiver of these foreign currencies, and, as a result, our foreign operations 
benefit from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely affected by a stronger U.S. dollar.  See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Results of Operations” for additional information concerning 
the positive impact that increases in the foreign currency exchange rates had on the operating results of our international 
properties for the year ended December 31, 2018. The table below identifies the effect that a 10% immediate, unfavorable 
change in the exchange rates would have on our equity in these international real estate investments and their net income for 
the most recently completed period, by foreign currency (in thousands)(1)(2): 

 

  
Reduction in Book Value 
as of December 31, 2018  

Reduction in Net Income 
(Loss) for the Year 

Ended December 31, 
2018 

EUR ...........................................  $9,766  $14,825 

GBP ...........................................  $15,485  $4,727 

RUB...........................................  $5,218  $299 

 
(1) Our real estate assets in Moscow, Russia were purchased in U.S. dollars and we expect that when we dispose of these 

assets, the sale transactions will also be denominated in U.S. dollars.  Accordingly, we do not expect to have economic 
exposure to the ruble upon disposition.  However, changes in the exchange rate between the ruble and the U.S. dollar 
could result in realized losses recorded in our consolidated statement of operations at the time of sale. 
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(2) Our real estate asset in Warsaw, Poland was purchased in Euros and we expect that when we dispose of this asset, the 

sale transaction will also be denominated in Euros. Accordingly, we do not expect to have Polish zloty exposure upon 
disposition. 
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Hines Global REIT, Inc. 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hines Global REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes and the 
schedules listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of a Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company’s stockholders approved a plan on July 17, 2018, to sell all or 
substantially all of the Company’s properties and assets and for the Company to liquidate and dissolve pursuant to a plan of 
liquidation and dissolution. 
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 
 
Houston, Texas 
March 28, 2019 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008. 
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

 2018  2017 

 
(In thousands, except per share 

amounts)
ASSETS    

Investment property, net .................................................................................................... $ 1,769,955  $ 2,689,276

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................. 244,277  401,326

Restricted cash .................................................................................................................. 16,740  16,884

Derivative instruments ...................................................................................................... —  1

Tenant and other receivables, net ...................................................................................... 68,639  73,341

Intangible lease assets, net ................................................................................................ 226,593  406,257

Deferred leasing costs, net ................................................................................................ 158,378  107,789

Deferred financing costs, net ............................................................................................. 364  1,225

Other assets ....................................................................................................................... 14,765  30,098

Total assets ....................................................................................................................... $ 2,499,711  $ 3,726,197

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Liabilities:    

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ........................................................................... $ 128,397  $ 105,151

Due to affiliates ................................................................................................................. 7,968  10,252

Intangible lease liabilities, net ........................................................................................... 55,521  69,566

Other liabilities .................................................................................................................. 23,728  27,586

Distributions payable ........................................................................................................ 14,468  303,131

Notes payable, net ............................................................................................................. 676,767  1,834,953

Total liabilities ................................................................................................................. 906,849  2,350,639

   
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11) ...................................................................... —  —

    

Equity:    

Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred shares, $.001 par value; 500,000 preferred shares authorized, none issued or 
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 ................................................................ —

 
 —

Common shares, $.001 par value; 1,500,000 common shares authorized as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017; 267,073 and 274,255 common shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively .......................................... 267

 

 274

Additional paid-in capital .................................................................................................. 2,409,529  2,471,004

Accumulated distributions in excess of earnings .............................................................. (688,475)  (968,158)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ............................................................. (128,927)  (128,869)

Total stockholders’ equity ................................................................................................. 1,592,394  1,374,251

Noncontrolling interests .................................................................................................... 468  1,307

Total equity ....................................................................................................................... 1,592,862  1,375,558

Total liabilities and equity .............................................................................................. $ 2,499,711  $ 3,726,197

 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

 2018  2017 2016 

 (In thousands, except per share amounts) 
Revenues:     
Rental revenue ...................................................................................................... $ 292,066  $ 379,188 $ 440,733

Other revenue ....................................................................................................... 16,799  24,461 37,175

Total revenues ...................................................................................................... 308,865  403,649 477,908
Expenses:     

Property operating expenses................................................................................. 73,821  89,043 93,276

Real property taxes ............................................................................................... 38,387  48,566 49,394

Property management fees ................................................................................... 6,928  8,230 9,579

Depreciation and amortization ............................................................................. 106,432  138,503 174,110

Acquisition related expenses ................................................................................ —  127 372

Asset management and acquisition fees ............................................................... 34,332  37,949 37,001

General and administrative expenses ................................................................... 10,473  9,250 11,149

Impairment losses ................................................................................................ 19,180  7,124 —

Total expenses ...................................................................................................... 289,553  338,792 374,881

Other income (expenses):   
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments ................................................................... 2,158  (634) (689)

Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated entity ............................................ —  — 7,504

Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments ....................................................... 541,401  364,325 127,294

Foreign currency gains (losses) ............................................................................ (7,650)  10,046 (8,240)

Interest expense .................................................................................................... (56,700)  (59,461) (64,473)

Other income (expenses) ...................................................................................... 1,546  680 130

Income (loss) before benefit (provision) for income taxes............................... 500,067  379,813 164,553
Benefit (provision) for income taxes .................................................................... (12,220)  8,705 (7,326)

Provision for income taxes related to sale of real estate ....................................... (22,846)  (12,911) —

Net income (loss) ................................................................................................. 465,001  375,607 157,227
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests .................................... (10,219)  (54,657) (2,563)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ................................. $ 454,782  $ 320,950 $ 154,664
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share: ........................................ $ 1.68  $ 1.16 $ 0.56

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding .................................. 271,458  276,374 275,914

Net comprehensive income (loss):     
Net income (loss) ................................................................................................. $ 465,001  $ 375,607 $ 157,227

Other comprehensive income (loss):     

Foreign currency translation adjustment .............................................................. (69)  74,735 (40,647)

Net comprehensive income (loss): ..................................................................... 464,932  450,342 116,580
Net comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests ........... (10,208)  (58,332) 1,251

Net comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ....... $ 454,724  $ 392,010 $ 117,831

 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
(In thousands) 

 Hines Global REIT, Inc.    

 
Common 

Shares  Amount 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

Accumulated 
Distributions 
in Excess of 

Earnings 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

Total 
Stockholders’ 

Equity 
Noncontrolling 

Interests 

Balance as of January 1, 2016 .......... 274,482  $ 274  $ 2,476,744 $ (796,341) $ (163,096)  $ 1,517,581 $ 29,143

Issuance of common shares ................ 9,331  9 94,061 — —  94,070 —

Distributions declared ...................... —  — — (179,823) —  (179,823) (2,077)

Distributions on Convertible Preferred 
Equity Certificates (“CPEC”) ............. —

 
 —

 
— — —

 
 — (3,614)

Redemption of common shares ........... (6,482)  (6) (63,578) — —  (63,584) —

Issuer costs .................................... —  — (41) — —  (41) —

Net income (loss) ............................ —  — — 154,664 —  154,664 2,563

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment ..................................... —

 
 —

 
— — (36,833)  (36,833) (3,814)

Balance as of December 31, 2016 ...... 277,331  $ 277  $ 2,507,186 $ (821,500) $ (199,929)  $ 1,486,034 $ 22,201

Issuance of common shares ................ 9,150  9 91,974 — —  91,983 —

Contributions from noncontrolling 
interest ......................................... —

 
 —

 
— — —

 
 — 33

Distributions declared ...................... —  — — (467,608) —  (467,608) (26,707)

Redemption of CPEC ....................... —  — — — —  — (52,552)

Redemption of common shares ........... (12,226)  (12) (128,095) — —  (128,107) —

Issuer costs .................................... —  — (61) — —  (61) —

Net income (loss) ............................ —  — — 320,950 —  320,950 54,657

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment ..................................... —

 
 —

 
— — 62,248

 
 62,248 61

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment reclassified into earnings  
 ................................................... —

 

 —

 

— — 8,812

 

 8,812 3,614

Balance as of December 31, 2017 ...... 274,255  $ 274  $ 2,471,004 $ (968,158) $ (128,869)  $ 1,374,251 $ 1,307
Cumulative effect of accounting 
changes ........................................ —

 
 —

 
— 1,365 —

 
 1,365 898

Issuance of common shares ................ 6,553  7 59,008 — —  59,015 —

Contributions from noncontrolling 
interest ......................................... —

 
 —

 
— — —

 
 — 70

Distributions declared ...................... —  — — (176,464) —  (176,464) (12,015)

Redemption of common shares ........... (13,735)  (14) (120,424) — —  (120,438) —

Issuer costs .................................... —  — (59) — —  (59) —

Net income (loss) ............................ —  — — 454,782 —  454,782 10,219

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment ..................................... —

 
 —

 
— — (58,323)  (58,323) (11)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment reclassified into earnings .... —

 
 —

 
— — 58,265

 
 58,265 —

Balance as of December 31, 2018 ...... 267,073
 
 $ 267 

 
$ 2,409,529 $ (688,475) $ (128,927)  $ 1,592,394 $ 468

 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

 

 2018 2017  2016 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: (In thousands) 
Net income (loss) .................................................................................. $ 465,001 $ 375,607   $ 157,227

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating 
activities: ..............................................................................................     
Depreciation and amortization ................................................................ 122,487 159,463  193,954

Allowance for deferred tax assets ............................................................ — (11,172)  —

Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated entity .................................. — —  (7,504)

Distributions from unconsolidated entities ............................................... — —  7,504

Foreign currency (gains) losses ............................................................... 7,650 (10,046)  8,240

(Gain) loss on sale of real estate investments ............................................ (541,401) (364,325)  (127,294)

Impairment losses ................................................................................. 19,180 7,124  —

(Gain) loss on derivative instruments....................................................... (2,158) 634  689

Changes in assets and liabilities: .............................................................     
Change in other assets ......................................................................... 11,865 2,767  (6,651)

Change in tenant and other receivables .................................................. 1,788 2,062  (27,065)

Change in deferred leasing costs ........................................................... (122,368) (49,113)  (43,191)

Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses ................................. 39,230 (3,458)  7,471

Change in other liabilities .................................................................... (1,990) (9,626)  (5,145)

Change in due to affiliates ................................................................... (1,784) (10,188)  (1,460)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities .............................................. (2,500) 89,729  156,775

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:   
Proceeds from sale of real estate investments ........................................... 1,325,005 947,882  266,312

Investments in acquired properties and lease intangibles ............................ — —  (30,142)

Capital expenditures at operating properties and developments .................. (76,618) (43,123)  (19,926)

Distributions from unconsolidated entities in excess of equity in earnings ... — —  2,006

Investments in real estate loans receivable ............................................... — (2,296)  (6,182)

Proceeds from collection of real estate loans receivable ............................. — 7,178  46,951

Sale of real estate loans receivable .......................................................... — 10,342  —

Net cash from investing activities ........................................................... 1,248,387 919,983  259,019

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
Contribution from noncontrolling interest ................................................ 70 —  —

Redemption of common shares ............................................................... (123,993) (121,399)  (63,842)

Payment of issuer costs .......................................................................... (80) (40)  (42)

Distributions paid to stockholders and noncontrolling interests .................. (418,126) (120,457)  (89,163)

Redemptions of CPEC ........................................................................... — (52,552)  —

Proceeds from notes payable .................................................................. 343,000 159,000  159,000

Payments on notes payable ..................................................................... (1,195,511) (621,508)  (412,620)

Change in security deposit liability ......................................................... 833 (538)  78

Deferred financing costs paid ................................................................. (455) (425)  (503)

Payments related to interest rate contracts ................................................ (33) (8)  (50)

Net cash (used in) financing activities ..................................................... (1,394,295) (757,927)  (407,142)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ............................................... (8,785) 9,701  (8,319)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash ...................... (157,193) 261,486  333

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year ............... 418,210 156,724  156,391

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year ........................ $ 261,017 $ 418,210   $ 156,724

 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1.  ORGANIZATION 
 

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (the “Company”), was formed as a Maryland corporation on December 10, 2008 under the 
General Corporation Law of the state of Maryland for the purpose of engaging in the business of investing in and owning 
commercial real estate properties and other real estate investments. The Company conducts substantially all of its operations 
through Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating Partnership”) and subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership. 
Beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2009, the Company operated and intends to continue to operate in a 
manner to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes. The day-to-day business of the 
Company is managed by Hines Global REIT Advisors LP (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
(“Hines”), pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company, the Advisor and the Operating Partnership. 
 

On August 5, 2009, the Company commenced its initial public offering of common stock for sale to the public (the “Initial 
Offering”) which expired on February 1, 2013.  The Company commenced a follow-on offering effective February 4, 2013, 
through which it offered up to $3.5 billion in shares of common stock (the “Second Offering”), and ceased offering primary 
shares pursuant to the second public offering on April 11, 2014.  Collectively, through its public offerings, the Company 
received gross offering proceeds of $3.1 billion from the sale of 313.3 million shares from inception through December 31, 
2018, all of which has been invested in the Company’s real estate portfolio. 
 

In recent years the Company has concentrated its efforts on actively managing its assets and exploring a variety of strategic 
opportunities focused on enhancing the composition of its portfolio and its total return potential for its stockholders. On 
April 23, 2018, in connection with its review of potential strategic alternatives available to the Company, the Company’s board 
of directors determined that it is in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders to sell all or substantially all of the 
Company’s properties and assets and for the Company to liquidate and dissolve pursuant to a Plan of Liquidation and 
Dissolution (the “Plan of Liquidation”). The principal purpose of the Plan of Liquidation is to provide liquidity to the 
Company’s stockholders by selling the Company’s assets, paying its debts and distributing the net proceeds from liquidation to 
the Company’s stockholders. 

 
As required by Maryland law and the Company’s charter, the Plan of Liquidation was approved by the affirmative vote of 

the holders of at least a majority of the shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding and entitled to vote thereon at the 
Company’s annual meeting of stockholders held on July 17, 2018. In accordance with Maryland law, the Plan of Liquidation 
provides the Company’s board of directors with the authority to modify or amend the Plan of Liquidation without further action 
by the Company’s stockholders to the extent permitted by then-current law and to terminate the Plan of Liquidation for any 
reason, provided that the board of directors may not terminate the Plan of Liquidation after Articles of Dissolution have been 
filed with and accepted for record by the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland.  If the sale of all or 
substantially all of the Company’s assets is completed as expected, the Company expects to make one or more liquidating 
distributions to its stockholders during the period of the liquidation process and to make the final liquidating distribution to its 
stockholders on or before a date that is within 24 months after stockholder approval of the Plan of Liquidation. There can be no 
assurances regarding the amounts of any liquidating distributions or the timing thereof.  Because the Plan of Liquidation 
follows the Company’s initial business plan and given the Company’s board of directors have the authority to modify, amend, 
or terminate the Plan of Liquidation without further action by the Company’s stockholders, these financial statements have not 
been prepared on the liquidation basis of accounting. 

 
As of March 28, 2019, the Company has $697.2 million of debt scheduled to mature within a year.  The Company does not 

have sufficient cash on hand or other legally binding commitments that can be utilized to repay such debt.  In evaluating the 
Company’s current and projected sources of liquidity to meet the obligations of such debt, the Company has assessed its 
available options and has determined that its plan is to repay such obligations with proceeds from the sale of assets pursuant to 
the Plan of Liquidation.  To the extent such proceeds are not sufficient, the Company has determined it is probable that it will 
either meet the covenant requirements necessary to exercise the extension options on its Revolving Credit Facility (as defined 
in Note 4) or that market-based alternatives to refinance the maturing debt will be available and that these actions will provide 
the necessary cash flows to repay the maturing debt. 

 
The company sold interests in six properties for an aggregate sales price of $1.0 billion during 2017, and 20 properties in 

2018 for an aggregate sales price of $1.7 billion.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company owned interests in 14 real estate 
investments, consisting of the following types of investments: 
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•  Domestic office investments (5 investments) 
•  Domestic other investments (4 investments) 
•  International office investments (4 investments) 
•  International other investments (1 investments) 

 
Additionally, the Company sold two of its domestic office properties in early 2019, 55 M Street and 550 Terry Francois.  See 

Note 13 — Subsequent Events for more information on these property sales. 
 

Noncontrolling Interests 
 
On January 7, 2009, the Company and Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership (“HALP”), an affiliate of the 

Advisor, formed Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating Partnership”). The Company conducts most of its 
operations through the Operating Partnership. On January 14, 2009, the Company and HALP made initial capital contributions 
to the Operating Partnership of $10,000 and $190,000, respectively and accordingly, HALP owned a 95.0% noncontrolling 
interest in the Operating Partnership. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, HALP owned a 0.01% and 0.01% interest in the 
Operating Partnership, respectively. 
 
2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Use of Estimates 
 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the 
Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingencies as of the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company 
evaluates its assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on 
various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Additionally, application of the 
Company’s accounting policies involves exercising judgments regarding assumptions as to future uncertainties. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of Hines Global REIT, Inc., the Operating 
Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and the joint ventures as well as amounts related to noncontrolling interests. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 
The Company evaluates the need to consolidate joint ventures in accordance with GAAP.  In accordance with GAAP, the 

Company will consolidate joint ventures that are determined to be variable interest entities for which it is the primary 
beneficiary. Further, partially owned real estate joint ventures over which the Company has a controlling financial interest are 
consolidated in its financial statements.  In determining if the Company has a controlling financial interest, it considers factors 
such as ownership interest, authority to make decisions, kick-out rights and substantive participating rights.  Management 
continually analyzes and assesses reconsideration events, including changes in these factors, to determine if the consolidation 
treatment remains appropriate.  Partially owned real estate joint ventures where the Company does not have a controlling 
financial interest, but has the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method. 

 
The Company’s investments in partially owned real estate joint ventures are reviewed for impairment periodically if events 

or circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of its investments may not be recoverable.  In such an instance, the 
Company will record an impairment charge if it determines that a decline in the value of an investment below its fair value is 
other than temporary.  The Company’s analysis will be dependent on a number of factors, including the performance of each 
investment, current market conditions, and its intent and ability to hold the investment to full recovery.  As of December 31, 
2018 and 2017, the Company no longer had any investments in unconsolidated partially owned real estate joint ventures. Based 
on the Company’s analysis of the facts and circumstances at each reporting period, no impairment was recorded related to its 
investments in partially owned real estate joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016. 
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International Operations 
 
The British pound (“GBP”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the United Kingdom, the 

Russian ruble (“RUB”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Russia, the Polish zloty (“PLN”) 
is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Poland, the Australian dollar (“AUD”) is the functional 
currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Australia and the Euro (“EUR”) is the functional currency for the 
Company’s subsidiaries operating in Germany and France. 
 

These subsidiaries have translated their financial statements into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. Assets and liabilities 
are translated at the exchange rate in effect as of the balance sheet date while income statement accounts are translated using 
the average exchange rate for the period and significant nonrecurring transactions using the rate on the transaction date. Gains 
or losses resulting from translation are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity.   
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in foreign currency gains (losses) on the consolidated statement of 
operations and result from the effect of changes in exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than a 
subsidiary’s functional currency, including transactions between consolidated subsidiaries. An exception is made where an 
intercompany loan or advance is deemed to be of a long-term investment nature, in which instance foreign currency transaction 
gains or losses are included as currency translation adjustments and are reported in the consolidated statement of equity as 
accumulated other comprehensive gains or losses.  The Company disposed of its investment in the Brindleyplace Project in 
February 2017 as well as its investment in Mercedes Benz Bank in July 2017. Upon the disposal of these properties, the 
Company realized a loss of $8.8 million related to the currency translation adjustment, which was included in the gain (loss) on 
sale of real estate in its consolidated statement of operations.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company sold 
One Westferry Circus, the German Logistics Properties, the Australia Portfolio and the Poland Logistics Portfolio.  Upon the 
disposal of these properties, the Company realized a loss of $58.3 million related to the currency translation adjustment, which 
was included in the gain (loss) on sale of real estate in its consolidated statement of operations. 
 

Investment Property and Lease Intangibles 
 

Real estate assets acquired by the Company are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives for computing depreciation are generally 
10 years for furniture and fixtures, 15-20 years for electrical and mechanical installations and 40 years for buildings. Major 
replacements that extend the useful life of the assets are capitalized and maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. 
 

For prior acquisitions, acquisition-related costs such as transaction costs and acquisition fees paid to the Advisor were expensed 
as incurred.  Effective January 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-01, stating that any 
acquisition-related costs and acquisition fees to any future acquisitions will be capitalized.  See Recently Adopted Accounting 
Pronouncements below for more information on ASU 2017-01. 

 
The estimated fair value of acquired in-place leases are the costs the Company would have incurred to lease the properties 

to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such estimates include the fair value of leasing commissions, 
legal costs and other direct costs that would be incurred to lease the properties to such occupancy levels. Additionally, the 
Company evaluates the time period over which such occupancy levels would be achieved. Such evaluation will include an 
estimate of the net market-based rental revenues and net operating costs (primarily consisting of real estate taxes, insurance and 
utilities) that would be incurred during the lease-up period. Acquired in-place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized 
over the remaining lease terms. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value is 
charged to amortization expense. 
 

Acquired out-of-market lease values (including ground leases) are recorded based on the present value (using a discount 
rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of the difference between the contractual amounts paid pursuant to 
the in-place leases and management’s estimate of fair market value lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases. The 
capitalized out-of-market lease values are amortized as adjustments to rental revenue (or ground lease expense, as applicable) 
over the remaining terms of the respective leases, which include periods covered by bargain renewal options. Should a tenant 
terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the out-of-market lease value is charged to rental revenue. 
 

Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgage notes payable based upon indications of then-current market 
pricing for similar types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgage notes payable are initially recorded at their 
estimated fair value as of the assumption date, and the difference between such estimated fair value and the outstanding 
principal balance of the note will be amortized over the life of the mortgage note payable. 
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Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment each reporting period if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of the individual property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a comparison will be made of the current 
and projected operating cash flows and expected proceeds from the eventual disposition of each property on an undiscounted 
basis to the carrying amount of such property. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, it would be written 
down to the estimated fair value to reflect impairment in the value of the asset. The determination of whether investment 
property is impaired requires a significant amount of judgment by management and is based on the best information available 
to management at the time of the evaluation.  For the year ended December 31, 2018 the Company determined that three of its 
properties were impaired as a result of deteriorating market conditions. As a result, an impairment loss of $19.2 million was 
recorded to write down its carrying value to its fair value for the year ended December 31, 2018.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2017, we determined that one of our investment properties was impaired as a result of deteriorating market 
conditions.  As a result, an impairment loss of $7.1 million was recorded to write down its carrying value to its fair value for 
the year ended December 31, 2017.  No impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with an original 
maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. 

 
Restricted Cash 

 
The Company has restricted cash primarily related to certain escrow accounts required by several of the Company’s 

mortgage agreements. 
 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial 
institutions in excess of federally insured levels. Management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial 
institutions in an effort to manage the Company’s exposure to any significant credit risk in cash and cash equivalents or 
restricted cash. 
 

In addition, as of December 31, 2018, the Company had $22.2 million of cash and cash equivalents deposited in certain 
financial institutions located in the United Kingdom, Russia, Poland, Australia, and France. Management regularly monitors the 
financial stability of these financial institutions in an effort to manage its exposure to any significant credit risk in cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 

Tenant and Other Receivables 
 

Receivable balances consist primarily of base rents, tenant reimbursements and receivables attributable to straight-line 
rent.  An allowance for the uncollectible portion of tenant and other receivables is determined based upon an analysis of the 
tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates 
and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located.  Tenant and other receivables are shown at cost in the 
consolidated balance sheets, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5.8 million and $3.8 million at December 31, 2018 and 
2017, respectively.  At December 31, 2018, a $10.0 million receivable related to the sale of the Campus at Playa Vista was 
included in Tenant and other receivables, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The receivable is contingent on certain 
leasing conditions being met on or before November 15, 2019. 

 
Deferred Leasing Costs 

 
Direct leasing costs, primarily consisting of third-party leasing commissions, tenant inducements and legal costs are 

capitalized and amortized over the life of the related lease. Tenant inducement amortization is recorded as an offset to rental 
revenue and the amortization of other direct leasing costs is recorded in amortization expense. 

 
Tenant inducement amortization was $19.5 million, $18.7 million and $12.3 million for the years ended December 31, 

2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and was recorded as an offset to rental revenue.  In addition, the Company recorded $4.5 
million, $4.6 million and $4.0 million as amortization expense related to other direct leasing costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
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Deferred Financing Costs 
 

Deferred financing costs consist of direct costs incurred in obtaining debt financing (see Note 4 — Debt Financing).  These 
fees are presented as a reduction to the related debt liability for permanent mortgages and presented as an asset for revolving 
credit arrangements.  In total, deferred financing costs (net of amortization) were $1.6 million and $6.5 million as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017.  These costs are amortized into interest expense on a straight-line basis, which approximates the 
effective interest method, over the terms of the obligations.  For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, $4.2 
million, $4.7 million and $5.0 million, were amortized into interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of 
operations, respectively. 
 

Other Assets 
 
Other assets included the following (in thousands): 

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Prepaid expenses .................................................................................................... $ 1,770  $ 3,021
Deferred tax assets(1) .............................................................................................. 12,654  26,670

Other ....................................................................................................................... 341  407

Other assets ............................................................................................................ $ 14,765  $ 30,098

 
(1) The decrease in deferred tax assets is primarily due to the sales of the Poland Logistics Portfolio and the Australia 

Portfolio.   
 

Revenue Recognition 
 
Rental payments are generally paid by the tenants prior to the beginning of each month. As of December 31, 2018 and 

December 31, 2017, respectively, the Company recorded liabilities of $15.5 million and $16.7 million related to prepaid rental 
payments which were included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes 
rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease including rent holidays, if any. Straight-line rent receivable was 
$44.0 million and $53.9 million as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Straight-line rent receivable 
consists of the difference between the tenants’ rents calculated on a straight-line basis from the date of acquisition or lease 
commencement over the remaining terms of the related leases and the tenants’ actual rents due under the lease agreements and 
is included in tenant and other receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Revenues associated with 
operating expense recoveries are recognized in the period in which the expenses are incurred based upon the tenant lease 
provisions. Revenues relating to lease termination fees are recognized on a straight-line basis amortized from the time that a 
tenant’s right to occupy the leased space is modified through the end of the revised lease term. 
 

Other revenues consist primarily of parking revenue, tenant reimbursements and interest on loans receivable. Parking 
revenue represents amounts generated from contractual and transient parking and is recognized in accordance with contractual 
terms or as services are rendered. Other revenues relating to tenant reimbursements are recognized in the period that the 
expense is incurred. 

 
Income Taxes 

 
The Company has elected to be treated as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”).  The Company’s management believes that it operates in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and 
intends to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that it will remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax 
purposes. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U.S. federal income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  In 2018, 2017 and 2016, income tax expense recorded by the 
Company was primarily comprised of foreign income taxes related to the operation of its international properties.  All periods 
from December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2018 are open for examination by the IRS.  The Company does not believe it 
has any uncertain tax positions or unrecognized tax benefits requiring disclosure. 

 
Redemption of Common Stock 

 
The Company complies with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from 

Equity” which requires, among other things, that financial instruments that represent a mandatory obligation of the Company to 
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repurchase shares be classified as liabilities and reported at settlement value.  When approved, the Company will reclassify 
such obligations from equity to an accrued liability based upon their respective settlement values. The Company has recorded 
liabilities of $8.1 million and $11.7 million in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, related to shares tendered for redemption and 
approved by the board of directors, but which were not redeemed until the subsequent month. Such amounts have been 
included in redemption of common shares in the accompanying consolidated statements of equity. 
 

Per Share Data 
 

Net income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 
for each period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during such period. Net income (loss) per 
common share on a basic and diluted basis is the same because the Company has no potentially dilutive common shares 
outstanding. 

 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

 
In May 2014, the FASB, issued ASU 2014-09 to provide guidance on recognizing revenue from contracts with customers 

(“ASC 606”). This ASU’s core objective is for an entity to recognize revenue based on the consideration it expects to receive in 
exchange for goods or services. The amendments also replace prior guidance regarding the recognition of revenue from sales of 
real estate, except for revenue from sales that are part of a sale-leaseback transaction. The Company has adopted ASC 606 
using the modified retrospective approach effective January 1, 2018. 

 
Rental income from leasing arrangements is specifically excluded from ASC 606, and has been evaluated by the Company 

in its adoption of the lease accounting standard, ASU 2016-02 (described below). The Company has identified its revenue 
streams and finalized its evaluation of the impact on our consolidated financial statements and internal accounting processes 
and determined that accounting for contracts for the sale of real estate will be the primary customer contracts under the scope of 
ASC 606. Upon adoption, we recognized the cumulative effect by increasing beginning retained earnings by approximately 
$2.3 million upon adoption in January 2018. 

 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01 to clarify the definition of a business with the objective of adding 

guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets 
or businesses.  The Company expects that most of its real estate transactions completed after the Company’s adoption of this 
guidance will be accounted for using the asset acquisition guidance and, accordingly, acquisition fees and expenses related to 
those acquisitions will be capitalized.  The Company has adopted ASU 2017-01 as of January 1, 2018. 

 
In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-05 to clarify that a financial asset is within the scope of Subtopic 610-

20 if it meets the definition, as amended, of an in-substance nonfinancial asset. If substantially all of the fair value of assets that 
are promised to a counterparty in a contract is concentrated in nonfinancial assets, then all of the financial assets promised to 
the counterparty are in substance nonfinancial assets within the scope of Subtopic 610-20, including a parent transferring 
control of a nonfinancial asset through a transfer of ownership interests of a consolidated subsidiary. The Company has adopted 
ASU 2017-01 as of January 1, 2018, and has applied this guidance to its sales of real estate. 

 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 that requires the impairment of financial instruments to be based on expected 

credit losses.  The new standard requires a modified retrospective transition approach using a cumulative effect adjustment to 
retained earnings in the first reporting period for with the guidance is effective.  These amendments are effective for fiscal years 
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted for years and 
interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2018.  The Company is currently assessing the impact the 
adoption of this guidance will have on its financial statements. 

 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 which requires companies that lease assets to recognize on the balance 

sheet the right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities. The accounting by companies that own the assets leased by the lessee 
(the lessor) will remain largely unchanged from current GAAP. The guidance is effective for us as of January 1, 2019 using the 
modified retrospective approach. 
 

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, which allows lessors to account for lease and non-lease components by class 
of underlying assets, as a single lease component if certain criteria are met.  Also, the new standard indicates that companies are 
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permitted to recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption in 
lieu of the modified retrospective approach and provides other optional practical expedients. 

 
Upon adoption, we will elect the following practical expedients: 
 
•  The transition method in which the application date of January 1, 2019 is the beginning of the reporting period that we 

first applied the new guidance. 
•  The practical expedient package which allows an entity not to reassess (1) whether any expired or existing contracts 

are or contain leases; (2) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases; (3) initial direct costs for any 
existing leases. 

•  As an accounting policy election, a lessor may choose not to separate the non-lease components, by class of 
underlying assets, from the lease components and instead account for both types of components as a single component 
under certain conditions. 

 
We have completed our evaluation of the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements relating to its leases from both the lessee and lessor perspective. Based on our analysis, we 
have identified the following changes resulting from the adoption of ASU 2016-02: 
 

Lessor Accounting 
 

•  We are entitled to receive tenant reimbursements for operating expenses for common area maintenance. Based on 
guidance in these ASUs, CAM reimbursement revenue is defined as a non-lease component, which would be 
accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. However, we have elected to apply the practical expedient for all of our 
leases to account for the lease and non-lease components as a single, combined operating lease component.  
 

•  Capitalization of leasing costs is limited to initial direct costs. Initial direct costs have been defined as incremental 
costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained. Legal costs will no longer be 
capitalized, but expensed as incurred. There will be no change in our accounting for lease inducements and 
commissions. 

 
•  Our existing leases will continue to be classified as operating leases, however, leases entered into or modified after 

January 1, 2019 may be classified as either operating or sales-type leases, based on specific classification criteria. We 
believe all of our leases will continue to be classified as operating leases, and all operating leases will continue to have 
a similar pattern of recognition as under current GAAP. 

 
Lessee Accounting 

 
•  The Company has ground lease agreements in which the Company is the lessee for land underneath New City that the 

Company currently accounts for as an operating lease. The rental expense associated with this lease was $0.2 million 
and $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and 2017, respectively.  Upon adoption of ASU 2016-02, the 
Company will record a right-of-use asset and lease liability of approximately $3.7 million in the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets. 

 
•  The Company has a ground lease agreement in which the Company is the lessee for land underneath 25 Cabot Square, 

for which we have previously recognized an intangible asset relating to favorable terms of an operating lease.  Upon 
adoption of ASU 2016-02, the Company has determined the lease liability is immaterial and will reclassify 
approximately £58.3 million ($74.3 million converted using an exchange rate of $1.27 per GBP on December 31, 
2018) from Intangible lease assets, net to a right-of-use asset in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 
 

We have evaluated controls around the implementation of these ASUs and have concluded there is no significant impact on 
our control structure. 
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3. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
 

Investment property consisted of the following amounts as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 (in thousands): 
 

 
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017 

Buildings and improvements ......................................................................................... $ 1,475,007   $ 2,255,267
Less: accumulated depreciation .................................................................................... (172,659)  (237,767)

Buildings and improvements, net .................................................................................. 1,302,348  2,017,500
Land .............................................................................................................................. 467,607  671,776

Investment property, net ................................................................................................ $ 1,769,955   $ 2,689,276

 
In 2019, the Company will commence construction of Summit III, a new 374,220 square foot office building at the Summit 

property.   The office space has been fully pre-leased to a single tenant.  The construction project is expected to be completed in 
2020. 

 
Recent Dispositions of Real Estate Investments 
 
The Company sold 20 properties for an aggregate gain of $541.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, six 

properties for an aggregate gain of $364.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2017, one property for a gain of $127.3 
million and one property through an unconsolidated entity during the year ended December 31, 2016.  The table below 
provides information regarding each of the properties sold during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, 
including the acquisition/completed construction price, and contract sales price (in millions). 

Property  
Date 

Acquired/Completed 

Acquisition  
Price/ 

Construction 
Cost Date Sold  

Contract Sales 
Price 

Poland Logistics Portfolio ................ (1) 3/2012, 10/2012 $157.2 11/2018  $159.6 

2300 Main .........................................  8/2013 $39.5 11/2018  $46.6 

Australia Portfolio ............................ (2) 
7/2012, 2/2013, 4/2013, 

10/2014 $422.2 11/2018  $465.0 

Campus at Playa Vista ......................  5/2013 $216.6 11/2018  $330.1 

9320 Excelsior ..................................  12/2011 $69.5 10/2018  $49.5 

250 Royall .........................................  9/2011 $57.0 10/2018  $20.2 

WaterWall Place ................................  7/2014 $64.5 9/2018  $89.5 

German Logistics Properties ............. (3) 
10/2013, 6/2014, 

4/2015 $259.0 8/2018  $359.6 

One Westferry Circus ........................ (4) 2/2013 $124.6 4/2018  $153.5 

Fifty South Sixth ...............................  11/2010 $185.0 12/2017  $258.5 

Hock Plaza ........................................  9/2010 $97.9 12/2017  $141.9 

Mercedes Benz Bank ........................ (5) 2/2013 $70.3 7/2017  $133.2 

Southpark ..........................................  10/2010 $31.2 6/2017  $41.1 

Aviva Coral Gables ...........................  4/2015 $62.0 6/2017  $100.0 

The Brindleyplace Project ................ (6) 7/2010 $282.5 2/2017  $325.1 

Komo Plaza .......................................  12/2011 $160.0 12/2016  $276.0 

 
(1) The acquisition prices for the Poland Logistics Portfolio of approximately €98.2 million and €19.9 million were converted 

to USD based on exchange rates of $1.33 and $1.29 per EUR as of the transaction dates.  The sales price of approximately 
€140.0 million was converted to USD based on an exchange rate of $1.14 per EUR as of the transaction date. 
 

(2) The acquisition prices for 100 Brookes Street, 465 Victoria Avenue, 825 Ann Street, and 818 Bourke Street, (collectively, 
the “Australia Portfolio”) of approximately A$66.5 million, A$88.7 million, A$124.7 million, and A$152.5 million, were 
converted to USD based on exchange rates of $1.02, $1.03, $1.03, and $0.89  per AUD as of the transaction dates.  The 
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sales price of approximately A$645.8 million was converted to USD based on an exchange rate of $0.72 per AUD as of the 
transaction date. 
 

(3) The acquisition prices for Fiege Mega Centre, Simon Hegele Logistics (Phase I and II), and Harder Logistics Portfolio, 
(collectively, the “German Logistics Properties”) of approximately €39.2 million, €60.8 million, and €117.1 million were 
converted to USD based on exchange rates of $1.35, $1.30 (average exchange rate), and $1.08 (average exchange rate) per 
EUR as of the transaction dates.  The sales price of approximately €310.0 million was converted to USD based on an 
exchange rate of $1.16 per EUR as of the transaction date. 
 

(4) The acquisition price for One Westferry Circus of £82.0 million was converted to USD based on an exchange rate of $1.51 
per GBP as of the transaction date.  The sales price of approximately £108.6 million was converted to USD based on an 
exchange rate of $1.41 per GBP as of the transaction date. 
 

(5) The acquisition price for Mercedes Benz Bank of approximately €51.9 million was converted to USD based on an 
exchange rate of $1.35 per EUR as of the transaction date.  The sales price of approximately €117.0 million was converted 
to USD based on an exchange rate of $1.14 per EUR as of the transaction date. Additionally, the Company incurred a €11.3 
million (approximately $12.9 million based on an exchange rate of $1.14 per EUR as of the transaction date) income tax 
provision related to the sale of this property, which was recorded in “Provision for income taxes related to sale of real 
estate” in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 
 

(6) The acquisition price of the Brindleyplace Project of approximately £186.2 million was converted to USD based on an 
exchange rate of $1.52 per GBP as of the transaction date.  The sales price of approximately £260.0 million was converted 
to USD based on an exchange rate of $1.25 per GBP as of the transaction date. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, the cost basis and accumulated amortization related to lease intangibles was as follows (in 

thousands): 
 

 Lease Intangibles 

  Out-of-Market 
Lease Assets 

 Out-of-Market 
Lease Liabilities In-Place Leases  

Cost ................................................................................................... $ 404,662 $ 26,072  $ (99,434)
Less: accumulated amortization ........................................................ (187,581) (16,560)  43,913

Net ..................................................................................................... $ 217,081 $ 9,512  $ (55,521)

 
As of December 31, 2017, the cost basis and accumulated amortization related to lease intangibles was as follows (in 

thousands): 
 

 Lease Intangibles 

 Out-of-Market 
Lease Assets 

 Out-of-Market 
Lease Liabilities In-Place Leases  

Cost ................................................................................................... $ 662,854 $ 69,510  $ (108,043)
Less: accumulated amortization ........................................................ (283,774) (42,333)  38,477

Net ..................................................................................................... $ 379,080 $ 27,177  $ (69,566)

 
Amortization expense of in-place leases was $50.7 million, $70.8 million and $100.3 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Amortization of out-of-market leases resulted in an increase to rental revenue 
of approximately $7.4 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and a decrease 
to rental revenue of approximately $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 
Anticipated amortization of in-place leases and out-of-market leases, net, for each of the years ending December 31, 2019 

through December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands): 
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In-Place 
Leases  

Out-of-Market 
Leases, Net 

2019 ................................................................................................................................. $ 21,897  $ (4,357)

2020 ................................................................................................................................. 20,092  (4,261)

2021 ................................................................................................................................. 15,075  (3,439)

2022 ................................................................................................................................. 12,464  (2,448)

2023 ................................................................................................................................. 10,661  (2,515)

 
 Leases 

 
The Company has entered into non-cancelable lease agreements with tenants for space.  As of December 31, 2018, the 

approximate fixed future minimum rentals for each of the years ending December 31, 2019 through 2023 and thereafter were as 
follows (in thousands): 

 

 Fixed Future Minimum Rentals 

2019 ................................................................................................................................ $ 170,833

2020 ................................................................................................................................ 159,550

2021 ................................................................................................................................ 153,021

2022 ................................................................................................................................ 141,913

2023 ................................................................................................................................ 110,320

Thereafter ....................................................................................................................... 818,907

Total ............................................................................................................................... $ 1,554,544

 
During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company did not earn more than 10% of its total rental 

revenue from any individual tenant, respectively. 
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4. DEBT FINANCING 
 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had $678.1 million and $1.8 billion of principal outstanding, 
respectively, with a weighted average years to maturity of 0.9 years and 1.7 years, respectively, and a weighted average interest 
rate of 3.4% and 2.8%, respectively.  The following table describes the Company’s debt outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 
2017 (in thousands, except percentages): 

 

Description  

Origination 
or 

Assumption 
Date  

Maturity 
Date  

Interest Rate 
Description  

Interest Rate 
as of 

December 31, 
2018  

Principal 
Outstanding 

at 
December 
31, 2018  

Principal 
Outstanding 

at 
December 31, 

2017 

Secured Mortgage Debt      
100 Brookes .......................................  7/13/2012  1/31/2018 (1) Variable N/A $ —  $ 28,098

Poland Logistics Portfolio .......................  8/2/2012  6/28/2019 (3) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 

 71,183

Minneapolis Retail Center .......................  8/2/2012  8/10/2019 Fixed 3.50% 65,500  65,500

825 Ann ............................................  11/16/2012  11/20/2018 (2) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 
 63,247

465 Victoria ........................................  2/28/2013  12/3/2018 (2) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 

 41,528

New City ...........................................  3/28/2013  3/18/2021  
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  2.30%  74,861
 

 80,831

One Westferry Circus ............................  5/9/2013  5/5/2020 (3) Fixed N/A —  64,757

The Campus at Playa Vista ......................  5/14/2013  12/1/2018 (2) Variable N/A —  150,000

Perspective Defense ..............................  6/21/2013  7/25/2019  
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  2.18%  80,108
 

 83,853

Fiege Mega Centre ................................  10/18/2013  10/31/2018 (3) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 
 26,898

25 Cabot Square ...................................  3/26/2014  3/26/2020 Fixed 3.50% 157,583  166,951

Simon Hegele Logistics ..........................  4/28/2014  6/15/2019 (3) Fixed N/A —  41,904

818 Bourke.........................................  10/31/2014  10/31/2019 (2) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 

 65,562

The Summit ........................................  3/4/2015  4/1/2022 (4) Variable N/A —  170,000

Harder Logistics Portfolio .......................  4/1/2015  2/28/2021 (3) 
Variable, subject 

to interest rate cap  N/A  —
 

 81,068

Other Notes Payable       
JPMorgan Chase Revolving 
Credit Facility .....................................  4/13/2012  6/29/2019  

Variable 
 4.03% (5)  —

 
 99,000

JPMorgan Chase Revolving Credit Facility - 
Term Loan .........................................  5/22/2013  6/29/2019  

Variable 
 3.98%  300,000

 
 495,000

WaterWall Place Construction Loan ...........  6/29/2012  11/8/2018 (2) 
Variable 

 N/A  —
 
 44,897

Total Principal Outstanding ................    $ 678,052  $ 1,840,277

Unamortized Deferred Financing Fees .........   (1,285)  (5,324)

Notes Payable ..................................   $ 676,767  $ 1,834,953

 
(1) In January 2018, the Company paid off the secured mortgage loan related to 100 Brookes in full. 

 
(2) The Company paid off the secured mortgage in full with proceeds from the sale of the property. 

 
(3) The secured mortgage loan was assumed by the buyer with the sale of the property. 

 
(4) In August 2018, the Company paid off the secured mortgage loan related to The Summit in full. 

 
(5) Represents the weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2018. 

 
As of December 31, 2018, the variable rate debt has variable interest rates ranging from the LIBOR or EURIBOR screen 

rate plus 1.45% to 2.50% per annum.  Additionally, as of December 31, 2018, $140.0 million of our variable rate debt was 
capped at strike rates ranging from 1.0% to 2.00%. 
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JP Morgan Chase Revolving Credit Facility 
 

In April 2012, the Operating Partnership entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for itself and various lenders named in the Credit Agreement.  The Company refers to the 
Revolving Loan Commitment and Term Loan Commitment collectively as the “Revolving Credit Facility.”  As amended in 
June 2015, the borrowings may be denominated in U.S. dollars, British pound sterling, Euros, Australian dollars or Canadian 
dollars with up to $920.0 million maximum amount available under the Revolving Credit Facility. 

 
In March 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to its Revolving Credit Facility, which resulted in the following 

changes: 
 

•  a decrease in total commitments to $725.0 million, including $225.0 million to the term loan commitment (“Term 
Loan Commitment”), and $500.0 million available under the revolving loan commitment (“Revolving Loan 
Commitment”); 

•  extended the maturity date to March 4, 2020, subject to three additional six-month extensions at the Company’s option 
and subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. 

 
For the period from January 2018 through December 2018, the Company made draws of approximately $343.0 million and 

payments of $442.0 million on the Revolving Loan Commitment, and payments of $195.0 million on the Term Loan 
Commitment.  Additionally, from January 1, 2019 through March 28, 2019, the Company made draws of approximately $169.0 
million and payments of $75.0 million under the Revolving Credit Facility resulting in an outstanding principal balance of 
$394.0 million as of March 28, 2019. 

 
Financial Covenants 
 
The Company's mortgage agreements and other loan documents for the debt described in the table above contain 

customary events of default, with corresponding grace periods, including payment defaults, cross-defaults to other agreements 
and bankruptcy-related defaults, and customary covenants, including limitations on liens and indebtedness and maintenance of 
certain financial ratios.  In addition, the Company has executed customary recourse carve-out guarantees of certain obligations 
under its mortgage agreements and the other loan documents.  The Company is not aware of any instances of noncompliance 
with financial covenants on any of its loans as of December 31, 2018. 
 

Principal Payments on Debt 
 

The Company is required to make the following principal payments on its outstanding notes payable for each of the years 
ending December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2023 and for the period thereafter. Amounts are in thousands: 
 

 Payments due by Year 

 2019  2020 2021  2022 Thereafter 

Principal payments ............................................... $ 447,905 (1) .$ 159,881 $ 70,266  $ — $ —
 

(1) Includes $300.0 million related to the Term Loan Commitment, which matures in March 2020 under the terms of the 
Amended Revolving Credit Facility executed in March 2019, as discussed above. 
 

5.  DISTRIBUTIONS 
 

The Company declared distributions for the months of January 2016 through December 2017 at an amount equal to 
$0.0017808 per share, per day. For the months of January 2018 through December 2018, the Company declared distributions at 
an amount equal to $0.0541667 per share, per month ($0.65 per share on an annualized basis).  A portion of the distributions 
declared for the year ended December 31, 2018 was designated as a return of a portion of the stockholders’ invested capital as 
described further below.  Further, on July 17, 2018, in connection with the stockholder approval of the Plan of Liquidation, the 
board of directors determined to suspend indefinitely the distribution reinvestment plan effective as of August 31, 2018. As a 
result of the suspension of the distribution reinvestment plan, all distributions paid after August 31, 2018 have been paid to 
stockholders in cash. 
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From January 2018 through February 2019, the Company paid aggregate Return of Capital Distributions to stockholders 
totaling approximately $4.00 per share, which represented a return of a portion of the stockholders’ invested capital.  These 
Return of Capital Distributions were made up of the following: 

 
•  a $1.05 per share special distribution (the “Special Distribution”) declared to all stockholders of record as of 

December 30, 2017 and paid in January 2018.  The Special Distribution was funded with a portion of the net proceeds 
received from the strategic sale of six assets during 2017. 

•  $0.12 per share resulting from a portion of the monthly distributions declared for the months of January 2018 through 
June 2018, (approximately $0.02 per share, per month), which were designated by our board of directors as a return of a 
portion of the stockholders’ invested capital and, as such, reduced the stockholders’ remaining investment in the 
Company. 

•  Approximately $0.33 per share resulting from the monthly liquidating distributions declared for the months of July 
2018 through December 2018 ($0.0541667 per share, per month), which were designated as liquidating distributions 
and, as such, reduced the stockholders’ remaining investment in the Company. 

•  a $2.50 per share designated liquidating distribution declared to all stockholders of record as of February 13, 2019 and 
paid in February 2019. 

 
Because the Company already sold a significant number of assets and its expectation is to sell all of its remaining assets in 

the time frame set forth under its Plan of Liquidation, the Company determined to stop paying monthly distributions for periods 
after December 2018.  Any future distributable income earned from the remaining properties will be included in future 
liquidating distributions to stockholders. 

 
The table below outlines the Company’s total distributions declared to stockholders and noncontrolling interests for the 

years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, including the breakout between the distributions declared in cash and those 
reinvested pursuant to the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan (in thousands). 

 Stockholders  
Noncontrolling 

Interests  

Distributions for the Years Ended 
Cash 

Distributions  
Distributions 
Reinvested  

Total 
Declared  Total Declared  

December 31, 2018 ......................................................... $ 125,139 $ 51,325 $ 176,464  $ 12,015 (1) 

December 31, 2017 ......................................................... $ 375,851 (2) $ 91,757  $ 467,608  $ 26,707 (3) 

December 31, 2016 ......................................................... $ 85,820  $ 94,003  $ 179,823  $ 5,691  

 

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2018, distributions declared to noncontrolling interests included a distribution totaling 
$11.6 million to an affiliate of Hines, who was the Company’s JV partner in the WaterWall JV, as a result of the sale of 
WaterWall Place. 

(2) Includes $288.0 million related to the Special Distribution funded with a portion of the net proceeds received from the 
strategic sale of six assets during 2017. 

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2017, distributions declared to the noncontrolling interests included a distribution 
totaling $21.0 million paid to the Company’s JV partner in the Aviva Coral Gables JV as a result of the sale of Aviva Coral 
Gables in June 2017. 

 



 

81 

6.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The table below outlines fees and expense reimbursements incurred that are payable by the Company to Hines and its 
affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and amounts unpaid as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in 
thousands): 
 

 
Incurred During the Years Ended 

December 31,  
Unpaid as of December 

31, 

Type and Recipient 2018 2017 2016  2018 2017 

Acquisition Fee- the Advisor .................................. $ — $ — $ 191   — —

Asset Management Fee- the Advisor...................... $ 34,332 $ 37,949 $ 36,810   2,495 2,430

Disposition Fee- the Advisor .................................. $ 16,197 $ 8,203 $ 3,024   — 2,585

Other (1) .................................................................. $ 7,936 $ 7,392 $ 6,875   2,089 1,978

Property Management Fee- Hines .......................... $ 5,988 $ 7,192 $ 7,564   125 146

Development/ Construction Management Fee- 
Hines ...................................................................... $ 2,376 $ 1,405 $ 757 

 
 314 207

Leasing Fee- Hines ................................................. $ 2,405 $ 2,658 $ 4,584   2,361 2,129

Expense Reimbursement- Hines (with respect to 
management and operations of the Company’s 
properties) .............................................................. $ 9,372 $ 11,148 $ 11,835 

 

 584 777

Due to Affiliates ....................................................     $ 7,968 $ 10,252

 
(1) Includes amounts the Advisor paid on behalf of the Company such as general and administrative expenses and offering 

costs.  These amounts are generally reimbursed to the Advisor during the month following the period in which they are 
incurred. 

 
@1377 Development 

 
In June 2012, the Company entered into a $3.2 million mezzanine loan commitment plus accrued interest to provide 

construction financing to the @1377 development, which was developed by an affiliate of Hines.  In June 2016, the borrower 
repaid the outstanding principal balance of the loan upon the sale of the property. 

 
The WaterWall Place JV 

 
In December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement 

with an affiliate of Hines for the formation of the WaterWall Place JV, for the purpose of developing a residential/living project 
in Houston, Texas. Hines serves as the initial general partner and as the development partner and the subsidiary of the 
Operating Partnership is the initial limited partner.  The Company had owned a 93% interest in this joint venture.  An affiliate 
of Hines owned the remaining 7% interest in this joint venture.  In September 2018, the WaterWall Place JV sold WaterWall 
Place.  See Note 3 — Investment Property for information regarding the sale. 

 
The Aviva Coral Gables JV 

 
In July 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement with 

an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines Ponce & Bird Holdings LP, a Delaware limited liability company, for the 
purpose of developing a residential/living project in Miami, Florida.  Hines served as the initial general partner and as the 
development partner and the subsidiary of the Operating Partnership was the initial limited partner.  Hines owned a 17% 
interest in the joint venture and the Company owned the remaining 83% interest through its subsidiary.  As compensation for 
providing development management services, Hines was paid a fee equal to 4% of the development project costs. In addition, 
subject to certain return thresholds being achieved, the Aviva Coral Gables JV agreement provided that Hines may receive 
certain incentive distributions in the event the residential/living project was liquidated. The project was completed in April 
2015.  In June 2017, the Aviva Coral Gables JV sold Aviva Coral Gables.  See Note 3 — Investment Property for information 
regarding the sale. 
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Advisory Agreement 
 

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Company is required to pay the following fees and expense reimbursements: 
 

Acquisition Fee – Effective as of April 1, 2015, the Advisory Agreement was amended in order to reduce the acquisition 
fee paid to the Advisor from 2.25% to 0.50% of the purchase price of each real estate investment the Company acquired or 
originated, including any debt attributable to such investments or the principal amounts of any loans originated directly by the 
Company. 
 

Asset Management Fee – The Advisor receives an asset management fee equal to 0.125% per month of the net equity 
capital invested by the Company in real estate investments as of the end of each month. 

 
During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred asset management fees of $34.3 

million, $37.9 million and $36.8 million, respectively. 
 

Disposition Fee – The Advisor or its affiliates also will be paid a disposition fee of 1.0% of the sales price of any real 
estate investments sold or 1.0% of the Company’s pro rata share of the sales price with respect to the Company’s indirect 
investments.   The Company’s disposition fees related to the sales of wholly-owned properties are included in the Gain (loss) 
on sale of real estate investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (loss).  The 
disposition fee on the sale of @1377 in 2016 is included in Other Income (loss) on the Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and Comprehensive Income (loss), as the sale was made through the Company’s equity method investment. 

 
Special OP Units – Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership, an affiliate of Hines, owns the special units of the 

Operating Partnership (“Special OP Units”), which entitle them to receive distributions in an amount equal to 15% of 
distributions, including from sales of real estate investments, refinancings and other sources, but only after the Company’s 
stockholders have received, or are deemed to have received, in the aggregate, cumulative distributions equal to their invested 
capital plus an 8.0% cumulative, non-compounded annual pre-tax return on such invested capital. 
 

At the sole discretion of the Advisor, the acquisition fees, asset management fees, debt financing fees and disposition fees 
are payable, in whole or in part, in cash or units of the Operating Partnership (“OP Units”). For the purposes of the payment of 
these fees, each OP Unit will be valued at the per-share offering price of the Company’s common stock in its most recent public 
offering less selling commissions and dealer manager fees. Upon the Advisor’s request, each OP unit can be repurchased for 
cash or can be converted into one share of the Company’s common stock. The decision to redeem each OP unit for cash or 
shares is at the Company’s option except in certain circumstances such as the Company’s decision to list its shares on a national 
securities exchange, a liquidation event or upon termination or nonrenewal of the Advisory Agreement for any reason other 
than by the Advisor. The Company will recognize the expense related to these OP Units as the related service is performed, as 
each OP Unit will be fully vested upon issuance. 
 

The Company reimburses the Advisor for all expenses paid or incurred by the Advisor in connection with the services 
provided to the Company, subject to the limitation that the Company will not reimburse the Advisor for any amount by which 
its operating expenses (including the asset management fee) at the end of the four preceding fiscal quarters exceeds the greater 
of: (A) 2% of its average invested assets, or (B) 25% of its net income determined without reduction for any additions to 
reserves for depreciation, bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and excluding any gain from the sale of the Company’s 
assets for that period. Notwithstanding the above, the Company may reimburse the Advisor for expenses in excess of this 
limitation if a majority of the independent directors determines that such excess expenses are justified. 

 
The Company reimburses the Advisor for all issuer costs incurred by the Advisor on the Company’s behalf related to the 

Company’s distribution reinvestment plan offering and the Company’s prior public filings. 
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Property Management and Leasing Agreements 
 

The Company pays Hines fees for the management and leasing of some of its properties. Property management fees are 
equal to a market-based percentage of the gross revenues of the properties managed by Hines or the amount of property 
management fees recoverable from tenants of the properties managed by Hines under their leases. In addition, if Hines provides 
leasing services with respect to a property, the Company will pay Hines leasing fees which are usual and customary for that 
type of property in that geographic area. The Company generally will be required to reimburse Hines for certain operating costs 
incurred in providing property management and leasing services pursuant to the property management and leasing agreements. 
Included in this reimbursement of operating costs will be the cost of personnel and overhead expenses related to such personnel 
located at the property as well as off-site personnel located in Hines’ headquarters and regional offices, to the extent the same 
relate to or support the performance of Hines’ duties under the agreement. 

 
Hines may perform construction management services for the Company for both re-development activities and tenant 

construction. These fees are considered incremental to the construction effort and will be capitalized to the associated real 
estate project as incurred. Costs related to tenant construction will be depreciated over the estimated useful life. Costs related to 
redevelopment activities will be depreciated over the estimated useful life of the associated project. Leasing activities will 
generally be performed by Hines on the Company’s behalf. Leasing fees will be capitalized and amortized over the life of the 
related lease.  Generally, as compensation for providing development management services, Hines will be paid a fee equal to 
3% of the development project costs and as compensation for providing construction management services, an affiliate of Hines 
also will be paid a contractor’s fee of 5% of the total construction costs of the project. 
 

Fees for Other Services 
 

The Company retains certain of the Advisor’s affiliates, from time to time, for services relating to the Company’s 
investments or operations, which may include corporate services, statutory services, transaction support services (including but 
not limited to coordinating with brokers, lawyers, accountants and other advisors, assembling relevant information, conducting 
financial and market analyses, and coordinating closing procedures) and loan management and servicing, and within one or 
more such categories, providing services in respect of asset and/or investment administration, accounting, technology, tax 
preparation, finance (including but not limited to budget preparation and preparation and maintenance of corporate models), 
treasury, operational coordination, risk management, insurance placement, human resources, legal and compliance, valuation 
and reporting-related services, as well as services related to mortgage servicing, group purchasing, healthcare, 
consulting/brokerage, capital markets/credit origination, property, title and/or other types of insurance, management consulting 
and other similar operational matters. Any fees paid to the Advisor’s affiliates for any such services will not reduce the asset 
management fee otherwise payable to the Advisor. Any such arrangements will be at market rates. 
 
7.  NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 

In June 2010, the Operating Partnership and Moorfield Real Estate Fund II GP Ltd., (“Moorfield”) formed Hines 
Moorfield UK Venture I S.A.R.L., (the “Brindleyplace JV”) and, in July 2010, the Brindleyplace JV acquired several properties 
located in Birmingham, England (the “Brindleyplace Project”).  In 2015, LSREF 3 Laser Holdings (Jersey) Limited (“Laser”) 
purchased Moorfield’s interest in the Brindleyplace JV and renamed it Hines Laser UK Venture I S.A.R.L.  The Company 
owned a 60% interest in the Brindleyplace JV and Laser held the remaining 40% interest.  The Brindleyplace JV issued 
Convertible Preferred Equity Certificates (“CPEC”) to Moorfield as a result of their contribution to the Brindleyplace JV.  Each 
CPEC was convertible into one capital share of the Brindleyplace JV at any time. The Brindleyplace JV had the option to have 
the CPECs redeemed at any time prior to the earlier of the liquidation of the Brindleyplace Project or their expiration on July 7, 
2059. If redeemed, they were required to be redeemed at a price of £1 per CPEC, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions 
thereon. In February 2017, all of the outstanding CPECs were redeemed upon the sale of the Brindleyplace Project. 

 
In June 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement (as 

amended) with Flagship Capital, GP for the formation of Flagship Capital Partners Fund, LP (the “Flagship JV”) for the 
purpose of originating real estate loans. The Company owns a 97% interest in the Flagship JV and Flagship Capital, GP owns 
the remaining 3% interest. Flagship Capital, GP serves as the general partner and will manage the day-to-day activities of the 
Flagship JV. Both partners have equal voting rights and distributions from the Flagship JV will initially be paid to the fund 
partners based on their pro rata ownership.  In accordance with the partnership agreement that governs the Flagship Capital JV, 
distributions are declared and paid when the joint venture has available cash (all cash held by the joint venture less what is 
reasonably needed to reserve or satisfy cash needs) with respect to an investment made by the joint venture.  The Flagship 
Capital JV declared distributions to the noncontrolling interest partner for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $1.2 
million and $1.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, there were no remaining real estate loans owned by the 
Flagship JV and the partners consented to the voluntary winding up and termination of the Flagship JV. 
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In July 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement with 

an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines Ponce & Bird Holdings LP (the “Aviva Coral Gables JV”), a Delaware limited 
liability company, for the purpose of developing a residential/living project in Miami, Florida.  Hines serves as the initial 
general partner and as the development partner and the subsidiary of the Operating Partnership is the initial limited partner. The 
Company had an 83% interest in this joint venture. An affiliate of Hines owned the remaining 17% interest in this joint venture.  
The Aviva Coral Gables JV declared distributions to the noncontrolling interest partner for the years ended December 31, 2017, 
and 2016 of $21.2 million, and $0.6 million, respectively.  The distributions in the year ended December 31, 2017 include 
distributions declared as a result of the sale of Aviva Coral Gables in June 2017. 
 

In December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement 
with an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines One WaterWall Holdings LP (the “WaterWall Place JV”), a Delaware 
limited liability company, for the purpose of developing a residential/living project in Houston, Texas. Hines serves as the 
initial general partner and as the development partner and the subsidiary of the Operating Partnership is the initial limited 
partner.  The Company has a 93% interest in this joint venture.  An affiliate of Hines owns the remaining 7% interest in this 
joint venture. The WaterWall Place JV declared distributions to the noncontrolling interest partner for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 of $11.8 million, $0.2 million, and $0.3 million, respectively.  The distributions in the year 
ended December 31, 2018 include distributions declared as a result of the sale of WaterWall Place in September 2018. 
 
8.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 

Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities the Company has the ability to access.  Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize inputs other than quoted 
prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include 
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and inputs other than quoted prices observable for the asset or 
liability, such as interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs are unobservable 
inputs for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. In 
instances in which the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the 
fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety has been determined is based on the lowest level 
input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular 
input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability. 
 

Financial Instruments Measured on a Recurring Basis 
 
The Company entered into several interest rate contracts as economic hedges against the variability of future interest rates 

on its variable interest rate borrowings. The valuation of these derivative instruments is determined based on assumptions that 
management believes market participants would use in pricing, using widely accepted valuation techniques including 
discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the 
derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and 
implied volatilities. The fair values of interest rate contracts have been determined using the market standard methodology of 
netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or 
receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived 
from observable market interest rate curves. 
 

Although the Company has determined the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate contracts fall within Level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as 
estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by the Company and its counterparties, Crédit Agricole, 
Bank Zachnodni WBK, and ING Capital Markets.  In adjusting the fair values of its derivative contracts for the effect of 
nonperformance risk, the Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as 
collateral postings, thresholds and guarantees. However, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has assessed the 
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has 
determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuations of its derivatives. As a result, the 
Company has determined its derivative valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 
Additionally, the Company has entered into foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability 

of foreign exchange rates. The valuation of these forward contracts is determined based on assumptions that management 
believes market participants would use in pricing, using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow 
analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including 
the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including currency exchange rate curves and implied 
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volatilities. The Company has determined its foreign currency forward contracts valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy, as they are based on observable inputs but are not traded in active markets. 
 

Financial Instruments Fair Value Disclosures 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company estimated that the fair value of its notes payable, which had a book value 
(excluding any unamortized discount or premium and deferred financing costs) of $678.1 million, was $679.3 million. As of 
December 31, 2017, the Company estimated that the fair value of its notes payable, which had a book value (excluding any 
unamortized discount or premium) of $1.8 billion, was $1.8 billion. Management has utilized available market information, 
such as interest rate and spread assumptions of notes payable with similar terms and remaining maturities, to estimate the 
amounts required to be disclosed. Although the Company has determined the majority of the inputs used to value its notes 
payable fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit quality adjustments associated with its fair value of notes 
payable utilize Level 3 inputs.  However, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has assessed the significance of the 
impact of the credit quality adjustments on the overall valuations of its fair market value of notes payable and has determined 
that they are not significant. As a result, the Company has determined these financial instruments utilize Level 2 inputs. Since 
such amounts are estimates that are based on limited available market information for similar transactions, there can be no 
assurance that the disclosed values could be realized. 
 

Other financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis include cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, tenant and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, other liabilities, due to affiliates and distributions 
payable.  The carrying value of these items reasonably approximates their fair value based on their highly-liquid nature and/or 
short-term maturities. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, Level 1 inputs are utilized to estimate the fair value of 
the cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and Level 2 inputs are utilized to estimate the fair value of the remaining 
financial instruments. 
 

Financial Instruments Measured on a Nonrecurring Basis 
 

Certain long-lived assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are not measured at fair value on 
an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments (i.e., impairments) in certain circumstances.  The fair value 
methodologies used to measure long-lived assets are described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — 
Investment Property and Lease Intangibles.  The inputs associated with the valuation of long-lived assets are generally included 
in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as discussed below. 

 
Impairment of Investment Property 
 
Investment properties are reviewed for impairment at each reporting period if events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company determined that three of 
its properties (two properties of which were measured using executed purchase and sale agreements which are considered level 
2 inputs, and one property of which was measured using level 3 inputs) of its properties were impaired as a result of 
deteriorating market conditions.  For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company determined that one of its properties 
was impaired as a result of deteriorating market conditions.  No impairment charges were recorded during the year ended 
December 31, 2016. 
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The changes in assumptions resulted in the net book value of the assets exceeding the projected undiscounted cash flows 
for the property. As a result, the assets were written down to fair value.  The following table summarizes activity for the 
Company’s assets measured at fair value, on a non-recurring basis, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in 
thousands). 

  Basis of Fair Value Measurements 

During the year ended  Description  

Fair 
Value of 
Assets 

Quoted Prices
In Active  

Markets for  
Identical Items 

(Level 1) 

Significant
Other  

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2) 

Significant 
Unobservable  

Inputs 
(Level 3)  

Impairment
Loss 

December 31, 2018 ........  
Investment 

property  $ 138,550 $ — $ 68,250 $ 70,300
 
 $ 19,180

December 31, 2017 ........  
Investment 

property  $ 25,700 $ — $ — $ 25,700
 
 $ 7,124

December 31, 2016 ........  
Investment 

property  $ — $ — $ — $ —
 
 $ —

 
The Company’s estimated fair value of the investment properties measured using level 3 inputs were based on comparisons 

of recent market activity and discounted cash flow models, which include estimates of property-specific inflows and outflows 
over a specific holding period.  Significant unobservable quantitative inputs used in determining the fair value of the 
investment property for the period ended December 31, 2018 include: a discount rate of 9.0%; a capitalization rate of 8.0%; 
stabilized occupancy rate of 90.0%; and a current market rental rate of $25.00 per square foot.  Significant unobservable 
quantitative inputs used in determining the fair value of the investment property for the period ended December 31, 2017 
include: a discount rate of 9.0%; a capitalization rate of 7.5%; stabilized occupancy rate of 92.5%; and a current market rental 
rate of $28.00 per square foot.  These inputs are based on the location, type and nature of each property, current and anticipated 
market conditions, and management’s knowledge and expertise in real estate. 

 
9. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS 
 

The Company’s real estate investments are geographically diversified and management evaluates the operating 
performance of each at an individual investment level and considers each investment to be an operating segment. The Company 
has aggregated all of its operating segments into four reportable segments based on the location of the segment and the 
underlying asset class.  Management has aggregated the Company’s investments that are not office properties in “other” based 
on the geographic location of the investment due to the Company’s ownership of interests in various different types of 
investments that do not stand alone as their own reportable segment. 

 
•  Domestic office investments (5 investments) 
•  Domestic other investments (4 investments) 
•  International office investments (4 investments) 
•  International other investments (1 investments) 

 
The tables below provide additional information related to each of the Company’s segments, geographic location and a 

reconciliation to the Company’s net income (loss), as applicable.  “Corporate-Level Accounts” includes amounts incurred by 
the corporate-level entities which are not allocated to any of the reportable segments (all amounts are in thousands, except for 
percentages): 

  Years Ended December 31, 

  2018 2017  2016 

Total Revenue     

 Domestic office investments ............................................................ $ 123,475 $ 173,949  $ 177,048

 Domestic other investments ............................................................. 85,952 93,748  123,384

 International office investments ....................................................... 70,368 92,617  110,308

 International other investments ........................................................ 29,070 43,335  67,168

Total Revenue ........................................................................................ $ 308,865 $ 403,649  $ 477,908

 
 



 

87 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s total revenue was attributable to the following 

countries: 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2018 2017  2016 

United States ........................................................................................... 68% 65%  62%

United Kingdom ...................................................................................... 8% 9%  15%

Australia .................................................................................................. 8% 9%  7%

Poland ..................................................................................................... 7% 6%  5%

Germany .................................................................................................. 4% 6%  5%

Russia ...................................................................................................... 3% 3%  3%

France ...................................................................................................... 2% 2%  3%

 
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s property revenues in excess of expenses by 

segment was as follows: 

  Years Ended December 31, 

  2018 2017  2016 

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)    

 Domestic office investments ............................................................ $ 77,242 $ 108,638  $ 113,763

 Domestic other investments ............................................................. 53,692 59,218  78,729

 International office investments ....................................................... 39,005 57,966  85,986

 International other investments ........................................................ 19,790 31,988  47,181

Total property revenues in excess of expenses .................................... $ 189,729 $ 257,810  $ 325,659

 
(1) Revenues less property operating expenses, real property taxes and property management fees. 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s total assets by segment was as follows: 
 

  Years Ended December 31, 

  2018  2017 

Total Assets    

 Domestic office investments .......................................................................................... $ 913,982  $ 1,146,312

 Domestic other investments ........................................................................................... 715,919  794,558

 International office investments ..................................................................................... 640,319  1,053,971

 International other investments ...................................................................................... 33,905  429,827

 Corporate-level accounts ................................................................................................ 195,586  301,529

Total Assets .......................................................................................................................... $ 2,499,711  $ 3,726,197
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For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s total assets were attributable to the following countries: 
 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2018  2017 

United States ......................................................................................................................... 73%  59%

United Kingdom .................................................................................................................... 14%  11%

Poland ................................................................................................................................... 5%  8%

France .................................................................................................................................... 5%  4%

Russia .................................................................................................................................... 2%  2%

Australia ................................................................................................................................ 1%  9%

Germany ................................................................................................................................ —%  7%

 
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 the Company’s reconciliation to the Company’s property revenues 

in excess of expenses is as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2018 2017  2016 

Reconciliation to property revenues in excess of expenses     

Net income (loss) .................................................................................... $ 465,001 $ 375,607  $ 157,227

Depreciation and amortization ................................................................ 106,432 138,503  174,110

Acquisition related expenses ................................................................... — 127  372

Asset management and acquisition fees .................................................. 34,332 37,949  37,001

General and administrative expenses ...................................................... 10,473 9,250  11,149

Impairment Losses .................................................................................. 19,180 7,124  —

(Gain) loss on derivatives ........................................................................ (2,158) 634  689

Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated entity ............................... — —  (7,504)

(Gain) loss on sale of real estate investments .......................................... (541,401) (364,325)  (127,294)

Foreign currency (gains) losses ............................................................... 7,650 (10,046)  8,240

Interest expense ....................................................................................... 56,700 59,461  64,473

Other (income) expenses ......................................................................... (1,546) (680)  (130)

(Benefit) provision for income taxes ....................................................... 12,220 (8,705)  7,326

Provision for income taxes related to the sale of real estate .................... 22,846 12,911  —

Total property revenues in excess of expenses ........................................ $ 189,729 $ 257,810  $ 325,659

 
10. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES 
 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 (in thousands): 

 2018 2017  2016 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information     

Cash paid for interest .............................................................................. $ 52,559 $ 55,736  $ 59,612

Cash paid for income taxes ..................................................................... $ 40,039 $ 7,292  $ 7,634

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Activities     

Distributions declared and unpaid ........................................................... $ 14,468 $ 303,131  $ 21,178

Distributions reinvested .......................................................................... $ 59,014 $ 91,985  $ 94,071

Shares tendered for redemption ............................................................... $ 8,140 $ 11,695  $ 4,987

Assumption of mortgage upon disposition of property ........................... $ 275,979 $ —  $ 7,965

Accrued capital additions ........................................................................ $ 14,198 $ 10,778  $ 2,602
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

In May 2018, Puget Sound Energy renewed its lease for its space in The Summit located in Bellevue, Washington.  In 
connection with this lease, the Company committed to fund $9.7 million of tenant inducements, to be paid in future periods.  As 
of December 31, 2018, $6.2 million of the Company’s commitment remained unfunded and is recorded in accounts payable and 
accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

 
In September 2018, WeWork signed a lease for space in The Summit located in Bellevue, Washington.  In connection with 

this lease, the Company committed to fund $14.0 million of tenant inducements, to be paid in future periods.  As of 
December 31, 2018, $14.0 million of the Company’s commitment remained unfunded and is recorded in accounts payable and 
accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

 
In December 2018, Amazon signed a lease for space in the new building that is being constructed at The Summit property, 

which is located in Bellevue, Washington.  In connection with this lease, the Company committed to fund $40.7 million of 
tenant inducements, to be paid in future periods.  As of December 31, 2018, $40.7 million of the Company’s commitment 
remained unfunded and is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  
See Note 3 — Investment Property for more information on the building construction project. 

 
The Company may be subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. These 

matters are generally covered by insurance. While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, 
management believes the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
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12. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
 

The following table presents selected unaudited quarterly financial data for each quarter during the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands except per share amounts): 
 

  Quarters Ended 

  March 31, 2018 June 30, 2018 September 30, 2018  December 31, 2018 

Revenues .......................... $ 84,499 $ 85,142 $ 77,589  $ 61,635

Gain (loss) on sale of 
real estate investments ...... $ 19 $ 58,655 $ 157,473

 
 $ 325,254

Net income (loss) ............. $ (10,183) $ 45,436 $ 149,112  $ 280,636

Net (income) loss 
attributable to 
noncontrolling interests .... $ 3 $ 774 $ (10,996)  $ —

Net income (loss) 
attributable to common 
stockholders ..................... $ (10,180) $ 46,210 $ 138,116

 

 $ 280,636

Income (loss) per 
common share, basic and 
diluted .............................. $ (0.04) $ 0.17 $ 0.51

 

 $ 1.04

  Quarters Ended 

  March 31, 2017 June 30, 2017 September 30, 2017  December 31, 2017 

Revenues .......................... $ 106,366 $ 99,812 $ 100,360  $ 97,111

Gain (loss) on sale of 
real estate investments ...... $ 85,188 $ 55,416 $ 74,560

 
 $ 149,161

Net income (loss) ............. $ 98,942 $ 67,150 $ 64,033  $ 145,482

Net (income) loss 
attributable to 
noncontrolling interests .... $ (35,365) $ (18,122) $ 300

 

 $ (1,470)

Net income (loss) 
attributable to common 
stockholders ..................... $ 63,577 $ 49,028 $ 64,333

 

 $ 144,012

Income (loss) per 
common share, basic and 
diluted .............................. $ 0.23 $ 0.18 $ 0.23

 

 $ 0.52
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

55 M Street 
 
In January 2019, the Company sold 55 M Street for a contract sales price of $135.3 million.  The Company acquired the 

property in December 2013 for $140.9 million.  The purchaser is not affiliated with the Company or our affiliates. 
 

550 Terry Francois 
 
In February 2019, the Company sold 550 Terry Francois for a contract sales price of $342.5 million.  The Company 

acquired the property in August 2012 for $180.0 million.  The purchaser is not affiliated with the Company or our affiliates. 
 

February 2019 Liquidating Distribution 
 
In February 2019, the Company declared a liquidating distribution of $2.50 per share, totaling $661.0 million, to all 

stockholders of record as of February 13, 2019.  This liquidating distribution represented a return of a portion of our 
stockholders’ invested capital from sales of investment property and, as such, reduced their remaining investment in the 
Company. 
 

JP Morgan Chase Revolving Credit Facility 
 
In March 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to its Revolving Credit Facility.  See Note 4 — Debt Financing 

for more information. 
 
Summit Development Agreement 
 
In March 2019, the Company entered into a Development Management Agreement with Hines, the Company’s sponsor, for 

the construction and development of an office building at The Summit in Bellevue, Washington.  Additionally, Hines will be 
paid a project administration fee equal to 2.5% of qualified construction costs.  See Note 3 — Investment Property for 
additional information on the construction of the office building for Summit. 
 

***** 
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

None. 
 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with 
the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
December 31, 2017, to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted 
under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities 
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting. Our 
system of internal controls over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Our internal controls over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: 
 

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of our assets; 
 

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and 
 

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control system as of December 31, 2018 was based on 
the framework for effective internal control over financial reporting described in the 2013 Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our 
assessment, as of December 31, 2018, our system of internal control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable 
assurance level. 
 

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm 
regarding control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the company’s independent 
registered public accounting firm pursuant to Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street and Consumer Protection Act, which 
exempts non-accelerated filers from the auditor attestation requirement of section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 
 
March 28, 2019 
 
Change in Internal Controls 
 

No changes have occurred in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange 
Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Item 9B.  Other Information 
 

None. 
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PART III 
 

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 
 

As of the date of this report, our directors, their ages, their year first elected, their business experience and principal 
occupation, their directorships in public corporations and investment companies are as follows: 

Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Jeffrey C. Hines  63  2008  Mr. Hines joined Hines in 1982. He has served as the Chairman of our board 
of directors, and as Chairman of the managers of the general partner of our 
Advisor since December 2008. Mr. Hines has served as the Chairman of the 
board of directors of Hines Global Income Trust, Inc. (f/k/a/ Hines Global 
REIT II) ("Hines Global Income Trust") and Chairman of the managers of 
the general partner of Hines Global REIT II Advisors LP ("HGRIIALP"), 
the advisor to Hines Global Income Trust, since July 2013. Mr. Hines also 
served as the Chairman of the board of directors of Hines Real Estate 
Investment Trust, Inc. (“Hines REIT”) and the Chairman of the managers of 
the general partner of Hines Advisors Limited Partnership (“HALP”), the 
advisor to Hines REIT, from August 2003 through the liquidation and 
dissolution of Hines REIT in August 2018.  He also served as a member of 
the management board of the Hines US Core Office Fund LP (the “Core 
Fund”) since August 2003 through the liquidation and dissolution of the 
Core Fund in December 2018. He is also the co-owner and President and 
Chief Executive Officer of the general partner of Hines and is a member of 
Hines’ Executive Committee. Mr. Hines is responsible for overseeing all 
firm policies and procedures as well as day-to-day operations of Hines. He 
became President of the general partner of Hines in 1990 and Chief 
Executive Officer of the general partner of Hines in January 2008 and has 
overseen a major expansion of the firm’s personnel, financial resources, 
domestic and foreign market penetration, products and services. He has been 
a major participant in the development of the Hines domestic and 
international acquisition program and currently oversees a portfolio of 
$120.6 billion in assets under management.  Mr. Hines graduated from 
Williams College with a B.A. in Economics and received his M.B.A. from 
Harvard Business School. 
 
We believe that Mr. Hines’ career, spanning more than 35 years in the 
commercial real estate industry, including his leadership of Hines, and the 
depth of his knowledge of Hines and its affiliates, qualifies him to serve on 
our board of directors. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Charles M. Baughn  64  2008 

 

Mr. Baughn joined Hines in 1984. Mr. Baughn has served as a member of 
our board of directors and as a manager of the general partner of our Advisor 
since December 2008. Additionally, since July 2013, Mr. Baughn has served 
as a member of the board of directors of Hines Global Income Trust and as a 
member of the general partner of HGRIIALP.  In addition, Mr. Baughn was a 
member of the board of directors of Hines REIT from April 2008 and was a 
manager of the general partner of HALP from August 2003 until the 
liquidation and dissolution of Hines REIT in August 2018. He also served as 
Chief Executive Officer of Hines REIT and the general partner of HALP 
from August 2003 through April 1, 2008.  He has served as the Senior 
Managing Director of the general partner of Hines since 2012. Additionally, 
Mr. Baughn served as the Chief Financial Officer of the general partner of 
Hines from 2012 to 2018.  As Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Baugh was 
responsible for overseeing Hines’ business operations, such as balance sheet 
related activities and bank and other debt financing.  Previously, he also has 
served as an Executive Vice President and CEO-Capital Markets Group of 
the general partner of Hines from April 2001 through 2012 and, as such, was 
responsible for overseeing Hines’ capital markets group, which raises, places 
and manages equity and debt for Hines projects in the U.S. and 
internationally.  Mr. Baughn is also a member of the Hines' Executive 
Committee and a director of Hines Securities, Inc. Until May 2015, Mr. 
Baughn also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Ines Securities, Inc.  
Mr. Baughn has also served as a member of the management board of the 
Core Fund from 2003 until the liquidation and dissolution of the Core Fund 
in December 2018.  During his tenure at Hines, he has contributed to the 
development or redevelopment of over 9 million square feet of office and 
special use facilities in the southwestern United States. He graduated from 
the New York State College of Ceramics at Alfred University with a B.A. 
and received his M.B.A. from the University of Colorado. Mr. Baughn holds 
Series 7, 24 and 63 securities licenses. 
 
We believe that Mr. Baughn’s experience in the commercial real estate 
industry during his more than 34 year career with Hines, including his 
familiarity with Hines’ financial and investment policies, qualifies him to 
serve on our board of directors. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Jack L. Farley  54  2009 

 

Mr. Farley has served as an independent director since June 2009.  Mr. 
Farley has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Apex 
Compressed Air Energy Storage LLC, since January 2011, the year the 
company was launched in order to develop, build, operate, and 
commercialize utility-scale compressed air energy storage assets. 
Additionally, since January 2016, he has served as a board member for Live 
Power Intelligence Company, LLC, which provides real-time power grid 
information to electric power markets.  From 2003 to February 2008, Mr. 
Farley was Senior Vice President of Cinergy Corp., where he was 
responsible for the Power Trading and Marketing group. During his tenure, 
the group had approximately $30 billion of annual physical power sales and 
ranked in the top 15 in the US. Cinergy Corp. merged with Duke Energy 
(NYSE: DUK) in 2006. In October 2007, Fortis NV acquired Duke’s trading 
operations as a strategic enhancement to its nascent US banking activities. 
Prior to joining Cinergy/Duke, Mr. Farley was President of the West Region 
at Reliant Resources, Inc., where he managed a $1.1 billion portfolio of 
power generation assets, and was responsible for the development and 
construction of two combined-cycle gas turbine projects with a total 
investment of approximately $750 million. 
 
We believe that Mr. Farley’s extensive leadership experience and 
understanding of the requirements of managing a public company, acquired 
during his tenure at Cinergy Corp. and Duke Energy qualify him to serve on 
our board of directors. This experience along with Mr. Farley’s M.B.A. from 
The Wharton School and his involvement in the preparation of earnings 
statements and the compliance process for Sarbanes-Oxley requirements of 
public companies enable him to provide valuable insight to our board of 
directors and our Audit Committee, for which he serves as Chairman. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Thomas L. Mitchell  58  2009 

 

Mr. Mitchell has served as an independent director since June 2009. Mr. 
Mitchell served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
of Devon Energy Corporation (NYSE:DVN) from February 2014 to April 
2017.  Prior to February 2014, he served as the Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer of Midstates Petroleum Company, Inc. (NYSE: 
MPO), formerly Midstates Petroleum Company LLC, an exploration and 
production company, since 2011, and member of the Midstates board of 
directors from 2012 until January 2014. From 2006 to 2011, he was the 
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Controller of 
Noble Corporation (NYSE: NE), a publicly-held offshore drilling contractor 
for the oil and gas industry. From 1997 to November 2006, Mr. Mitchell 
served as Vice President and Controller of Apache Corporation (NYSE, 
NASDAQ: APA), a publicly-held oil and gas exploration, development and 
production company. From 1996 to 1997, he served as Chief Accounting 
Officer and Controller of Apache, and from 1989 to 1996 he served Apache 
in various positions. Prior to joining Apache, Mr. Mitchell spent seven years 
at Arthur Andersen & Co., an independent public accounting firm, where he 
practiced as a Certified Public Accountant (currently inactive), managing 
clients in the oil and gas, banking, manufacturing and government 
contracting industries. Mr. Mitchell graduated with honors from Bob Jones 
University with a B.S. in Accounting. 
 
We believe Mr. Mitchell’s significant leadership experience at four public 
companies qualifies him to serve on our board of directors. In addition, 
through his previous experience in public accounting, Mr. Mitchell is able to 
provide valuable insight with respect to financial reporting processes and our 
system of internal controls. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

John S. Moody  70  2009 

 

Mr. Moody has served as an independent director since June 2009.  Mr. 
Moody has been President of Parkside Capital, LLC in Houston since 
January 2006. Parkside Capital, LLC is the general partner and manager of 
Parkside Capital Land Fund, LTD., a Texas real estate private equity firm 
which invests in raw land in high growth markets in Texas. From January 
2004 to December 2005, Mr. Moody was the President and Chief Executive 
Officer of HRO Asset Management, LLC, a real estate advisory business 
headquartered in New York City, where he oversaw the acquisition of $850 
million of real estate assets. From September 2001 to December 2003, he 
was the President of Marsh & McLennan Real Estate Advisors, Inc., where 
he developed the real estate strategy for the Marsh & McLennan Companies, 
including directing the execution of all real estate leases, projects and 
transactions. Mr. Moody was also the President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Cornerstone Properties, Inc., a publicly-held equity REIT which acquired, 
developed and operated large scale Class A office buildings in major 
metropolitan markets throughout the U.S. During his tenure at Cornerstone, 
assets grew from $500 million to $4.8 billion. From 1991 to 1995, Mr. 
Moody was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Deutsche Bank 
Realty Advisors, Inc., where he oversaw a $2 billion equity and debt 
portfolio. Mr. Moody has been a member of the Board of Directors of Huron 
Consulting Group (NASDAQ: HURN), a publicly-held integrated strategic 
services provider since October 2005. Since September 2006, he has been a 
member of the Board of Directors of Potlatch Corporation (NYSE: PCH), a 
publicly-held REIT with approximately 1.6 million acres of forestland. He 
became the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Potlatch in January 
2009. Mr. Moody also has served as the Chairman of the board of directors 
of Four Corners Property Trust Inc. (NYSE: FCPT) since November 2015.  
Mr. Moody was a member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the 
Compensation Committee of CRIIMI MAE, Inc., a publicly-held REIT, from 
January 2004 to January 2006. He was also a member of the Board of 
Directors and Chairman of the Compensation Committee of Keystone 
Property Trust, a publicly-held REIT, from 2001 to 2004. Mr. Moody 
graduated from Stanford University with a B.S. and received his J.D. with 
honors from the University of Texas. 
 

       

      We believe that Mr. Moody’s significant experience in the commercial real 
estate industry qualifies him to serve as one of our directors. Drawing on this 
experience, Mr. Moody is able to provide valuable insight regarding our 
investment strategies, internal controls and financial risk exposures. In 
addition, through his experience serving on the boards of several public 
companies, Mr. Moody is well-versed in the requirements of serving on a 
public company board. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Peter Shaper  53  2009  Mr. Shaper has served as an independent director since June 2009.  He has 
served as a director and member of the audit committee of HMS Income 
Fund, Inc. ("HMS") since May 2012.  Mr. Shaper also has served as the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Greenwell Energy Solutions, an 
independent specialty chemical supplier to the upstream oil and gas industry, 
since 2012.  Additionally, he is a founding partner of Genesis Park LP, a 
Houston-based private equity firm which was founded in 2000 and primarily 
focuses on buyouts, partnering strategies with public corporations and 
growth financing bringing each company capital, commercial execution 
capabilities and a depth of experience in mergers and acquisitions.  Mr. 
Shaper also was the Chief Executive Officer of Harris CapRock 
Communications, Inc., a global provider of broadband communications to 
remote locations via satellite with revenues of over $300 million from 2002 
through June 2011, when he resigned. From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Shaper was 
the president of Donnelley Marketing, a Division of First Data Corporation, 
where he was directly responsible for the turnaround and eventual sale of the 
$100 million revenue database marketing company to a strategic buyer. In 
1996, Mr. Shaper helped found the Information Management Group, or 
IMG, as its Executive Vice President of Operations and Chief Financial 
Officer. IMG grew to over $600 million in revenue during Mr. Shaper’s 
tenure. Prior to joining IMG, Mr. Shaper was with a Dallas-based private 
equity firm, where he was responsible for investments in numerous 
technology-oriented companies, as well as assisting those companies with 
developing long-term strategies and financial structures. Mr. Shaper also has 
several years’ experience with the international consulting firm McKinsey & 
Company. Mr. Shaper graduated from Stanford University with a B.S. in 
industrial engineering and received his M.B.A. from Harvard Business 
School. 
 
We believe Mr. Shaper’s significant experience as a senior executive officer 
of sophisticated companies such as Greenwell Energy Solutions, Harris 
CapRock Communications, Genesis Park and Donnelley Marketing/First 
Data, as well as his experience founding and leading IMG, qualify him to 
serve on our board of directors. 
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Name  Age  

Year 
First 

Elected  
Business Experience and Principal Occupation; Directorships in Public 

Corporations and Investment Companies 

Sherri W. Schugart, 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
 

 53  2018  Ms. Schugart joined Hines in 1995.  In February 2016, Ms. Schugart was 
appointed as a member of Hines’ Executive Committee. Ms. Schugart has 
served as President and Chief Executive Officer for us and for the general 
partner of our Advisor since March 2013.   Ms. Schugart has also served as 
President and Chief Executive Officer for Hines Global Income Trust and 
the general partner of HGRIIALP since August 2013.  Also since March 
2013, Ms. Schugart has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer 
of HMS and HMS Adviser GP LLC (the “HMS GP”), the general partner of 
the adviser to HMS. Additionally, in February 2014, Ms. Schugart was 
appointed as the Chairperson of the board of directors of HMS.  HMS is a 
public specialty finance company sponsored by Hines, which was formed in 
2011 and intends to make debt and equity investments in companies with 
revenues generally between $10 million and $3 billion that operate in 
diverse industries. Ms. Schugart has also served as President and Chief 
Executive Officer for Hines REIT, the general partner of HALP and the Core 
Fund from March 2013 through the liquidation and dissolution of Hines 
REIT in August 2018 and the Core Fund in December 2018.  Prior to March 
2013, Ms. Schugart had served as the Chief Operating Officer for us and the 
general partner of our Advisor and as the Chief Operating Officer of Hines 
REIT, the general partner of HALP and the Core Fund since November 2011 
through the liquidation and dissolution of Hines REIT in August 2018 and 
the Core Fund in December 2018.  In these roles, Ms. Schugart was 
responsible for the execution of each entity’s business plan and oversight of 
day-to-day business operations, including issues related to portfolio strategy, 
asset management and all other operational and financial matters of each 
entity. Ms. Schugart also served as Chief Financial Officer for us and the 
general partner of our Advisor from inception in December 2008 through 
October 2011. Ms. Schugart also served as the Chief Financial Officer for 
Hines REIT and the general partner of HALP from August 2003 through 
October 2011 and as the Chief Financial Officer of the Core Fund from July 
2004 through October 2011. In these roles, her responsibilities included 
oversight of financial and portfolio management, equity and debt financing 
activities, investor relations, accounting, financial reporting, compliance and 
administrative functions in the U.S. and internationally.  She has also been a 
Senior Managing Director of the general partner of Hines since October 
2007 and has served as a director of the Dealer Manager since August 2003. 
Prior to holding these positions, she was a Vice President in Hines Capital 
Markets Group raising equity and debt financing for various Hines 
investment vehicles in the U.S. and internationally. Ms. Schugart has been 
responsible for arranging and managing more than $10 billion in equity and 
debt for Hines’ public and private investment funds. Prior to joining Hines, 
Ms. Schugart spent eight years with Arthur Andersen LLP, where she served 
both public and private clients in the real estate, construction, finance and 
banking industries. She holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree 
in Accounting from Southwest Texas State University. 
 
We believe that Ms. Schugart’s significant experience as an executive at the 
Company and its affiliates qualifies her to serve as one of our directors. Ms. 
Shugart is able to draw on her extensive institutional knowledge, as well as 
her tenure serving public and private companies at Arthur Andersen LLP to 
provide valuable insight. 
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As of the date of this report, our executive officers, their ages and their experiences are as follows: 

Name and Title  Age  Experience 

Ryan T. Sims, 
Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary 
 

 47 

 

Mr. Sims joined Hines in August 2003. Since November 2011, Mr. Sims 
has served as the Chief Financial Officer and Secretary for us and the 
general partner of our Advisor.  Mr. Sims has also served as the Chief 
Financial Officer and Secretary of HMS and of the general partner of the 
adviser to HMS.  Since August 2013, Mr. Sims has served as the Chief 
Financial Officer and Secretary of Hines Global Income Trust and the 
general partner of HGRIIALP.  In these roles, Mr. Sims is responsible for 
the oversight of financial operations, equity and debt financing activities, 
investor relations, accounting, financial reporting, tax, legal, compliance 
and administrative functions in the U.S. and internationally. Also, Mr. 
Sims has also served as the Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of Hines 
REIT, the general partner of HALP and the Core Fund from November 
2011 through the liquidation and dissolution of Hines REIT in August 
2018 and the Core Fund in December 2018.  From December 2008 until 
November 2011, Mr. Sims served as the Chief Accounting Officer for us 
and the general partner of our Advisor. From April 2008 until November 
2011, Mr. Sims also served as the Chief Accounting Officer of Hines 
REIT, the general partner of HALP and the Core Fund. In these roles, he 
was responsible for the oversight of the accounting, financial reporting 
and SEC reporting functions, as well as the Sarbanes-Oxley compliance 
program in the U.S. and internationally. He was also responsible for 
establishing the companies’ accounting policies and ensuring compliance 
with those policies in the U.S. and internationally. He has also previously 
served as a Senior Controller for Hines REIT and the general partner of its 
advisor from August 2003 to April 2008 and the Core Fund from July 
2004 to April 2008. Prior to joining Hines, Mr. Sims was a manager in the 
audit practice of Arthur Andersen LLP and Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
serving clients primarily in the real estate industry. He holds a Bachelor of 
Business Administration degree in Accounting from Baylor University 
and is a Certified Public Accountant. 
 

     

David L. Steinbach, 
Chief Investment Officer 
 

 42  Mr. Steinbach joined Hines in 1999. Mr. Steinbach has served as the Chief 
Investment Officer for us and the general partner of our Advisor since July 
2014.  Mr. Steinbach has also served as the Chief Investment Officer for 
Hines Global Income Trust and the general partner of HGRIIALP since 
July 2014.  Also, since February 2017, Mr. Steinbach has served as the 
Chief Investment Officer for the general partner of Hines.  In these roles, 
he is responsible for management of the real estate acquisition program in 
the U.S. and internationally.  He has served as a Managing Director of the 
general partner of Hines since February 2011.  He has been responsible 
for the acquisition of over $4 billion in assets for various Hines affiliates 
in the U.S. and internationally.  Prior to this role he served in various roles 
in which he was responsible for acquisitions, asset management and 
property dispositions on behalf of Hines REIT, Hines Global Income Trust 
and the Core Fund, both in the U.S. and internationally.  He graduated 
from Texas A&M University with a Bachelors and Masters in Business 
Administration. 
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Name and Title  Age  Experience 

Kevin L. McMeans, 
Asset Management Officer 
 

 54  Mr. McMeans joined Hines in 1992.  Since December 2008, Mr. 
McMeans has served as the Asset Management Officer for us and the 
general partner of our Advisor.   Mr. McMeans also has served as Asset 
Management Officer for Hines Global Income Trust and the general 
partner of HGRIIALP since August 2013.  Since February 2015, he has 
served as the Senior Managing Director of Investment Management of the 
general partner of Hines.  Prior to February 2015, he also served as a 
Managing Director of Investment Management of the general partner of 
Hines.  In these roles, he is responsible for overseeing the management of 
the various investment properties owned by each of the funds in the U.S. 
and internationally.  Additionally, Mr. McMeans served as the Asset 
Management Officer of Hines REIT and the general partner of HALP 
from April 2008 until the liquidation and dissolution of Hines REIT in 
August 2018.  He also has served as the Asset Management Officer of the 
Core Fund from January 2005 through the liquidation and dissolution of 
the Core Fund in December 2018.  He previously served as the Chief 
Financial Officer of Hines Corporate Properties, an investment venture 
established by Hines with a major U.S. pension fund, from 2001 through 
June 2004. In this role, Mr. McMeans was responsible for negotiating and 
closing debt financings, underwriting and evaluating new investments, 
negotiating and closing sale transactions and overseeing the administrative 
and financial reporting requirements of the venture and its investors. 
Before joining Hines, Mr. McMeans spent four and a half years at Deloitte 
& Touche LLP in the audit department. He graduated from Texas A&M 
University with a B.S. in Computer Science. 
 

     

J. Shea Morgenroth, 
Chief Accounting Officer and 
Treasurer 
 

 43 

 

Mr. Morgenroth joined Hines in October 2003. Since November 2011, Mr. 
Morgenroth has served as the Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer for 
us and the general partner of our Advisor. Mr. Morgenroth has also served 
as Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer for Hines Global Income Trust 
and the general partner of HGRIIALP since August 2013.  In these roles, 
Mr. Morgenroth is responsible for the oversight of the treasury, 
accounting, financial reporting and SEC reporting functions, as well as the 
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance program in the U.S. and internationally.  Mr. 
Morgenroth has also served as Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer of 
Hines REIT and the general partner of HALP from November 2011 
through the liquidation and dissolution of Hines REIT in August 2018.  
Prior to his appointment, Mr. Morgenroth served as a Senior Controller for 
us and the general partner of our Advisor from December 2008 until 
November 2011 and for Hines REIT and the general partner of HALP 
from January 2008 until November 2011 and as a Controller for Hines 
REIT and HALP from October 2003 to January 2008. In these roles, he 
was responsible for the management of the accounting, financial reporting 
and SEC reporting functions. Prior to joining Hines, Mr. Morgenroth was 
a manager in the audit practice of Arthur Andersen LLP and Deloitte & 
Touche LLP, serving clients primarily in the real estate industry. He holds 
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accounting from Texas 
A&M University and is a Certified Public Accountant. 
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Audit Committee 
 

Our board of directors has determined that each member of our Audit Committee is independent within the meaning of the 
applicable requirements set forth in or promulgated under the Exchange Act, as well as in the NYSE rules. In addition, our 
board of directors has determined that Jack L. Farley is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the 
applicable rules promulgated by the SEC. Unless otherwise determined by the board of directors, no member of the committee 
may serve as a member of the Audit Committee of more than two other public companies. 

 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
 

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to our directors and officers, 
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and other persons 
performing similar functions, whether acting in their capacities as our officers or in their capacities as officers of our Advisor or 
its general partner. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics covers topics including conflicts of interest, confidentiality of 
information, full and fair disclosure, reporting of violations and compliance with laws and regulations. Our Code of Business 
Conduct and Ethics is available, free of charge, on the Corporate Governance section of our website, 
www.hinessecurities.com/past-offerings/hines-global-reit/corporate-governance/. You may also obtain a copy of this code by 
writing to: Hines Global REIT Investor Relations, 2800 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 5000, Houston, Texas 77056-6118. Waivers 
from our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are discouraged, but any waivers from the Code of Business Conduct and 
Ethics that relate to any executive officer or director must be approved by our Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee and will be posted on our website at www.hinessecurities.com/past-offerings/hines-global-reit/corporate-
governance/ within four business days of any such waiver. 

 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 
 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers to file initial reports of ownership, reports of 
changes in ownership and annual reports of ownership with the SEC. These persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish 
us with copies of all Section 16 forms that they file with the SEC. To our knowledge, there are no persons who beneficially 
own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities. 

 
Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms received by us or written representations from certain reporting 

persons, we believe that in 2018 our directors and executive officers complied with all filing requirements under Section 16(a). 
 

Item 11.  Executive Compensation 
 
Director Compensation 

 
Our Compensation Committee designs our director compensation with the goals of attracting and retaining highly qualified 

individuals to serve as independent directors and to fairly compensate them for their time and efforts. Because of our unique 
attributes as an externally-managed REIT, service as an independent director on our board requires a substantial time 
commitment. The Compensation Committee balances these considerations with the principles that our independent director 
compensation program should be transparent and, in part, should align directors’ interests with those of our stockholders. 
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The following table sets forth information regarding compensation paid to or earned by our directors during 2018. 
 

2018 Director Compensation 

Name 

Fees 
Earned or 

Paid in 
Cash 

Aggregate 
Stock 

Awards (1)(2) 
Option 
Awards

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation

Change in 
Pension Value 

and Non-
Qualified 
Deferred 

Compensation 
Earnings 

All Other 
Compensation 

Total 
Compensation

Jack L. Farley ........... $87,000 $30,000 $— $— $— $— $117,000 

Thomas L. Mitchell .. $82,000 $30,000 $— $— $— $— $112,000 

John S. Moody ......... $78,500 $30,000 $— $— $— $— $108,500 

Peter Shaper ............. $82,000 $30,000 $— $— $— $— $112,000 

Jeffery C. Hines, 
Colin P. Shepherd, 
Charles M. Baughn, 
and Sherri W. 
Shugart (3) ................. $— $— $— $— $— $— $— 

 
(1) Each of Messrs. Farley, Mitchell, Moody and Shaper received 3,318.584 restricted common shares upon his re-

election to our board of directors following our 2018 annual meeting. The shares were issued without registration 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), in reliance upon the exemption from registration 
contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act for transactions not involving any public offering. 
 

(2) The value of common stock awards was calculated based on the estimated net asset value, or NAV of $9.04 per share 
as of December 31, 2017 which was the estimated NAV per share most recently determined by our board of directors 
prior to the July 17, 2018 grant date of the awards. 
 

(3) Messrs. Hines, Shepherd and Baughn, and Ms. Schugart, who are employees of Hines, receive no compensation for 
serving as members of our board of directors.  Mr. Shepherd resigned as a director and our board of directors elected 
Ms. Shugart to replace Mr. Shepherd, effective December 31, 2018. 
 

We paid our independent directors an annual fee of $50,000, and a fee of $2,000 for each meeting of the board (or any 
committee thereof) attended in person for the year ended December 31, 2018.  We paid each of our independent directors a fee 
of $750 for each board or committee meeting attended via teleconference, regardless of its length.  In the event that a 
committee meeting was held on the same day as a meeting of our board of directors, each independent director received $1,500 
for each committee meeting attended in person on such day. 

 
We paid the following annual retainers to the Chairpersons of our board committees for 2018: 

 
•  $7,500 to the Chairperson of the Conflicts Committee; 

 
•  $10,000 to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee; 

 
•  $5,000 to the Chairperson of the Compensation Committee; and 

 
•  $5,000 to the Chairperson of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
 
All directors are reimbursed by us for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at board or 

committee meetings. 
 
Each independent director elected on to the board (whether through a stockholder meeting or by directors to fill a vacancy on 

the board) will be granted $30,000 in restricted shares. These restricted shares will fully vest on the earlier to occur of: (i) the 
first anniversary of the applicable grant date, subject to the independent director serving continuously as an independent 
director through and until the first anniversary of the applicable grant date; (ii) the termination of service as an independent 
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director due to the independent director’s death or disability; or (iii) a change in control of the Company, subject to the 
independent director serving continuously through and until the date of the change in control of the Company. 

 
Executive Compensation 

 
We have no employees. Our day-to-day management functions are performed by our Advisor and its affiliates. All of our 

executive officers are employed by and receive compensation from our Advisor or its affiliates, for all of their services to the 
Hines organization, including their service as our executive officers. The compensation received by our executive officers is not 
paid or determined by us, but rather by our Advisor or affiliates of our Advisor based on all the services provided by these 
individuals to the Hines organization, including us. As a result, we do not have and our compensation committee has not 
considered, a compensation policy or program for our executive officers and have not included a “Compensation Discussion 
and Analysis,” or “Compensation Committee Report” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Please see “Item 13. Certain 
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” for a discussion of fees and expenses payable to our 
Advisor and its affiliates. 

 
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 

During 2018, our Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. Farley, Mitchell, Moody and Shaper, our four independent 
directors. None of our executive officers served as a director or member of the compensation committee of an entity whose 
executive officers included a member of our board of directors or Compensation Committee. 
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Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
 Ownership 
 

The following table shows, as of March 1, 2018, the amount of our common stock beneficially owned (unless otherwise 
indicated) by (1) any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common 
shares, (2) our directors, (3) our executive officers, and (4) all of our directors and executive officers as a group. Except as 
otherwise indicated, all shares are owned directly, and the owner of such shares has the sole voting and investment power with 
respect thereto. 

    Common Shares Beneficially Owned (2) 

Name of Beneficial Owner (1)  Position  
Number of 

Common Shares  
Percentage of 

Class  

Jeffrey C. Hines ........................  Chairman of the Board of Directors  1,111
 

 * (3) (4)  

Charles M. Baughn ...................  Director  9,031  *  

Jack L. Farley ...........................  Independent Director  12,410  *  

Thomas L. Mitchell ..................  Independent Director  11,399  *  

John S. Moody .........................  Independent Director  11,399  *  

Peter Shaper .............................  Independent Director  11,399  *  

Sherri W. Schugart ...................  President and Chief Executive Officer  2,222  *  

Ryan T. Sims ............................  Chief Financial Officer and Secretary  834  *  

David L. Steinbach ...................  Chief Investment Officer  —  —  

Kevin L. McMeans ...................  Asset Management Officer  1,667  *  

J. Shea Morgenroth ..................  Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer  1,667  *  

All directors and executive 
officers as a group ....................    63,139

 
 *  

 
         * Amount represents less than 1% 
 

(1) The address of each person listed is c/o Hines Global REIT, Inc., 2800 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 5000, Houston, 
Texas 77056-6618. 
 

(2) For purposes of this table, “beneficial ownership” is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange 
Act, pursuant to which a person is deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of shares of our stock that the person has 
the right to acquire within 60 days. For purposes of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of the Company’s 
stock held by each person or group of persons named in the table, any shares that such person or persons have the right 
to acquire within 60 days of March 1, 2018 are deemed to be outstanding, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the 
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other persons. 
 

(3) Includes 1,111.111 common shares owned directly by Hines Global REIT Investor Limited Partnership. Mr. Hines is 
deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares owned by Hines Global REIT Investor Limited Partnership. 
 

(4) This amount does not include the (i) 21,111.111 partnership interests (the “OP Units”) in Hines Global REIT 
Properties LP (the “Operating Partnership”) and (ii) the special partnership interests (the “Special OP Units”) of the 
Operating Partnership owned by Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership. Limited partners in the Operating 
Partnership may request repurchase of their OP Units for cash or, at our option, common shares on a one-for-one basis, 
beginning one year after such OP Units were issued. The holder of the Special OP Units is entitled to distributions 
from the Operating Partnership under certain circumstances. In addition, under the Advisory Agreement, if we are not 
advised by an entity affiliated with Hines, Hines or its affiliates may cause the Operating Partnership to purchase some 
or all of the Special OP Units or any other OP Units then held by such entities for cash (or in certain cases, a 
promissory note) or our shares as determined by the seller.  Mr. Hines and Gerald D. Hines indirectly own and/or 
control Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership. 
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Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
 
Our Advisor 
 

We do not have employees. Subject to the supervision of our board of directors, our day-to-day operations are conducted by 
our Advisor in accordance with the Advisory Agreement. Our Advisor is an affiliate of Hines and is wholly-owned, indirectly, 
by, or for the benefit of, the Chairman of our board of directors, Jeffrey C. Hines, and his father, Gerald D. Hines. All of our 
executive officers are employed by, and all of our executive officers actively participate in, the management of our Advisor and 
its affiliates. Jeffrey C. Hines serves as the Chairman of the Managers of the general partner of our Advisor and Charles M. 
Baughn serves as a Manager of the general partner of our Advisor. 

 
Our executive officers have control and primary responsibility for the management decisions of our Advisor, including the 

selection of investment properties to be recommended to our board of directors, the negotiations for these investments, and the 
property management and leasing of properties we acquire directly. The Advisory Agreement was renewed as of December 13, 
2018 and has a term ending December 31, 2019 that may be renewed for an unlimited number of successive periods (up to one 
year at a time) upon the mutual consent of the parties. Renewals of the agreement must be approved by the Conflicts 
Committee. The Advisory Agreement may be terminated: 
 

•  immediately by us (i) in the event our Advisor commits fraud, criminal conduct, willful misconduct or negligent 
breach of fiduciary duty, (ii) upon the bankruptcy of our Advisor or its involvement in similar insolvency proceedings 
or (iii) in the event of a material breach of the Advisory Agreement by our Advisor that remains uncured after 10 days’ 
written notice; 
 

•  without cause or penalty by us or by our Advisor upon 60 days’ written notice; or 
 

•  immediately by our Advisor upon our bankruptcy or involvement in similar insolvency proceedings or any material 
breach of the Advisory Agreement by us that remains uncured after 10 days’ written notice. 

 
The Advisor and its affiliates receive compensation and are reimbursed for certain expenses in connection with services 

provided to us. These payments are summarized below. In the event the Advisory Agreement is terminated, our Advisor will be 
paid all earned, accrued and unpaid compensation and expense reimbursements within 30 days. Upon termination, we may also 
be obligated to purchase certain ownership interests owned by our Advisor or other affiliates of Hines under certain 
circumstances. 

 
The following summarizes fees our Advisor earned under the Advisory Agreement during 2018: 

 
•  Under the Advisory Agreement, we pay our Advisor a monthly asset management fee equal to 0.125% of the net 

equity capital we have invested in real estate investments at the end of each month. The Advisor earned $34.3 million 
in asset management fees during the year ended December 31, 2018. 
 

•  Under the Advisory Agreement, we pay our Advisor a disposition fee equal to 1.0% of (i) the sales price of any real 
estate investments sold, held directly by us, or (ii) when we hold investments indirectly through another entity, our pro 
rata share of the sales price of the real estate investment sold by that entity. The Advisor earned $16.2 million in 
disposition fees during the year ended December 31, 2018 related to the sale of 20 of our properties. 
 

•  Likewise, under the Advisory Agreement, we may reimburse our Advisor and its affiliates for certain expenses they 
incur in connection with administrative and operating services they provide to us. Under our charter, we may not make 
reimbursements for administrative and operating expenses during any four consecutive fiscal quarters in excess of the 
greater of (i) 2.0% of our average invested assets or (ii) 25.0% of our net income. If our reimbursements to our 
Advisor for administrative and operating expenses exceed this limit, our Advisor will be required to disclose such fact 
to stockholders and may be required to refund such excess. In 2018, these limits were not exceeded. In 2018, our 
Advisor incurred $7.9 million in expenses, such as general and administrative expenses, on our behalf, which were 
reimbursed by the Company.  See “Hines - Property Management Agreements” below for additional information 
concerning expense reimbursements to Hines. 

 
We also agreed to indemnify our Advisor against losses it incurs in connection with its performance of its obligations under 

the Advisory Agreement, subject to terms and conditions in the Advisory Agreement. 
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Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership, an affiliate of Hines, as the holder of the Special OP Units in the 
Operating Partnership, will be entitled to receive distributions from the Operating Partnership in an amount equal to 15% of 
distributions, including from sales of real estate investments, refinancings and other sources, but only after our stockholders 
have received (or are deemed to have received), in the aggregate, cumulative distributions equal to their invested capital plus an 
8.0% cumulative, non-compounded annual pre-tax return on such invested capital. The Special OP Units may be converted into 
OP Units that, at the election of the holder, will be repurchased for cash (or, in the case of (iii) below, a promissory note) or our 
shares, following: (i) the listing of our common stock on a national securities exchange, or (ii) a merger, consolidation or sale 
of substantially all of our assets or any similar transaction or any transaction pursuant to which a majority of our board of 
directors then in office are replaced or removed or (iii) the occurrence of certain events that result in the termination or non-
renewal of the Advisory Agreement. 

 
Hines 
 

Property Management Agreements 
 
Hines or its affiliates manage some of the properties in which we invest. When we acquire properties directly, we expect that 

we will pay Hines property management fees, leasing fees, tenant construction fees and other fees customarily paid to a 
property manager. Hines is wholly-owned by Jeffrey C. Hines and his father, Gerald D. Hines. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, Hines earned the following amounts pursuant to property management 

agreements under which Hines manages some of our properties: 
 

•  $6.0 million in property management fees; 
 

•  $2.4 million in leasing commissions; 
 

•  $2.4 million in development/construction management fees; and 
 

•  $9.4 million, for all costs Hines incurred in providing property management and leasing services pursuant to the 
property management and leasing agreements. Included in this reimbursement of operating costs are the cost of 
personnel and overhead expenses related to such personnel located at the property as well as off-site personnel located 
in Hines’ headquarters and regional offices, to the extent the same relate to or support the performance of Hines’ duties 
under the agreements. 

 
WaterWall Place 
 

In December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement 
with an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines One WaterWall Holdings LP (the “WaterWall Place JV”), a Delaware 
limited partnership, for the purpose of developing a residential/living project in Houston, Texas.  An affiliate of Hines serves as 
the initial general partner and as the development partner and the subsidiary of the Operating Partnership is the limited partner. 
Hines owns a 7% interest in the joint venture and we own the remaining 93% interest through our subsidiary. In addition, 
subject to certain return thresholds being achieved, the WaterWall Place JV agreement provides that Hines may receive certain 
incentive distributions in the event the residential/living project is liquidated.  An affiliate of Hines received total distributions 
of $11.6 million from the WaterWall JV in September 2018, which included a return of capital, preferred return distributions, 
and incentive distributions based on the return thresholds set forth in the WaterWall agreement having been achieved.  These 
distributions represented 27% of the total distributions from the WaterWall JV from the sale of the property. 
 
Ownership Interests 
 

The Operating Partnership 
 
We are the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and owned a 99.99% interest in the Operating Partnership at 

December 31, 2018. Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership, an affiliate of Jeffrey C. Hines, owned a 0.01% 
interest in the Operating Partnership at December 31, 2018. An affiliate of Jeffrey C. Hines also owns 1,111.111 shares of our 
common stock. 
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Policies and Procedures for Review of Related Party Transactions 
 

Potential conflicts of interest exist among us, Hines, our Advisor and other affiliates of Hines in relation to our existing 
agreements and how we will operate. Currently, four of our seven directors are independent directors, and each of our 
independent directors serves on the Conflicts Committee of our board of directors. The Conflicts Committee reviews and 
approves all matters that our board of directors believes may involve conflicts of interest. 

 
To reduce the effect on us of potential conflicts of interest described above, the Advisory Agreement and our charter include 

a number of restrictions relating to transactions we enter into with Hines and its affiliates. These restrictions include, among 
others, the following: 

 
•  We will not accept goods or services from Hines or its affiliates unless a majority of our directors (including a 

majority of our independent directors) approves the transaction related thereto as fair and reasonable to us and on 
terms and conditions not less favorable than terms that would be available from unaffiliated third parties. 
 

•  We will not purchase or lease a property in which Hines or its affiliates has an interest without a determination by a 
majority of our directors (including a majority of our independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction 
determine that the transaction is fair and reasonable to us and at a price no greater than the cost to Hines or such 
affiliate for the property, unless: 
 
•  there is substantial justification for any amount in excess of the cost to Hines; 

 
•  our disinterested directors determine the excess to be reasonable; and 

 
•  appropriate disclosure is made to the disinterested directors with respect to the transaction. 

 
•  The fair market value of any asset we acquire from Hines or one of its affiliates will be determined by an independent 

expert selected by our independent directors. We generally will not acquire property from Hines or its affiliates at a 
price that exceeds the appraised value of the property. The only exception will be in the case of a development, 
redevelopment or refurbishment project that we agree to acquire prior to completion of the project, when the appraised 
value will be based upon the completed value of the project. We will not sell or lease a property to Hines or its 
affiliates or to our directors unless a majority of our directors (including a majority of our independent directors) not 
otherwise interested in the transaction determines the transaction to be fair and reasonable to us. 
 

•  We will not enter into joint ventures with affiliates of Hines unless a majority of our directors (including a majority of 
our independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction approves the transaction as being fair and 
reasonable to us and determines that our investment is on terms substantially similar to the terms of third parties 
making comparable investments. 
 

•  We will not make any loan to Hines, its affiliates or to our directors, except in the case of loans to our subsidiaries and 
mortgage loans for property appraised by an independent expert. Any such loans must be approved by a majority of 
our directors (including a majority of our independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction as fair, 
competitive and commercially reasonable, and on terms no less favorable to us than loans between unaffiliated parties 
in the same circumstance. 
 

•  Hines and its affiliates will be entitled to reimbursement, at cost, for actual expenses incurred by them on behalf of us 
or joint ventures in which we are a joint venture partner, subject to the limitation on reimbursement of operating 
expenses to the extent that they exceed the greater of 2% of our average invested assets or 25% of our net income. 

 
The Conflicts Committee also must review and approve any transaction between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and 

any director (including any independent director) or the director’s affiliates or related persons on the other hand. All related 
party transactions must be approved by a majority of the disinterested members of the board of directors. 

 
Director Independence 

 
Our board of directors has determined that each of our independent directors is independent within the meaning of the 

applicable (i) provisions set forth in our Charter, and (ii) requirements set forth in the Exchange Act and the applicable SEC 
rules, and (iii) although our shares are not listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), under the independence rules 
set forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual. Our board of directors follows the NYSE rules governing independence as part 
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of its policy of maintaining strong corporate governance practices. To be considered independent under the NYSE rules, the 
board of directors must determine that a director does not have a material relationship with us and/or our consolidated 
subsidiaries (either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with any of those 
entities, including Hines and its affiliates). Under the NYSE rules, a director will not be independent if: 

 
•  the director was employed by us within the last three years; 

 
•  an immediate family member of the director was employed by us as an executive officer within the last three years; 

 
•  the director, or an immediate family member of the director, received more than $120,000 during any 12-month period 

within the last three years in direct compensation from us, other than director and committee fees and pension or other 
forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in any way on 
continued service); 
 

•  the director is a current partner or employee of a firm that is our internal or external auditor, the director has an 
immediate family member who is a current partner of such a firm, the director has an immediate family member who 
is a current employee of such a firm and personally works on our audit, or the director or an immediate family member 
was within the last three years a partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on our audit within that 
time; 
 

•  the director or an immediate family member is, or has been with the last three years, employed as an executive officer 
of another company where any of our present executive officers at the same time serves or served on that company’s 
compensation committee; or 

 
•  the director was an executive officer or an employee (or an immediate family member of the director was an executive 

officer) of a company that makes payments to, or receives payments from, us for property or services in an amount 
which, in any of the last three fiscal years, exceeded the greater of $1,000,000 or 2% of such other company’s 
consolidated gross revenues. 

 
Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services 
 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates (collectively “Deloitte 
& Touche”) serve as our principal accounting firm. Deloitte & Touche audited our financial statements for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. Deloitte & Touche reports directly to our Audit Committee. 

 
Fees 
 

Deloitte & Touche’s aggregate fees billed to us for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

 2018  2017 

Audit Fees: .................................................................................................................... $ 1,125,000  $ 1,320,500

Audit-Related Fees (1): .................................................................................................. —  —

Tax Fees: ....................................................................................................................... —  —

All Other Fees: .............................................................................................................. —  —

Total Fees: ..................................................................................................................... $ 1,125,000  $ 1,320,500

 
(1) These fees primarily relate to internal control attestation consultations, accounting consultations and other attestation 
services. 

 
Pre-approval Policies and Procedures 
 

Our Audit Committee has adopted a pre-approval policy requiring the Audit Committee to pre-approve all audit and 
permissible non-audit services to be performed by Deloitte & Touche. In determining whether or not to pre-approve services, 
the Audit Committee will consider whether the service is a permissible service under the rules and regulations promulgated by 
the SEC, and, if permissible, the potential effect of such services on the independence of Deloitte & Touche. All services 
performed for us in 2018 were pre-approved or ratified by our Audit Committee. 

 



 

111 

 PART IV 
 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 
 

(a)(1) Financial Statements 
 
Hines Global REIT, Inc. 
Consolidated Financial Statements — as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 
2017 and 2016 
 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ................................................................................................. 63

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements  

Consolidated Balance Sheets ........................................................................................................................................ 64

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) ................................................................ 65

Consolidated Statements of Equity ............................................................................................................................... 66

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ....................................................................................................................... 67

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ................................................................................................................. 68

 
(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

 
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is set forth beginning on page 112 hereof. 
 
Schedule III — Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation is set forth beginning on page 113 hereof. 
 
Schedule IV —Mortgage Loans on Real Estate is set forth beginning on page 115 hereof. 

 
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under 

the related instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted. 
 

(b) Exhibits 
 

Reference is made to the Index beginning on page 117 for a list of all exhibits filed as a part of this report. 
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Hines Global REIT, Inc. 
Schedule II —  Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

 

Description 

Balance at the 
Beginning of the 

Period 
Charged to Costs 

and Expenses 
Deductions 

(a)  

Balance at the 
End of the 

Period 

 (amounts in thousands) 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of 
December 31, 2018 .............................................. $ 3,794 $ 2,513 $ (485)  $ 5,822

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance as of 
December 31, 2018 .............................................. $ 1,389 $ 1,020 $ (2,290)  $ 119

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of 
December 31, 2017 .............................................. $ 2,508 $ 1,542 $ (256)  $ 3,794

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance as of 
December 31, 2017 .............................................. $ 98 $ 8,809 $ (7,518)  $ 1,389

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of 
December 31, 2016 .............................................. $ 1,666 $ 1,091 $ (249)  $ 2,508

 
(a) Write-offs of accounts receivable previously reserved. 
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Schedule IV —  Mortgage Loans on Real Estate 
December 31, 2018 

(amounts in thousands) 
 

Changes in mortgage loans on real estate are summarized below (in thousands): 

 2018 2017 2016 

Balance at beginning of period ........................................................................ $ —  $ 15,224 $ 55,408

Additions during period:     

New loans ...................................................................................................... —  — —

Additional advances on existing loans ........................................................... —  2,296 6,073

Interest income added to principal ................................................................. —  — 694

Deductions during period:     

Collection of principal ................................................................................... —  (7,178) (46,951)

Sale of loan .................................................................................................... —  (10,342) —

Balance at close of period ................................................................................. $ —  $ — $ 15,224
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 
 

The Company has elected not to include a summary. 
 
 
 

* * * * * * 
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

Exhibit 
No. Description 

   
2.1  Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution (filed as Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, on May 

10, 2018 and incorporated by reference herein) 

3.1  Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Hines Global REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, SEC File No. 333-156742 (the “Registration Statement”), on August 3, 2009 
and incorporated by reference herein) 

3.2  Bylaws of Hines Global REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on March 
18, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein) 

3.3  Amendment No. 1 to Bylaws of Hines Global REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on 
September 21, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein) 

3.4  Amendment No. 2 to Bylaws of Hines Global REIT, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on 
September 7, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein) 

10.1  Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 10-K on March 30, 
2018 and incorporated by reference herein) 

10.2  Notarial Deed and Preliminary Sale and Purchase Agreement Relating to Enterprises, dated as of July 25, 2018, by and among 
Piran Investments Sp. z o.o. Geneva sp.j., Piran Investments Sp. z o.o. Hadrian sp.j., Piran Investments Sp. z o.o. Klaudio sp.j., 
Piran Investments Sp. z o.o. Trajan sp.j., Piran Investments Sp. z o.o. Titus sp.j., as sellers and Gemini Poland Holdco S.à r.l., as 
purchaser (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 11, 2018 and incorporated by 
reference herein) 

10.3*  Agreement of Sale and Purchase, effective as of October 2, 2018, by and between Hines Global REIT Campus Playa Vista LP and 
Hart Campus Playa Vista LLC 

10.4*  Contract of Sale - 100 Brookes Street, Fortitude Valley, by and between Hines Global REIT Brookes Trust and Centuria Urban 
REIT 

10.5*  Contract of Sale - 465 Victoria Avenue, Chatswood, by and between Hines Global REIT Victoria Trust and Centuria Urban REIT 

10.6*  Contract of Sale - 818 Bourke Street, Docklands, by and between Hines Global REIT Bourke Trust and Centuria Urban REIT 

10.7*  Contract of Sale - 825 Ann Street, Fortitude Valley, by and between Hines Global REIT Ann Trust and Centuria Urban REIT 

10.8  Agreement of Sale and Purchase, effective as of January 18, 2019, by and between Hines Global REIT 550 Terry Francois LP and 
MB 550 TFB, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 on the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 23, 2019 and incorporated by 
reference herein) 

21.1*  List of Subsidiaries of Hines Global REIT, Inc. 

31.1*  Certification 

31.2*  Certification 

32.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C., Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Pursuant to SEC Release 34-47551 this Exhibit is furnished to the SEC and shall 
not be deemed to be “filed.” 

101*  The following materials from Hines Global REIT, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed 
on March 28, 2019, are formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) Statements of Equity, (iv) of Cash Flows, and (v) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
* Filed with the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized representative. 

 

  HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC. 
(registrant) 

   

March 28, 2019 By: /s/ Sherri W. Schugart 

  Sherri W. Schugart 
  President and Chief Executive Officer 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following 

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 28, 2019. 
 

Signature Title Date 

   
/s/ Jeffrey C. Hines Chairman of the Board of Directors March 28, 2019 

Jeffrey C. Hines   
   

/s/ Sherri W. Schugart President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 28, 2019 

Sherri W. Schugart (Principal Executive Officer)  
   

/s/ Ryan T. Sims Chief Financial Officer and Secretary March 28, 2019 

Ryan T. Sims (Principal Financial Officer)  
   

/s/ J. Shea Morgenroth Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer March 28, 2019 

J. Shea Morgenroth (Principal Accounting Officer)  
   

/s/ Charles M. Baughn Director March 28, 2019 

Charles M. Baughn   
   

/s/ Jack L. Farley Director March 28, 2019 

Jack L. Farley   
   

/s/ Thomas L. Mitchell Director March 28, 2019 

Thomas L. Mitchell   
   

/s/ John S. Moody Director March 28, 2019 

John S. Moody   
   

/s/ Peter Shaper Director March 28, 2019 

Peter Shaper   
 



Corporate Headquarters 
Hines Global REIT, Inc. 
2800 Post Oak Blvd. 
Suite 5000 
Houston, TX 77056 
888.220.6121 
www.hinessecurities.com

Transfer Agent 
DST Systems, Inc. 
430 W. 7th Street 
Kansas City, MO 64105

Auditors 
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Legal Counsel for the Company 
Morrison & Foerster LLP

Legal Counsel for the  
Independent Directors 
Winston & Strawn LLP

Form 10-K 
Hines Global REIT’s annual report on Form 10-K,  
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the SEC), is available at no charge upon written  
request to Hines Investor Relations, at the address 
below. The SEC maintains a website located at  
www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements 
and other information regarding the Company that  
is filed electronically with the SEC. In addition,  
the Company makes its annual report on Form 10-K 
available free of charge at www.hinessecurities.com.

Certifications 
We filed the CEO and CFO certifications regarding the 
quality of our public disclosure as Exhibits 31.1 and 
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December 31, 2018, as required by Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 

Questions about Hines Global REIT or your account 
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Hines Investor Relations 
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Corporate and 
Stockholder Information 
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Forward-Looking Statements: 
This letter contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 based on current expectations, 
forecasts and assumptions that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially. These forward-looking statements 
include, among others, statements about the expected benefits of the Plan of Liquidation and the amount of distributions to be made in connection with the Plan 
of Liquidation, the expected completion of the Plan of Liquidation, and the future business, performance and opportunities of the Company. Forward-looking 
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potential failure to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; possible adverse changes in laws; and risks 
associated with the Company’s dependence on key personnel of Hines Interests Limited Partnership or its affiliates whose continued service is not guaranteed. 
For a further list and description of such risks and uncertainties, see the reports filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K included herein. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of this letter. The Company disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether because of new information or developments, future events or otherwise.
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